
 

 

 

 
 

COUNCIL OFFICES. COALVILLE, LEICESTERSHIRE, LE67 3FJ  TEL (01530) 454545   FAX (01530) 454506 
 

DX 23662 COALVILLE MINICOM : (01530) 454542   WEB SITE : http://www.nwleics.gov.uk 

 
 
Meeting CABINET 
 
Time/Day/Date 5.00 pm on Tuesday, 13 December 2016 
 
Location Board Room, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454512) 
 
All persons present are reminded that the meeting may be recorded and by attending this 
meeting you are giving your consent to being filmed and your image being used.  You are kindly 
requested to make it known to the Chairman if you intend to film or record this meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer would like to remind members that when they are considering whether 
the following items are exempt information under the relevant paragraph under part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 they must have regard to the public interest 
test.  This means that members must consider, for each item, whether the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption from disclosure outweighs the public interest in making the item 
available to the public. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

4.  MINUTES  
 

 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2016 
 

3 - 6 

5.  GENERAL FUND AND SPECIAL EXPENSES REVENUE BUDGET 2017/18  
 

 

 Report of the Interim Director of Resources 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 
 
 
 

7 - 12 



6.  CAPITAL PROGRAMMES - GENERAL FUND, COALVILLE SPECIAL 
EXPENSES AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (H.R.A).  PROJECTED 
OUTTURN 2016/17 AND DRAFT PROGRAMMES 2017/18 TO 2021/22  
 

 

 Report of the Interim Director of Resources 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 

13 - 28 

7.  HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 
2017/18  
 

 

 Report of the Director of Housing 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder/Housing Portfolio Holder 
 

29 - 40 

8.  PARKING STRATEGY  
 

 

 Report of the Director of Services 
Presented by the Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

41 - 192 

9.  ASHBY CULTURAL AND LEISURE QUARTER PROJECT  
 

 

 Report of the Director of Services 
Presented by the Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

193 - 200 

10.  FORMER TENANT RENT ARREARS, CURRENT TENANT RENT 
ARREARS, COUNCIL TAX, NON DOMESTIC RATES AND SUNDRY 
DEBTOR WRITE OFFS  
 

 

 Report of the Interim Director of Resources 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 

201 - 206 

 
Circulation:  
 
Councillor R D Bayliss 
Councillor R Blunt (Chairman) 
Councillor T Gillard 
Councillor T J Pendleton 
Councillor N J Rushton 
Councillor A V Smith MBE 
 



77 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Board Room, Council Offices, Coalville on 
TUESDAY, 15 NOVEMBER 2016  
 
Present:  Councillor R Blunt (Chairman) 
 
Councillors R D Bayliss, T Gillard, T J Pendleton, N J Rushton and A V Smith MBE  
 
In Attendance: Councillors R Adams, J Clarke, J G Coxon, D Everitt, T Eynon, F Fenning, 
J Geary, J Legrys and S McKendrick  
 
Officers:  Mr S Bambrick, Mr A Hunkin, Mr G Jones, Mrs M Meredith, Mr P Padaniya and 
Miss E Warhurst 
 

54. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were no apologies for absence received. 
 

55. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
No interests were declared. 
 

56. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
No questions were received. 
 

57. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2016. 
 
It was moved by Councillor R Blunt, seconded by Councillor A V Smith and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2016 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 
Reason for decision: To comply with the Constitution. 
 
The Chairman announced that Item 5 – Implications for High Speed 2 for the District, had 
been withdrawn in view of the announcement made by the Government earlier that day, 
which meant that much of the information in the report was now out of date.  He advised 
that a report would be considered by Policy Development Group before coming to Cabinet 
prior to the consultation deadline. 
 

58. 2016/17 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
The Leader presented the report to members, highlighting the following key areas of 
performance: 
 
- Re-letting times have continued to improve, achieving a re-let time of 37 days against 

a target of 40. 
- Officers supported the organising of the Coalville Colour Run which over 500 people 

attended.  The event was a great success for the Council and for Coalville. 
- A new structure in the housing repairs team was put in place in August which had 

allowed for better workforce planning and more efficient scheduling of works. 



78 
 

Chairman’s initials 

- All targets for Council Tax and business rates have remained on target with business 
rates exceeding targets by 0.7%, alongside an increase in the amount collected of 
£1.7 million. 

- The standard of taxi vehicles has continued to improve with first time pass rate of 74% 
in quarter 2, surpassing the previous quarterly best pass rate of 69% in quarter 1 and 
representing a 10% improvement from the previous year. 

- Performance in determining planning applications within target has remained strong. 
- The General Fund and special expenses budgets were being managed effectively and 

there were early projections of additional income. 
- The projected sickness figure at the end of quarter 2 stood at 8.94 days per full time 

employee which was higher than the target of 7.4 days.  All long term absences were 
being closely managed with human resources and there had been an increase in 
absences due to viral infections which was expected at this time of year. 

 
Councillor T Gillard stated that local businesses had already been contacted with 
reference to the announcement made by the Government in respect of HS2.  He outlined 
plans to visit retail outlets on 3 December. 
 
Councillor R Blunt welcomed the work to reach out and connect with all businesses 
across the district on any matters such as HS2. 
 
Councillor R D Bayliss made reference to the restructure within the housing repairs team 
and highlighted that calls were now being dealt with by the team themselves rather than 
via customer services.  He also referred to the improvements in the average re-let time 
and advised that there was a prospect of improving this further.  He also highlighted 
improvements in the percentage of vacant properties. 
 
Councillor T J Pendleton pointed out that the percentage of minor applications determined 
within 8 weeks was now at 85%, which was well above the target.  He added that staffing 
was now full within the planning department and performance was well above target. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton commented that sickness absence needed to be monitored, 
however he believed this had been exacerbated by cases of long term sickness, some of 
which had now been resolved. 
 
Councillor A V Smith drew members’ attention to the work being done in leisure services 
including the health and wellbeing centre at Hood Park which had seen over 784 patients.  
She highlighted the quality of the facilities there.  She also drew attention to the 
partnership working being undertaken with the sport and activity team being 
commissioned to deliver a fall prevention initiative across Charnwood, Hinckley and North 
West Leicestershire.  She also highlighted a new cancer rehabilitation programme which 
had also been piloted. 
 
It was moved by Councillor R Blunt, seconded by Councillor T Gillard and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The Quarter 2 Performance Report be received and noted. 
 
Reason for decision: In order for members to effectively monitor the organisation’s 
performance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



79 
 

Chairman’s initials 

59. MINUTES OF THE COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES WORKING PARTY 
 
The Community Services Portfolio Holder presented the report to members, highlighting 
some current projects including the renaming of the Urban Forest Park with local school 
children and the memorial to commemorate World War I.  She advised members that the 
Christmas lights switch on event would take place on 3 December.  She commended the 
work done by Glyn Rennocks at Coalville Town Football Club and thanked the members 
of the Working Party for their work. 
 
It was moved by Councillor A V Smith, seconded by Councillor R Blunt and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The recommendations made by the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party as detailed 
within the minutes and summarised at 3.0 be approved. 
 
Reason for decision: To progress Coalville Special Expenses projects and programmes. 
 

60. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
In pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that the business to be 
transacted involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and that the public interest in maintaining this 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Reason for decision: To enable the consideration of exempt information. 
 

61. DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY IN OSGATHORPE 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder presented the report to members. 
 
It was moved by Councillor R D Bayliss, seconded by Councillor A V Smith and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The disposal of the property on Dawsons Road be approved by sale on the open market. 
 
Reason for decision: The proposal is to dispose of the property in accordance with the 
HRA Disposal Policy, which was approved by Cabinet on 3 March 2015, to generate a 
capital receipt to meet the needs of the HRA Business Plan. 
 

62. DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY IN LOCKINGTON 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder presented the report to members. 
 
It was moved by Councillor R D Bayliss, seconded by Councillor T Gillard and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The disposal of the property on Hemington Lane be approved by sale on the open market. 
 
Reason for decision: The proposal is to dispose of the property in accordance with the 
HRA Disposal Policy, which was approved by Cabinet on 3 March 2015, to generate a 
capital receipt to meet the needs of the HRA Business Plan. 



80 
 

Chairman’s initials 

63. ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY IN CASTLE DONINGTON 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder presented the report to members. 
 
It was moved by Councillor R D Bayliss, seconded by Councillor T J Pendleton and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The decision to acquire the property on Garden Crescent, Castle Donington as outlined in 
this report be noted. 
 
Reason for decision: The acquisition of the property is in accordance with the Council’s 
Acquisition Policy which was approved by Cabinet on 10 February 2015. Specifically, the 
objectives of the acquisition are to provide affordable housing and regenerate the area by 
avoiding potential physical blight to the estate. This is a report for information rather than a 
report seeking a decision from Cabinet. 
 

The meeting commenced at 5.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 5.33 pm 
 

 



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of report 
GENERAL FUND AND SPECIAL EXPENSES REVENUE 
BUDGETS 2017/18 

Key Decision 
a) Financial  Yes 
b) Community Yes 

Contacts 

Councillor Nick Rushton  
01530 412059  
nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Chief Executive 
01530 454500 
christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Interim Director of Resources 
01530 454833 
andrew.hunkin@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Financial Planning Manager / Deputy S151 Officer  
01530 454707 
pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of report 
For Cabinet to approve 2017/18 General Fund and Special 
Expenses revenue budget proposals for consultation. 

Reason for Decision Required to complete 2017/18 budget process. 

Council Priorities The budget assists the Council to achieve all its priorities. 

Implications:  

Financial/Staff As contained in the report. 

Link to relevant CAT The budget is relevant to all Corporate Action Teams (CATs). 

Risk Management 
The budget will be monitored throughout the year to ensure 
savings are achieved and services delivered as planned. 

Equalities Impact Screening  
The requirement for equalities impact screening and assessments 
is being assessed during the consultations and details if required 
will be provided as part of the management responses. 

Human Rights None identified. 

Transformational 
Government 

Not applicable 

mailto:nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.hunkin@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Report is satisfactory 

Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

As report author the report is satisfactory 

Comments of Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Consultees None 

Background papers MTFS  - Report to Cabinet 11 October 2016  

Recommendations 

CABINET IS RECOMMENDED TO : 

 
1. AGREE THE 2017/18 BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 

STATUTORY CONSULTATION.  
2. CONTINUE TO SUPPORT THE LOCALISATION OF 

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT GRANT AT THE CURRENT 
LEVEL OF 85%.  

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Cabinet approved the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2017/18 – 

2020/21 at its meeting on 11 October 2016.   
 
1.2 This report provides details of the 2017/18 Base Budget and other changes since the 

MTFS was approved.  
 
1.3 The projections of the budget position for 2017/18 in this report reflect our current 

understanding of the grant we will receive as part of the 4 year settlement offered by 
Central Government. The Government is expected to announce the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement around 15 December 2016.   

 
1.4 Under the revised Business Rates retention mechanism the level of Government funding 

is not ultimately confirmed until after the end of the financial year when the actual level of 
Business Rates is reported.  This is a significant change from having grant settlements 
fixed before the start of the financial year and means that the Council’s financial planning 
is impacted on by the volatility of local business rates income. 

 
1.5 The approved budget is rigorously monitored during the financial year through quarterly 

performance monitoring so that any potential variances can be identified at an early stage 
and remedial action taken to deal with them.  The monitoring also checks that any required 
savings are being achieved.  Similarly any forecast under spending can be taken into 
account when allocating resources. 

 
 
 
 

http://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=1545&Ver=4


2.0  GENERAL FUND 2016/17 – PROJECTED OUTTURN 
 
2.1  The second quarter Performance Report considered by Cabinet in November presented 

outturn projections for the current year. An under spend of just over £1.3m is forecast 
compared to the original budget of 1.08m. The main reason for this is additional Planning 
Fee and Business Rates income. 

 
2.2 The Planning Fee income forecast has been increased by £100k. This increase in the 

budget is mainly due to levels of planning applications received. 
  
2.3 The Business Rates income is being projected at £82k above budget, but it is likely this 

figure will change as we move closer to the yearend due to various permutations such as 
growth, appeals and bad debt provisions etc. 

 
2.4  The Cabinet at its July 2016 meeting allocated £878k to one off projects and 

establishment costs. The General Fund Balance is at an adequate level and our strategy 
for utilising any projected savings in 2016/17 will be considered further by the Cabinet.   

 
3.0 FUTURE UNCERTAINTIES 
 
3.1 The Cabinet will already be aware of the volatility which the localisation of Business Rates 

may bring to the Council’s finances.  Under the current arrangements district councils are 
allocated 40% of increases and decreases in Business Rates.  There is also a system of 
levies and safety nets which reduces our share of increases to 20% but at the same time 
provides a safety net which limits our losses to 7.5% of the baseline. From 2020 local 
authorities as a sector will retain 100% of business rates and as a result it will take on the 
full risks and rewards of the business base in the area – and additional responsibilities  
from central government. 

 
3.2 New Homes Bonus (NHB) received is based on the average council tax band on each 

additional property built or on each long term empty property that is brought back into use. 
The funding is shared between district and county councils on an 80/20 ratio respectively. 
The Government has consulted on the changes to the NHB scheme which are planned to 
take effect from 1ST April 2017. The consultation had two elements: 

 

 Changing the number of years for which the payments are made. 

 Reforms to the NHB incentive. 
 
The assumption in the MTFS is that NHB payments will be reduced to four years from six 
years. This means that the income from NHB is forecasted to be some £228k less for 
2017/18 than the current year. 

 
     
4.0 2017/18 REVENUE BUDGET PROPOSALS 
 
4.1 The MTFS showed a projected surplus in the General Fund budget of £956k in 2017/18. 
 
4.2 The level of New Homes Bonus for next year is determined by returns which have now 

been made to the Government.  Notwithstanding the potential changes that might be 
made to the scheme the Council will receive £2.548m next year.  This is £48k higher than 
assumed in the MTFS. 

 



4.3 The income the Council receives from the sale of its recycling materials is forecast to be 
approximately some £106k higher than in 2016/17. This increase in income is mainly due 
to current market prices. Unfortunately all of this increase in income has been absorbed by 
one off cost increases in the waste service. The County Council published a report in 
September 2016 which confirmed their decision to direct districts to take their recycling to 
a facility procured by the County Council and withdraw recycling payments from 1 April 
2018. This has implications on how our authority provides the future recycling collection. 
Until such time that we decide which collection method to implement, a temporary 
recycling round consisting of extra staff is required.       

 
4.4 The Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State, and hearings are due to be 

held during January 2017. In addition, the Council has been progressing a separate local 
plan document with the specific purpose of providing sufficient sites for gypsies, travellers 
and travelling show-people. The evidence base for this is currently being revised, and 
subject to there being a need to progress with a document to allocate sites, there will be 
costs associated with this. This increase in cost has been offset by the increase in the 
planning income budget 

 
4.5 Business Rates Income has been budgeted taking into account the expected out – turn 

this year plus any known growth in the district. The assumption in the budget is £3.85m; 
this is around £125k less than what was reported in the MTFS. This difference is mainly 
due to delays in the completion of a couple of new employment development sites.  

 
4.6 The Council Tax Collection Fund is monitored throughout the year and an additional £248k 

income will be available from the fund towards next year’s budget. This is an extra £148k 
than what was reported in the MTFS in October.  

 
4.7 During the year it was agreed that certain services required extra resources to provide a 

robust, resilient and effective service to cope with demand, operational and other 
legislative changes. An extra £118k was allocated to Information management, Human 
Resources and Payroll. 

 
4.8 The base budget for next year is also now substantially complete and gives us an updated 

picture compared to the MTFS projection. Indications are that there will be a surplus of 
£589k compared to the £956k projected in the MTFS 

 
4.9 In summary the impact on the budget shortfall has been as follows: 
 
 Assumption in MTFS     £956k 
 Reduction in Business Rates Income             (£125k) 
 Additional Staffing cost (July Cabinet)   (£85k) 
 Other Additional Staffing cost              (£118k) 
 Reduction in Investment Income     (£40k) 
 Improvement in the Collection Fund     £148k 
 Improvement in New Homes Bonus       £48k 
 Other Base Budget Changes    (£195k) 
 Projected Surplus Budget 2017/18    £589k    
 
 
  



4.10 This provides the Council with the opportunity to provide around £589k additional 
resources in the Revenue Budget for next year, subject of course to the Government’s 
Local Government Financial Settlement.  

 
4.11 The Council will submit its projections of Business Rates for 2016/17 to the Government 

by the end of January 2016.  The work in preparation for this may give us confidence to 
review the budget for this income before our final budget is presented for approval in 
February 2017.  

 
5.0 GENERAL FUND RESERVE 
 
5.1 The uncommitted balance on the General Fund was £2.4m when the Cabinet approved 

the Council’s MTFS in October 2016.  A forecast underspending in the current year would 
increase this balance. 

 
6.0 COUNCIL TAX 
 
6.1 In line with the MTFS, the Council is not planning to increase the District’s share of the 

Council Tax in 2017/18.  This will be the eighth year without an increase.  
 
 
7.0 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT (LCTS) GRANT 
 
7.1 From April 2013 the Government abolished Council Tax Benefit and replaced it with locally 

determined Council Tax Support Discounts.  Giving people discounts on their Council Tax 
reduces the Council Tax income which all the preceptors including Town and Parish 
Councils receive. 

 
7.2 The District and the major preceptors (County, Police and Fire & Rescue) receive 

Government grant which compensates, at least in part, for this loss of income.  The 
Government does not provide this grant support to Town and Parish councils.  Since the 
start of the new scheme this Council has given an element of its Council Tax Support 
Grant to Towns and Parishes to allow them to maintain their existing level of income. 

 
7.3 The Government’s Council Tax Support Grant is now incorporated within the Revenue 

Support Grant which has already fallen significantly and will reduce to nil by 2019/20.  
Providing the grants to Town and Parish Councils is costing the District Council around 
£100,000 in 2016/17.  The Cabinet is proposing to continue the scheme for 2017/18, but 
then to have a phased reduction as set out in the MTFS. This will be confirmed when it 
approves the Council Tax Base at its meeting on 17 January 2017. 

 
7.4 The Council consulted on the Local Council Tax Benefit Scheme as part of a county-wide 

exercise to consider the impact on recipients, and the extra income it would receive if the 
council tax support was reduced from its current option of maximum eligibility of 85%.   It is 
recommended it continues with its current option of maximum eligibility for Council Tax 
Support of 85%. The assumption within the MTFS was that the 85% level would be 
reduced to 75%, which would have meant the Council collecting some extra £31k in 
council tax.   

 
 
 
 



8.0 CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 The Council’s continued sound financial management puts it in a position where it does 

not have to consult on budget reductions.  This offers the opportunity for a positive 
consultation on the Council’s financial management, maintaining service levels, Council 
Tax freeze and the proposal to maintain the level of grants to Town and Parish Councils 
for 2017/18.  Consultation is required with the business community, through the North 
West Leicestershire Chamber of Commerce, in compliance with the Non-Domestic 
Ratepayers (Consultation) Regulations 1992.  There will also be consultation with Staff, 
Unions and Town and Parish Councils. 

 
8.2 The Policy Development Group will be asked for its comments on the specific budget 

proposals during the consultation period at its next meeting on 11 January 2017. 
 
8.3 The Cabinet will receive details of the consultations at its meeting on 7 February 2017 

where it will make its final budget recommendations for approval by Council on 23 
February 2017. 

 



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of Report 

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES – GENERAL FUND, COALVILLE 
SPECIAL EXPENSES AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
(H.R.A).  
PROJECTED OUTTURN 2016/17 AND DRAFT PROGRAMMES 
2017/18 TO 2021/22 

Key Decision 
a) Financial       Yes   
b) Community   Yes   

Contacts 

Councillor Nick Rushton 
01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Councillor Roger Bayliss 
01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Chief Executive 
01530 454500 
christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Interim Director of Resources 
01530 454833 
andrew.hunkin@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Financial Planning Manager/Deputy S151 Officer 
01530 454707 
pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk   

Purpose of Report 
 

To advise Members of the likely Capital Outturn and the relevant 
financing for 2016/17 for the General Fund, Coalville Special 
Expenses and the H.R.A. 
 
To seek approval to the Draft General Fund, Coalville Special 
Expenses and H.R.A Capital Programmes for 2017/18 and to note 
indications for future years and associated funding for consultation. 

Reason for Decision 
To enable projects to be included in the Programmes for 
consultation. 

Council Priorities 
The projects in the Capital Programmes help the Council achieve 
all its priorities. 

mailto:nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:steve.barrett@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Implications  

Financial / Staff As contained in the report. 

Links to relevant CAT 
The Capital programmes are potentially relevant to all Corporate 
Action Teams (CATs). 
 

Risk Management 
The Capital Programmes are monitored at project level to ensure 
they are delivered on time and within budget. 

Equalities Impact Screening  No impact at this stage. 

Human Rights None identified. 

Transformational 
Government 

The Programmes attached are integral to delivering better 
services. 

Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Report is satisfactory 

Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

As author, the report is satisfactory 

Comments of Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Consultees CLT and Budget Holders. 

Background Papers 

Capital Programmes - General Fund, Coalville Special Expenses and 
Housing Revenue Account (H.R.A). Projected Outturn 2015/16 and 

Programmes 2016/17 to 2020/21– Cabinet 9 February 2016  
 

Recommendations 

A. THAT THE ESTIMATED GENERAL FUND, COALVILLE 
SPECIAL EXPENSES AND H.R.A. CAPITAL OUTTURN FOR 
2016/17 AND PLANNED FINANCING BE NOTED. 

 
B. THAT CABINET APPROVES FOR CONSULTATION THE 

DRAFT CAPITAL PROGRAMMES IN 2017/18 DETAILED IN: 

 APPENDIX “A” GENERAL FUND  AND SPECIAL 
EXPENSES CAPITAL SCHEMES 

http://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=1500&Ver=4
http://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=1500&Ver=4
http://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=1500&Ver=4


 APPENDIX “B” FOR HRA CAPITAL SCHEMES 
 
AND IN 2018/19 THESE SCHEMES ONLY: 

 £935,000 FOR THE VEHICLE REPLACEMENT 
PROGRAMME, AS DETAILED IN PARAGRAPHS 3.2 to 
3.2.3 
 

C. THAT CABINET NOTES INDICATIVE CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME SCHEMES FOR 2018/19 TO 2021/22. 
 

D. THAT CABINET NOTES THE PROPOSED PROCUREMENT 
ROUTES AND DELEGATES THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD 
THE CONTRACTS, AND ANY ASSOCIATED AGREEMENTS 
IN FURTHERANCE OF THE PROJECTS, AS DETAILED IN 
SECTION 7 (PROCUREMENT ROUTES) OF THIS REPORT 
SUBJECT TO FINAL APPROVAL OF THE CAPITAL 
PROGRAMMES IN FEBRUARY 2017. 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Appendix “A” shows the proposed General Fund and Special Expenses Capital 

Programme for 2017/18 to 2021/22. 
 
1.2   Appendix “B” shows the H.R.A. proposed Capital Programme for 2017/18 to 2021/22.   
 
1.3 The Appendices also present the estimated outturn for the current year for approval. 
 
2.0 GENERAL FUND - ESTIMATED OUTTURN 2016/17 
 
2.1 The projected outturn for 2016/17 on General Fund schemes totals £2,991,215.  This is 

a managed increase of £192,705 on the original budget for the year of £2,798,510. 
 
2.2     This managed increase is caused by the following: 

Schemes carried forward from 2015/16 £ £ 

Improving Customer Experience (ICE) 75,455  

User Workstation Replacement 5,053  

Helpdesk Software Upgrade 3,546  

Server and Storage Additional Capacity 9,351  

Replacement Telephone System 14,499  

Disabled Facilities Grant 104,578  

Refuse Kerbsider 165,330  

Council Offices Extension Car Park - resurfacing 20,000  

South Street Car Park, Ashby – Resurfacing (Retention) 762  

Belvoir Shopping Centre - Main Service Road, Coalville 12,000  

Silver Street Car Park, Whitwick - Resurfacing 44,675  

Coalville Market Upgrade (Phase 2) 35,966  

Market Hall Wall 24,650  

Wellbeing Centre at HPLC (750)  



Total  515,115 
   

Additional Approved Schemes 2016/17   

HR/Payroll System – further funding 14,000  

ICT Security Infrastructure – further funding 4,600  

ICT Infrastructure Scheme (Roadmap) – new scheme 478,000  

Fleet – Vans Medium – further funding 20,411  

Car Park – Ashby Health – new scheme 620,000  

Total  1,137,011 
   

Planned Slippage in 2016/17 c/f to 2017/18   

Disabled Facilities Grant – Slippage into 2017/18 (371,338)  

User Workstation Replacement - Slippage into 2017/18 (5,053)  

ICT Infrastructure Scheme (Roadmap) – allocated to 17/18 & 
18/19 (244,000) 

 

Refuse Kerbsiders x 4 – slippage into 2017/18 (677,330)  

Council Offices Extension Car Park - resurfacing (20,000)  

Hood Park LC Car Park, Ashby – resurfacing (section of) (15,000)  

Total  (1,332,721) 
   

Underspends Identified in 2016/17   

Digger – No longer required (126,000)  

Various small over/underspends identified (700)  

Total  (126,700) 
   

Total Managed Increase  192,705 

   

Total Managed Increase Funded by: (Net Position)   

Revenue 252,600  

Value for Money Reserve 89,955  

Other Reserves 389,206  

Other Contributions (750)  

Internal Borrowing (USB) (538,306)  

Total  192,705 

 
The total planned financing of the General Fund expenditure totalling £2,991,215 in 2016/17 is 
as follows:  

 £ 

Disabled Facilities Grant 298,050  

S106 Contributions 399,250 

Revenue Contributions to Capital 388,520 

Value for Money Reserve 89,955 

Other Reserves 671,996 

Internal Borrowing 1,143,444 

Total 2,991,215 

 
2.3 There were sufficient funds identified prior to this capital spend being committed. 

 
2.4 The carried forward schemes shown in the table in paragraph 2.2 above, represents 

expenditure which was originally expected and budgeted for in 2015/16 which has 
slipped into 2016/17 and for which the budgeted financing has also been carried forward.   



 
3.0  GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18 TO 2021/22 – INDIVIDUAL 

SCHEMES 
 
3.1 The programme for 2017/18 to 2021/22 detailed in Appendix A provides for a 

continuation of the current Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme and the Vehicle 
Replacement Programme. Schemes shown as slippage from 2016/17 and carried 
forward to 2017/18 are detailed in the table in paragraph 2.2 above. In addition, the 
following new schemes are included in the programmes for approval to commence in 
2017/18: 

  
3.1.1 Hermitage Recreation Grounds, Whitwick – All Weather Play Area Car Park (£7,500) 

Proposed replacement or upgrade* of the surface of the parking area at the AWPA to 
address defects and maintain an acceptable surface condition. *The surface is currently 
Breedon Golden Amber Gravel but this may be upgraded to a surface that will be more 
resistant to wear. 
 

3.1.2  Swannington Depot - Demolition (£35,000) 
The last annual condition survey for the Swannington Site rated the buildings as ‘Life 
Expired’ – serious risk. The buildings present a safety risk and require demolition and 
the site securing with adequate perimeter fencing to protect the site.  

 
3.1.3 Car Parking Meters (£140,000) 

Replacement and installation of car parking meters to support the Car Park Strategy. 
Details as per separate report. 
 

3.1.4 Ashby Cultural and Leisure Quarter Project (£330,000) 
Further development of Ashby as per the ‘Ashby Cultural and Leisure Quarter Project’. 
Details as per separate report.  

 
3.1.5    Refurbishment of Moira Furnace Toilet Unit (£20,000) 

The refurbishment of Moira Furnace toilet unit which serves our assets: Moira Furnace 
(Tourist Attraction and scheduled ancient monument) and Moira Furnace Craft Village 
within the site and grounds of Moira Furnace. This is the first refurbishment of the toilets 
since they were developed in the late 1990's. 
  

3.1.6 Leisure Centre ICT Servers (£15,000) 
 ICT have identified that the servers at the Leisure Centre are reaching the end of their 
natural life and as they are becoming outdated, it would be a risk for us to continue 
undertaking software upgrades to them as they might not have the capacity or capability 
to handle future upgrades which could seriously compromise service delivery. 

 
3.2 Fleet Replacement Programme 

 
With regard to the Fleet Replacement Programme, each year a number of vehicles 
either come to the end of their lease period or their lease extensions are reviewed. Each 
vehicle is reviewed based on its age, condition, mileage, potential risk of major repairs 
(due to being out of warranty) and a decision is made whether to extend the lease or 
replace the vehicle. 
 



These decisions are made in the previous year in order to allow a suitable lead-in period 
from order to delivery in April, particularly for large items such as refuse vehicles. Many 
of these vehicles are built to order and these orders have to be placed before October 
for delivery the following April. Therefore, although they are actually acquired in April a 
commitment has to be made in the previous year. 
 

3.2.1 In order to progress with the 2018/19 purchases approval is sought for the following 
vehicles:  

               £ 

Refuse   (3 x refuse vehicles) 485,000 

Sweeper (1 x Compact sweeper) 50,000 

14 Medium Vans (13 x housing + 1 x waste) 210,000 

Box Van 40,000 

Baler  80,000 

Mowing Machines x 2 70,000 

Total 935,000 

 
3.2.2 Waste, Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance Services; (approx £725,000) 

The existing vehicles, including three waste collection vehicles, one compact sweeper, 
one box van, one baler and two mowing machines are to be replaced as part of the 
annual vehicle replacement programme to ensure reliability of waste, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance service delivery. 

 
3.2.3 Medium Vehicles (approx £210,000) 

Fourteen medium vehicles are to be replaced across the fleet for 2018/19 as part of the 
annual vehicle replacement programme. These include thirteen vans for the Housing 
Team and one van for the Waste Services Team. These are essential for service 
delivery and to control maintenance costs of increased repairs to ageing vehicles. 

 
3.3 The General Fund Capital Programme (2017/18) will be funded by: 
 

 £ 

Disabled Facilities Grants 524,780 

Revenue Contribution 135,920 

Reserves 835,338 

Capital Receipts 150,000 

Internal Borrowing 1,424,883 

Total 3,070,921 

 
 
4.0   COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES – ESTIMATED OUTTURN AND INDIVIDUAL 

SCHEMES  
 
4.1     The Projected outturn for 2016/17 is £90,644. This consists of slippage from 2015/16 of 

£78,644 and a new scheme identified of £12,000. The projects are as follows: 
 

 £ 

Cropston Drive BMX Track – slippage 7,500 

Thringstone Miners Social Centre – slippage 2,821 



Urban Forest Park - Footway & Drainage Improvements – 
slippage 7,073 

Owen Street – Floodlights – slippage 779 

Owen Street – Changing Rooms – slippage 60,471 

Green Gym at Playhub, Melrose Road, Coalville – New scheme 12,000 

Total 90,644 

 
4.2   There are no new schemes agreed at present for 2017/18. 
 
5.0 H.R.A. CAPITAL PROGRAMME – ESTIMATED OUTTURN 2016/17 AND 2017/18 - 

2021/22 INDIVIDUAL SCHEMES 
 

5.1 The HRA Capital programme (Appendix “B”) covers in detail the capital schemes for the   
period 2017/18 to 2021/22. 

 
5.2 Planned spend in 2017/18 and onwards mainly consists of  
 
5.2.1  Decent Homes Improvement Programme (DHIP)  

The Council brought all of its homes up to the Decent Homes standard in 2015/16 and is 
forecast to spend £3.6m in maintaining decency in 2016/17. Each year will require 
further investment to ensure that 100% of homes remain at the standard.  

 
The Decent Homes Improvement Programme for 2017/18 will invest £1.884 million in 
improving tenants’ homes. 
 

5.2.2 Other Planned Investment Programme 
In addition to delivering the Decent Homes Improvement Programme, there are a wide 
range of other investments (of £1.47m) required to maintain and enhance the housing 
stock and associated services and assets, which are outside the government’s definition 
of Decent Homes works.  
 

5.2.3  New Build/Affordable Housing Programme 
In November 2015 Cabinet approved the building of new Council homes on 3 different 
sites, subject to planning permission, at: 
Cropston Drive, Greenhill  - up to 20 homes 
Linford and Verdon Crescent, Coalville – up to 16 new homes 
Willesley estate, Ashby - up to 8 homes 
Total =    44 homes 
 
The above schemes will see an investment of £4.3m in 2017/18.  
 

5.2.4  Other Schemes / Miscellaneous 
There are various other schemes with brief notes in the Housing capital programme as 
per Appendix B . 
 
For the 2016/17 programme, a line for “High Value Assets Payment to Central 
Government” was included in the above section. The introduction of the Right to Buy for 
Housing Association tenants will require contributions from local housing authorities to 
support the discount to be given to those tenants. The Housing and Planning Act paves 
the way for this to happen, but the regulations setting out exactly how this will work and 



hence the amount required are still awaited. In the absence of detailed guidance, an 
estimated amount, consistent with that for 2016/17 has been included in the capital 
programme.  
 

5.2.5 Future Funding 
 Following the change in the core assumption for future rent increases that was made in 

2016/17, the  long term HRA business plan continues to be based on annual rent 
increases of 1.5% (notwithstanding the annual 1% rent reductions from 2016 for four 
years). This means that additional efficiencies will continue to be sought and ongoing 
work to identify sites and properties suitable for disposal will be maintained.  

 
6.0     CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 
6.1 The resources estimated to be needed to finance the General Fund programme 2017/18 

to 2021/22 totals £7,380,431 and is as follows: 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2  Details of the planned funding of the programmes are included in Appendix A.  Funding 

is in place in 2017/18 for the Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme (£1,032,038) consisting 
of £524,780 Disabled Facilities Grants, £371,338 of reserves and £135,920 of Revenue 
Contribution. The further funding of the Ashby Cultural and Leisure Quarter project 
(£330,000) consists of £180,000 from Reserves and £150,000 from Capital receipts. The 
ICT Infrastructure scheme (Roadmap £144,000) and the Car Parking Meter scheme 
(£140,000) are to be funded from the 16/17 projected revenue underspend and will be 
held in reserve. The remaining schemes (£1,424,883) can be funded either by leasing or 
borrowing depending on value for money and for which, provision has been made in the 
2017/18 Revenue Budget. 

 
6.3  The following resources are budgeted to be available for financing the Housing Revenue 

Account Programme in 2017/18.  An estimated surplus of £53 can be carried forward to 
2018/19. 

 

 £ 

Usable Balances 2,363,216 

Retained Right to Buy Receipts 240,655 

Right to Buy Receipts – Attributable debt 688,841 

Use of Right to Buy ‘One for One’ reserve 133,383 

RCCO 2,029,713 

Major Repairs Allowance 3,968,199 

Asset Disposals (Capital Allowance)    600,000 

Total Resources 10,024,007 

Less Budgeted Expenditure 10,023,954 

Surplus to be carried forward to 2018/19 53 

 £ 

2017/18 3,070,921 

2018/19 1,774,200 

2019/20 1,056,700 

2020/21 835,610 

2021/22 643,000 

Total 7,380,431 



 
 
7.0 PROCUREMENT ROUTES 
 
7.1 Where the authority is required to enter into a contract which has a value of £100,000 or 

more, Cabinet authority is sought prior to award of the contract. As Cabinet is 
considering the budgetary implications of the Capital Programmes, it is efficient for 
Cabinet to consider the award of subsequent high-value contracts at the same time. 
Cabinet may also be asked to address a request for a waiver to the Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPR) for a particular selection of contract opportunities. Each will be considered 
in turn. 

 
7.2      Although the procurement processes may be commenced sooner, the contract award will 

not take place before Council has approved the budget for the Capital Programmes. The 
authority’s procurement documentation gives it a right not to award a contract, should 
Council not approve the budget. 

 
7.3 Each year, as part of the Fleet, Plant and Equipment Replacement Programme, 

replacements will need to be made to some of the Council’s vehicles, equipment and 
plant. Officers will select the most appropriate public sector framework for each item, 
considering which offers value for money for the Council at the time of procurement. 

 
Cabinet is asked to delegate award of the subsequent contracts for vehicles, equipment 
and plant to the Director of Services in consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 

 
8.0  NEXT STEPS 
 
8.1  This report will be presented to the Policy Development Group at its meeting on 11 

January 2017. Consultation with the business community will be through the 
Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland Federation of Small Businesses. Any 
comments received will be included in the report to Cabinet on 7 February 2017 which 
will make the final recommendations to Council on 23 February 2017. 

 
 





APPENDIX A 

BUDGET 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 GRANTS/ DF VfM OTHER APF REVENUE CAPITAL LEASING
HOLDER ORIGINAL Actual @ FORECAST S106 CONTS GRANTS Reserve RESERVES Reserve RECEIPTS OR 

BUDGET Period 6 (Inc c/f & slippage) BORROWING
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Anna Wright -                     51,655              75,456                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             75,456       
Sam Outama -                     -                    -                              5,053                -                    -                   -                 -             5,053                   
Sam Outama 42,000               2,691                42,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             42,000                 
Sam Outama -                     -                    3,546                          -                    -                    -                   -                 -             3,546                   
Sam Outama -                     -                    9,351                          -                    -                    -                   -                 -             9,351                   
Sam Outama -                     11,359              14,499                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             14,499       
Sam Outama 63,000               67,600              67,600                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             4,600             63,000                 

Mike Murphy / 
Anna Wright 50,000               63,847              63,847                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             14,000           49,847                 
Sam Outama -                     -                    234,000                      144,000            100,000            -                   -                 -             244,000          234,000         

User workstation monitor replacements 

Helpdesk software upgrade
Server and storage additional capacity
Replacement telephone system

Desktop Equipment Upgrade

Improving Customer Experience Project (ICE)

ICT Infrastructure Scheme
HR / Payroll System                                              

ICT Security Infrastructure

DRAFT GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2017/18 to 2021/22
FUNDING

CHIEF EXEC DIRECTORATE

SCHEME



BUDGET 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 GRANTS/ DF VfM OTHER APF REVENUE CAPITAL LEASING
HOLDER ORIGINAL Actual @ FORECAST S106 CONTS GRANTS Reserve RESERVES Reserve RECEIPTS OR 

BUDGET Period 6 (Inc c/f & slippage) BORROWING
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Minna Scott 716,760             250,000            450,000                      1,032,038         660,700            660,700           -                 -             1,872,390     387,368          543,680         
Paul Coates 857,000             344,425            344,425                      847,330            485,000            -                   560,000         180,000     -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 2,416,755            
Paul Coates 19,000               18,952              18,952                        -                    -                    -                   -                 32,000       -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 50,952                 
Paul Coates 22,000               21,473              21,473                        -                    -                    15,000             -                 32,000       -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 68,473                 
Paul Coates 28,000               48,588              48,588                        145,000            210,000            80,000             50,000           34,000       -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 567,588               
Paul Coates 19,000               19,215              19,215                        25,000              -                    -                   -                 100,000     -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 144,215               

Vans - Box / Lorry Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              40,000              40,000              130,000           -                 -             -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 210,000               
Sweepers Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              250,000            50,000              -                   130,000         130,000     -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 560,000               

Paul Coates 341,000             144,880            215,000                      -                    80,000              -                   -                 -             -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 295,000               
Mowing Machines Paul Coates 47,000               47,210              47,210                        -                    70,000              70,000             10,000           50,000       -                      -                -             -                  -                  -                 247,210               
Council Offices Extnsn car park c/ville, Resurfacing Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              20,000              -                    -                   -                 -             20,000                 
South Street Car park, Ashby - Resurfacing Paul Coates -                     -                    762                             -                    -                    -                   -                 -             762                      
Access Road, High Street Car Park - Measham - Resurfacing Paul Coates 25,000               -                    25,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             25,000                 
High Street Car Park Measham - resurfacing Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   27,500           27,500                 
Hermitage Rec Grounds AWP Area Access, Whitwick - resurfacing Paul Coates 11,500               7,653                11,500                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             11,500                 
Hermitage Leisure Centre Car Park - Resurfacing (section of). Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              -                    15,000              -                   -                 -             15,000                 
Hermitage Recreation Grounds, Whitwick, All Weather Play Area Car Park Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              7,500                -                    -                   -                 -             7,500                   
Belvoir Shopping Centre, Main Service Road, Coalville - Maintenance. Paul Coates -                     -                    12,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             12,000                 
Silver Street Car Park, Whitwick - Resurfacing. Paul Coates -                     35,677              44,675                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             44,675                 
Hood Park Leisure Centre Car Park, Ashby - Resurfacing (section of). Paul Coates 15,000               -                    -                              15,000              -                    -                   -                 -             15,000                 
North Service Road Car Park, Coalville - Maintenance & Improvements. Paul Coates 32,250               -                    32,250                        -                    -                    -                   -                 32,250                 
Bridge Road Car Park, Coalville - Resurface main through route. Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              -                    21,500              -                   -                 21,500                 
Access Road, High Street Car Park - Ibstock - Resurfacing Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    45,000             -                 -             45,000                 
Swannington Depot - Demolition Paul Coates -                     -                    -                              35,000              -                    -                   -                 -             35,000                 

John Richardson -                     1,568                35,966                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             35,966            
John Richardson -                     -                    24,650                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             24,650                 

Car Parking Meters John Richardson -                     -                    -                              140,000            -                    -                   -                 -             140,000          
Coalville Park - Reconfigure depot, replace building Jason Knight 95,000               -                    95,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             95,000                 
Replace Hood Park LC outdoor learner pool boiler and pipework Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    10,000              -                   -                 -             10,000                 
Replace Hood Park LC gym air con                                                                  Jason Knight 15,000               10,485              15,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             15,000                 

Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   -                 23,000       23,000                 
Replace hot water system pipework, heat emitters & cold water storage tank at Hermitage LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    18,000              -                   -                 -             18,000                 

Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    16,000             -                 -             16,000                 
Replace suspended ceiling in Hermitage LC main pool hall  Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    30,000             -                 -             30,000                 
Replacement of outdoor pool filter media at Hood Park LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    10,000             -                 -             10,000                 
Replace Hermitage LC gym Air Con                   Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    14,000              -                   -                 -             14,000                 

Jason Knight 400,000             1,140                399,250                      -                    -                    -                   -                 -             399,250             
Acquisition of Land at Ashby Health Centre - car park John Richardson -                     255,379            620,000                      330,000            -                    -                   -                 -             80,000       720,000          150,000         
Refurbishment of Moira Furnace Toilet Unit Wendy May -                     -                    -                              20,000              -                    -                   -                 -             20,000                 
Replace General Ductwork, ventilation & all fire dampners at Hood Park LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   20,000           -             20,000                 
Replace Flat roof cover over plant room at Hermitage LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   13,110           -             13,110                 
Replace control systems in alignment with plant installations at Hermitage LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   15,000           -             15,000                 
Replace Squash Court Lighting at Hermitage LC Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   10,000           -             10,000                 
Replace Leisure Centre ICT Servers Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              15,000              -                    -                   -                 -             15,000                 
Regrout Hood Park LC main and Learner swimming Pool tiles Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   -                 30,000       30,000                 
HPLC Sports Hall & Offices Roof Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   -                 10,000       10,000                 
Replace HLC Sportshall Fan Convectors and Pipework Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   -                 12,000       12,000                 
Replace HLC Swimming Pool dosing System Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    -                    -                   -                 10,000       10,000                 

2,798,510          1,403,797         2,991,215                  3,070,921         1,774,200         1,056,700        835,610         643,000     399,250             1,872,390     169,955    1,527,334      -                  796,280         150,000         5,456,437            

Regrout Hermitage LC swimming pool tiles

Vans - Pickup

Digger / Misc Plant

Coalville Market Upgrade -Phase 2
Market Hall Wall

TOTAL GENERAL FUND

New Sportshall floor at Hermitage LC

Wellbeing Centre at Hood Park LC

Disabled Facility Grants

Market Vehicles / Cars
Vans - Small
Vans - Medium

SCHEME

  DIRECTOR OF SERVICES

Refuse Vehicles and Refuse Kerbsiders



APPENDIX A 

BUDGET 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 GRANTS/ DF VfM OTHER RESERVES REVENUE CAPITAL LEASING
HOLDER ORIGINAL Actual @ FORECAST S106 CONTRIB GRANTS Reserve RESERVES ASSET PROT RECEIPTS OR 

BUDGET Period 6 (Inc c/f & slippage) FUND BORROWING
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Jason Knight -                     -                    7,500                          -                    -                    -                   -                 -             7,500              
Jason Knight -                     -                    2,821                          -                    -                    -                   -                 -             2,821              
Jason Knight -                     -                    7,073                          -                    -                    -                   -                 -             7,073                  
Jason Knight -                     -                    779                             -                    -                    -                   -                 -             779                 
Jason Knight -                     45,656              60,471                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             60,471            

Green Gym at Playhub, Melrose Road Jason Knight -                     -                    12,000                        -                    -                    -                   -                 -             12,000            
Jason Knight -                     -                    -                              -                    16,000              -                   -                 -             16,000            

TOTAL SPECIAL EXPENSES -                     45,656              90,644                        -                    16,000              -                   -                 -             7,073                  -                -             28,000            71,571            -                 -                 -                       

Owen Street - Changing Rooms

Urban Forest Park-Footway and drainage improvements
Owen Street -Floodlights

 COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES
Cropston Drive BMX Track

SCHEME

Thringstone Miners Social Centre

Owen Street - Tarmac Rec Ground Entrance Driveway





2017/18 - 2021/22 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME, VERSION 2 APPENDIX B

 2016/17 
APPROVED 

BUDGET 

 2016/17 @ p7 
forecast 
outturn 

 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22 

2017 - 2022 Decent Homes
Decent Homes Programme         2,097,000          2,709,000         1,084,130         3,712,926         2,263,596            817,160         1,603,670 
Decent Homes Refusals/Deferrals Provision
Capital Works - Voids            246,500             246,500            232,000            217,500            203,000            188,500            188,500 
Capital Works - Other            603,500             603,500            568,000            532,500            497,000            461,500            461,500 
2017 - 2022 Decent Homes Total         2,947,000          3,559,000         1,884,130         4,462,926         2,963,596         1,467,160         2,253,670 

2017 - 2022 Other Planned Investment
Non Decency Improvements         1,028,124          1,028,124         1,170,914         1,170,914         1,170,914         1,170,914         1,170,914 
Hard Wired Smoke Detectors              47,000               47,000              47,000              47,000              47,000              47,000              47,000 
Fire Risk Assessment Remedial Works              40,000               40,000              40,000              40,000              40,000              40,000              40,000 
Remedial Works (Damp & Structural)            187,500             187,500            187,500            187,500            187,500            187,500            187,500 
Fuel swaps (solid fuel to gas supply)              25,000               25,000              25,000              25,000              25,000              25,000              25,000 
2017 - 2022 Other Planned Investment Total         1,327,624          1,327,624         1,470,414         1,470,414         1,470,414         1,470,414         1,470,414 

New Build / Affordable Housing Programme
New Build Programme - use of RTB one for one 
reserve

           497,000             197,400            133,383              93,628                      -   

New Build Programme - NWLDC contribution to RTB 
one for one

           386,000             460,600         4,118,617            626,372 

New Build Programme - NWLDC additional provision

Support for Acquiring Affordable Housing
Support for Affordable Housing - (Waterloo Hsg Grp, 
EMH Assoc, Nottingham Com grp) 
Support for Affordable Housing - EMH Assoc (Pick & 
Shovel site)
Acquisition of sites
New Build / Affordable Housing Programme Total            883,000             658,000         4,252,000            720,000                      -                        -   

Othe Schemes / Miscellaneous
Off Street Parking            100,000             200,000            150,000                      -                        -   
Major Aids & Adaptations            350,000             350,000            300,000            275,000            250,000            250,000            200,000 
Development Site Preparations                      -                         -                        -                        -                        -   
Energy Insulation Works                      -               250,000                      -                        -                        -   
Renewable/Replacement Energy  Installations 
Programme

           250,000             250,000            250,000            250,000            250,000 

Speech Module              50,000                       -                50,000              50,000              50,000 
Capital Programme Delivery Costs            530,160             530,160            430,909            440,389            450,077            459,979            470,099 
Unallocated/Contingency            340,000             340,000            236,501            361,417            249,201            159,379            196,204 
Disposal of High Value Assets            500,000         1,000,000            500,000            500,000            500,000            500,000 
Othe Schemes / Miscellaneous Total         2,120,160          1,920,160         2,417,410         1,876,806         1,749,278         1,369,358         1,366,303 

Capital Allowances 
Programme to be defined 
Capital Allowances  Total                      -                         -                        -                        -                        -                        -   

Loan repayments       14,338,076 

Total Programme Costs         7,277,784          7,464,784       10,023,954         8,530,146         6,183,288         4,306,932       19,428,463 

2017/18 - 2021/22 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME FUNDING

 2016/17  2016/17  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22 

Usable balances held            644,000          2,431,000         2,363,216                     53                     53                     53         1,302,495 
Retained Right to Buy Receipts (RTB)            238,000             281,000            240,655            240,655            240,655            240,655            240,655 
RTB receipts - attributable debt            659,000          1,920,000            688,841            656,695            600,695            600,695            600,695 
RTB one for one reserve            497,000             701,000            133,383              93,628              49,954              49,954              49,954 
RCCO                      -                         -           2,029,713         2,804,403            640,334                      -         12,543,950 
Major Repairs Allowance         4,984,000          3,995,000         3,968,199         4,034,765         4,001,650         3,968,070         3,940,714 
Asset Disposals (Capital Allowance)            900,000             500,000            600,000            700,000            650,000            750,000            750,000 

Total Funding         7,922,000          9,828,000       10,024,007         8,530,199         6,183,341         5,609,427       19,428,462 

Cumulative Over / (Under Resource)            644,216          2,363,216                     53                     53                     53         1,302,495 -                     0 





NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of report 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET PROPOSALS 
FOR 2017/18 

Key Decision 
a) Financial  Yes 
b) Community Yes 

Contacts 

Councillor Nick Rushton 
01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

Councillor Roger Bayliss 
01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

Chief Executive 
01530 454500 
christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

Director of Housing 
01530 454819 
glyn.jones@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
 
Financial Planning Manager and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
01530 454707 
pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.go.uk 

Purpose of report 
To seek approval of the draft 2017/18 Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Budget proposals for consultation. 

Reason for Decision 
To enable the Council to set a balanced Housing Revenue 
Account Budget for 2017/18. 

Council Priorities The HRA budget assists the Value for Money priority. 

Implications:  

Financial/Staff As included in report. 

Link to relevant CAT 
Delivering a HRA Budget for 2017/18 will allow the Council to 
achieve the objectives for the service as set out in the Housing 
Business Plan and Service Team Business Plans.  

Risk Management 

The Council sets an HRA budget, which is regularly monitored 
throughout the year to ensure services are delivered within budget.  
Risks are managed through the corporate risk management 
process. 

mailto:nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:christine.fisher@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:glyn.jones@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.go.uk


Equalities Impact Screening None identified. 

Human Rights None identified. 

Transformational 
Government 

Not applicable. 

Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

The report is satisfactory. 

Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

The report is satisfactory. 

Comments of Monitoring 
Officer 

The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) 

Background papers  None 

Recommendations 

A. THAT THE ASSURANCE STATEMENT BY THE DEPUTY 
S151 OFFICER BE NOTED, 

B. THAT CABINET APPROVE THE DRAFT HRA BUDGET  
PROPOSAL AS DETAILED IN THIS REPORT AND 
ASSOCIATED APPENDICES FOR CONSULTATION 

 
 
1.0   INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval to consult on the draft HRA budget proposals for 
2017/18, with the outcome of this consultation exercise being fed back into the subsequent 
reports to Cabinet and Council to seek approval for the final budget. 

 
1.2 The formal consultation process with customers adheres to the same consultation 

timetable as the General Fund and will commence on 14 December 2016 and end on 12 
January 2017 in readiness for Cabinet and Full Council approval of final proposals on 7 
and 23 February 2017 respectively. 

 
1.3 Draft proposals for consultation have been prepared in the context of the continuation of 

four years of 1% per annum rent reductions from 2016/17 in accordance with the Work 
and Welfare Reform Act 2016. The impact of that rent reduction was fully incorporated into 
the 2016/17 HRA Budget and long term business plan. Although inflation is now predicted 
to rise towards the end of 2017, it is still considered prudent to retain the assumption of 
lower long term rent increases. However, inflationary pressures from late 2017 onwards, 
coupled with the ongoing 1% rent reductions, will certainly present financial challenges to 
the Housing service going forward. 

 
 
 



2.0 2016/17 BUDGET POSITION 
 
2.1 The budgeted position for 2016/17 was a £2.395m surplus. The overall forecast at period 

6 shows a potential surplus of £2.5m. This is largely as a result of improved performance 
in letting empty properties, which produces lower rent losses. 

 
2.2 As a result of this, the total value of HRA balances at 31 March 2017 is estimated to be 

£8.2m.  This balance significantly exceeds our agreed minimum working balance on the 
HRA of £1m and has been developed as a provision against the future repayment of debts 
taken out on a maturity repayment basis, within the HRA Business Plan.  The first maturity 
loans of £10m and £3m fall due for repayment on 28 March 2022.  Hence £7.2m will be 
held in a savings reserve (at 31 March 2017) that was created for the purposes of 
repaying these loans commitments, in addition to the £1m minimum balance, taking total 
reserves to £8.2m 

 
 
3.0   2017/18 BUDGET OVERVIEW 
 
3.1 Budget proposals are based on prices and levels of charges for Council Housing related 

services at September 2016 plus known increases, for example contractual obligations. 
 
3.2  The process of determining the 2017/18 budget includes the capturing of all of the 

changes required from one budget year to the next within the HRA in the form of a budget 
“investment” – a request for more funding or a reduction in income collected, or a budget 
“saving” – an increase in income or a budget saving via reduced expenditure. 

 
3.3 The budget investment and budget saving proposals for the 2017/18 budget are shown 

within Appendix A. Not included as a specific sum in the proposed investments is the 
future development of the housing management ICT systems, which are due for 
replacement or significant upgrading in the next few years. Options will be developed in 
the coming months and estimated costs evaluated for inclusion in subsequent years 
budget proposals. 

 
3.4 Central government announced on 23 November 2016 that local authorities are no longer 

required to implement a “pay to stay” policy (charging higher rents to those tenants with 
higher incomes, with any additional income being returned to the Treasury), although it 
had always been assumed that the financial impact of any such policy would have been 
neutral.  

 
3.5 In relation to the proposed  sale of higher value empty homes, a provision of £0.5m 

originally included in 2016/17 capital programme will be revised to nil and carried forward 
to create a notional £1m provision for 2017/18. Guidance from DCLG has now been 
issued stating that central government will be funding the Right To Buy Pilot for housing 
association tenants, and that local authorities will not be required to make any Higher 
Value Asset Payments in 2017/18. It is proposed that we retain this £1m provision in the 
budget whilst we await further clarification from government as to how the policy may 
impact on local authorities from 2018/19 onwards. If, at a later date, it becomes possible to 
release this provision for other purposes, it is proposed that initial consideration be given 
to reducing the income target from HRA asset disposals. Capital budgets will be the 
subject of a separate report to Cabinet. 

 



3.6 For 2017/18, the level of revenue contribution to capital outlay (RCCO) is proposed to 
increase from nil to £2.03m. This is as a result of taking forward the new build projects for 
the brownfield site (Coalville), Greenacres (Coalville) and Willesley Estate (Ashby) sites as 
presented to Cabinet on 10 November 2015. 

 
3.7 The budget for 2017/18 is estimated to produce an operating surplus / deficit of zero, after 

making the RCCO and a contribution of £276k to the debt repayment reserve, which will 
take total estimated HRA balances at 31 March 2018 to £8.5m. The HRA working balance 
will remain at £1m and the remaining £7.5m will be held in the debt repayment reserve.  

 
3.8 In the years following 2017/18, the future predicted amounts that the HRA is able to 

contribute to the debt repayment reserve, subject to further revisions via the annual budget 
setting process   are as follows: 

 

 2018/19 - £0.0m 

 2019/20 - £1.2m 

 2020/21 - £1.8m 

 2021/22 - £0.0m 
 

 
4.0 2017/18 BUDGET – RENTS 
 
4.1 During 2014, the Government announced that from 2015/16 rent guidance required rent 

increases to be via a formula of September CPI + 1% for the next 10 years.  On the 
introduction of that guidance the former rent restructuring policy ceased, with the 
exception of re-letting properties at the converged rent level (‘target rent’) on re-let.   

 
4.2 As part of the 2015/16 budget, Cabinet agreed to adopt an accelerated convergence 

approach that increased 2014/15 rents following the guidance of CPI + 1%, but also 
continued to converge rents not already at the target rent at an accelerated rate of up to 
£4 per week. Cabinet also agreed to the expansion of the approach to letting properties at 
target rent to include transfers by existing tenants. 

 
4.3 However, at the end of October 2016, only 55% of properties were at their target rent, a 

much lower percentage compared to the vast majority of local authorities. 
 
4.4 The Work and Welfare Reform Act 2016 required rents to be reduced by 1% below their 

2015/16 levels, with the exception of those for supported housing. An exemption was 
granted for supported housing and those rents were increased by CPI + 1%.  However, 
the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions announced on 15 September 2016 that the 
1% rent reduction would apply for supported housing for 2017/18 and the following two 
years.   

 
4.5 The formula for determining rents has not altered despite this direction and there is 

therefore some scope to review rent levels in respect of the valuation element of the rent 
formula (which is currently based on 1999 values).  A review is currently underway to 
determine the financial impact of a revaluation of Council Housing stock, so we can 
assess the potential effect it may have on future rent levels, and income streams.  This 
may lead to some small changes in the rents of some council properties. Any further 
proposals will be presented for Cabinet approval at a later date. 

 



4.6 The level of rent loss due to void properties target included in the budgeted rental income 
is 1.5%, a reduction from 1.8% assumed in the previous year.   

 
4.7 As a result of the 1% rent reduction for 2017/18 and lower property numbers due to RTB 

sales, net budgeted rental income is £305k less than budgeted in 2016/17. 
 
4.8 Until 2015/16 the  long term HRA business plan had a core assumption that future rents 

would increase by 2.5% (notwithstanding the four year 1% rent reductions from 2016) and 
this was a standard benchmark assumption across most social housing landlords. In view 
of current government policy and the outlook for inflation, that assumption was revised 
downwards to 1.5% for the 2016/17 budget. It is not considered appropriate to make any 
further change to that assumption. This has a significant impact on projected future rental 
income flows, and over the 30 year business plan period additional efficiencies and further 
savings will still need to be identified.  

 
 
5.0      SERVICE CHARGES, FEES AND OTHER CHARGES 
 
5.1 Approximately one third of the Council’s properties have a service charge, covering a 

range of items such as communal heating, communal lighting, maintenance of communal 
areas and the older persons service charge.  Service charges are covered by Housing 
Benefit, whilst all other fees and charges are not. 

 
5.2     For 2017/18 average weekly service charges are proposed to be increased by an average 

of 0.9% to reflect changes in usage patterns and costs.  
 
5.3 In addition, tenants are due to be consulted about plans to introduce or enhance 

communal cleaning to approximately 70 blocks where the service is not currently provided. 
The costs will be recovered in full through a service charge and in total these are 
estimated to be £66,763 per annum which will require an average service charge currently 
estimated at approximately £3.95 per week. 

 
5.4 Central heating charges are currently proposed to be maintained at existing levels, 

pending an update to the contractual arrangements for gas and electricity supply for 
2017/18.   

 
5.5 Garage rent levels are proposed to rise by 2.0% which is in line with the Retail Prices 

Index (RPI) as at September 2016.   
 
5.6 Appleby Magna Caravan Site is a General Fund asset but managed by the Housing 

Service.  Ground rents for the site are proposed to be increased by RPI of 2.0% on the 
anniversary of each individual rent agreement in 2017/18. 
 

5.7 It is proposed that Lifeline Charges are increased by RPI of 2.0% from April 2017 for East 
Midlands Housing as per the contract, but for 8% for private customers, in line with an 
updated marketing plan for the Lifeline Service.   

 
5.8 Shop leases are proposed to rise by 14% as agreed by Cabinet in November 2014 as part 

of the process of gradually moving them to a market rent..  
 
5.9 A table detailing each charge increase can be found in Appendix B. 
 



 
6.0 HRA BUSINESS PLAN  
 
6.1 Significant annual surpluses on the HRA are required in future years in order to meet the 

loan repayment commitments in the HRA Business Plan.  As detailed in 2.2 and 3.6 
above, existing balances and future annual surpluses will be transferred to the debt 
repayment reserve for the purposes of repaying these loans.  The first maturity loans to fall 
due do so in 2021/22 and are for £3m and £10m.  Please see Appendix C for a schedule 
of HRA loans. 

 
6.2 The inclusion of the new build programme and the inclusion of negotiated gifted units from 

developers provides some improvement in the overall business plan viability. However,  
given the current forecasts for the rental income stream, it is not possible to achieve a 
positive cash flow in future over a 30 year period where borrowing is required to finance 
new development for affordable rent (and no HCA funding or other subsidy is available). 

 
6.3 In order to deal with significant sums in loans that mature later during the business plan 

period, further savings, additional income or refinancing will be needed to address 
shortfalls of £22m in 2041/42 and a further £22m by the end of the 30 year period on 
2045/46. 

 
6.4 It should be noted that the projected level of savings requirement is very sensitive to the 

level of future rent increases, which is difficult to predict given the uncertainty in the 
medium to long term of future inflation rates and changes in central government rents 
policy. Therefore, as these potential liabilities fall 25 years plus hence, there are several 
other variables that could change over the intervening period, and the recurring option to 
refinance at an appropriate juncture is available, it is not considered necessary to draw up 
detailed plans at the moment to address the highlighted sums.   

 
6.5 The revenue contribution to capital outlay (RCCO) for 2017/18 is £2.03m. Future amounts 

are forecast to be required in order to support the capital programme, including new build 
proposals, as follows: 

 
  RCCO  
 

 2018/19 - £2.81m 

 2019/20 - £0.6m 

 2020/21 - £0.0m 

 2021/22 - £0.0m 
 

It is important to note however that there is limited scope to make RCCOs in the early 
years of the Business Plan due to the need to build up loan reserve capacity to repay 
maturity loans falling due in 2021/22. 

 
7.0 CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
7.1 The contents and appendices of this report will be used to consult with Council tenants on 

the proposals for the 2017/18 Housing Revenue Account budget. 
 
7.2 This will include consulting with tenant members of the Performance and Finance Working 

Group (the Council’s Resident Involvement technical finance working group) and the 



Tenants and Leaseholders Consultation Forum (the Council’s main consultative body of 
tenants) to review and comment on the proposals. 

 
7.3 In addition, the contents and appendices of this report will be published on the Council’s 

Housing internet page and available in hard copy format upon request. 
 
7.4 The report will be presented to the Policy Development Group on 11 January 2017. 
 
7.5 A copy of the consultation timetable can be found in Appendix D. 
 
 
8.0 ROBUSTNESS OF ESTIMATES AND ADEQUACY OF RESERVES 
 
8.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council’s Chief Financial Officer (Section 

151 Officer) to comment on the robustness of the estimates and also on the adequacy of 
the proposed reserves.  Members must have regard to these comments when making a 
decision on the budget proposals for the forthcoming year. 

 
8.2 Taking into account identified risks, the Section 151 Officer considers that the estimates 

which form the Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2016/17 are robust and prudent, and 
the proposals are deliverable. 

 
8.3 The Section 151 Officer also considers that the overall level of Housing Revenue Account 

reserves is adequate. 
 
 



Saving / Increase in Income   APPENDIX A 

Ref Team Savings Bid Title Value RAG 

SAV1  Housing Management Removal of two Support Officer posts within Older Persons Service -£56,250 G 

SAV2 Housing Management DWP Funding to continue Support Officer (Universal Credit) role -£13,000 G 

SAV3 Housing Management Council Tax Expenses impact following reduction in number of empty properties -£29,880 G 

SAV5 Asset Management Team Mechanical Air Extraction  -£15,000 G 

SAV7 Asset Management Team Reduction in DLO spend on fuel -£6,000 G 

SAV8 Asset Management Team Tipping Charges -£9,090 G 

SAV11 Housing Management Lifeline Service Remodelling -£6,240 G 

SAV13 Housing Management Additional income from Court Cost increases -£7,850 G 

SAV14 HRA Business Support  Reduction in the level of corporate recharges to the HRA £-200,000 G 

SAV 15 HRA Business Support Merging of Energy Strategy Officer position with another post (80% saving) -£31,730 G 

SAV16 Housing Management AMCS HRA Management Fee charge to the General Fund -£15,650 G 

SAV18 Asset Management Team Reduction in responsive & maintenance costs as a result of right to buy sales -£32,000 G 

SAV19 HRA Business Support Budgeted reduction in void rate from 1.8% to 1.5% -£52,300 G 

SAV20 HRA Business Support Introduction of communal cleaning into flats -£66,760 G 

De-min 
SAV 

De-minimis (below £5k) Online Document Access for Tenant Scrutiny Panel (SAV2) £1,000; Repairs charges for 
Leaseholders (SAV17) £460;  Repairs to shared common parts (SAV22) £3,430;  Fire 
extinguisher servicing (SAV23) £480;  Increase in garage rent (SAV24) £1,500;  Door entry 
maintenance charges (SAV25) £620; Annual increase in cleaning contract £370   -£7,860 

G 

Total -£549,610   

Investment / Reduction in Income       

Ref Team Investments Bid Title Value RAG 

BI2 Housing Management Introduction of CCTV to Cropston Drive £5,000 G 

BI3 Housing Management Continue Support Officer (Universal Credit) role in Housing Management Team              £31,000 G 

BI5 Housing Management Impact of increased Court Cost fees £17,000 G 

BI12 Housing Management Additional Lifeline Equipment in support of marketing plan £10,000 G 

BI18 Asset Management Team DLO cost of living salary increases £30,150 G 

BI19 
Housing Revenue 

Account Housing Team cost of living increase and Asset Management Team Restructure Charges £89,800 
G 

BI22 
Director & Head of 

Housing Removal of Salary Turnover for Director and Head of Housing £5,350 
G 

BI23 HRA Business Support Funding in support of Greenhill youth facilities £25,000 G 

BI26 Asset Management Team 
Amendment to the apportionment of revenue and capital salary costs following the 
restructure of the Asset Management team £132,370 

G 

BI27 Housing Management Additional expenditure with introducing service charge for cleaning of common parts in flats £66,760 G 

De-min 
BI 

De-minimis (below £5k) Insurance premium payments for TARAs (BI4) £700; Increased subscriptions including 
Housing Ombudsman (BI11) £4,800; Annual contract increases (BI13) £3,620; Grounds 
maintenance annual increase (BI25) £1,020; Annual increase cleaning contract (BI24) £370 £10,510 

G 

Total £422,940 
 

 



 
COMPARISON OF 2016/17 AND 2017/18 HOUSING CHARGES                                                                                                                                     APPENDIX B 

  2016/17 2017/18   

Chargeable Service 
Actual  

2016/17 
 Charge  

Estimates   
2017/18 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% Change Charge Basis of Increase                                                          

Service Charges £492,107  Varies per 
property  

£573,988 £81,881 16.64% Largest increase value: 
£2.88 pw or 84%; Largest 
decrease value: £1.36pw 
or - 98% 

Based on assessment of all 
chargeable services and 
introduction of cleaning for blocks 

Central Heating  
(before adjustments to 
income for void loss) 

£115,223  0 Bed: 
£7.75pw 1 
Bed: £9.34pw 
2 Bed: 
£10.72pw 3 
Bed: £12.32pw  

£115,223 £0 0.00%  0 Bed: £7.75pw 1 Bed: 
£9.34pw 2 Bed: £10.72pw 
3 Bed: £12.32pw  

Based on market assessment of 
predicted increase in utility costs 
during 2016/17 and forecast energy 
prices for 2017/18. 

Garage & Garage Site 
Rent (before 
adjustments to income 
for void loss) 

£75,000 
 

 Garage: 
£6.30pw Site: 
£4.04pw  

£76,500 £1,500 2.00%  Garage: £6.43pw Site: 
£4.12pw  

September 2016 RPI increase in 
line with other years 

Appleby Magna 
Caravan Site Rent  
(before adjustments to 
income for void loss) 

£15,595  Site: 
£31.19pw  

£15,907 £312 2.00% Site: £31.81pw September 2016 RPI based 
increase at anniversary date of 
each licence in line with previous 
years. 

Shop Leases £14,300  n/a  £16,302 £2,002 14.00% n/a 14% increase based on Nov 2014 
Cabinet Report 

Tenants Contents 
Insurance 

£45,883  Premiums 
from £0.44 to 
£6.70pw  

£51,299 £256 0.50%  Premiums from £0.44 to 
£6.78pw  

Minimum increase in price of 0.5% 
in IPT, not yet known if any further 
increase in premiums due to 
renegotiation of framework 
agreement 

Lifelines for private 
customers 

£100,726  £3.39 per 
week  

£108,789 £8,063 8.00% £4.18pw based on 
marketing plan 

Private lifelines marketing plan to 
be presented by Housing 
Management 

Lifelines (East 
Midlands Housing 
Association) 

£38,209  Various 
depending on 
scheme  

£38,973 £764 2.00%  Various depending on 
scheme  

September 2016 RPI increase in 
line with other years 

Choice Based Lettings 
Advertising Costs 

£28,000  n/a  £22,000 -£6,000 -21.43% n/a Reduction based on c100 fewer 
void properties from Housing 
Management 

Total Services  £925,042   £1,018,981 £93,939       

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

APPENDIX C 
 
 

NWLDC Housing Revenue Account Loan Schedule 
 
 

NWLDC - HRA Self Financing loans taken up 26/03/12 

PAYMENT PROFILE - PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST  

     
Loan 
Type Principal Loan Period (Years) Interest Rate 

        

Maturity 10,000,000 30 3.5 

Annuity 10,000,000 20 2.57 

Maturity 10,000,000 10 2.4 

Maturity 3,000,000 10 2.4 

Annuity 10,000,000 15 2.02 

Maturity 10,000,000 25 3.44 

Maturity 13,785,000 30 3.5 

Maturity 10,000,000 30 3.5 

  76,785,000   

 
 
 

 
Note – The above schedule does not reflect the HRA share of existing general fund loans for which the HRA bears an annual charge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
APPENDIX D 

 
 

Consultation and approval of HRA 2016/17 Budget Timetable 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Date Item Information 

28 November Budget considerations 
and headlines  

Members of Tenants and Leaseholder Consultation Forum  

14 December 2016 to 12 
January 2017 

Consultation with 
customers 

Consultation with: 

 All customers via NWLDC website 

 Tenant members of the Performance and Finance Working Group (15 December 
2016)  
 

11 January 2017 Policy Development 
Group 

Opportunity for Members to consider proposals prior to agreement of final budget by 
Cabinet & Council 

7 February 2017 Cabinet Meeting Recommendations to Council 

23 February 2017 Council Approval of Budget 





NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of report PARKING STRATEGY  

Key Decision 
a) Financial  Yes 
b) Community Yes 

 
Contacts 

Councillor Alison Smith MBE 
01530 835668 
alison.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
 
Director of Services 
01530 454555 
steve.bambrick@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
  
Head of Community Services 
01530 454832 
john.richardson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of report 
To present the Parking Strategy for the District and short term 
actions for members approval 

Reason for Decision 
To provide an evidence base and framework for Parking related 
decisions   

Council Priorities 
Value for Money 
Business and Jobs 
Homes and Communities 

Implications:  

Financial/Staff 
Various implications outlined in report relating to potential 
initiatives 

Link to relevant CAT Coalville Project 

Risk Management None  

Equalities Impact Screening None discernable 

Human Rights No implications 

Transformational 
Government 

N/A  

Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Report is satisfactory 

mailto:roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:steve.bambrick@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.richardson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Comments of Monitoring 
Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Consultees 
 Corporate Management Team  

 Policy Development Group 

Background papers  None 

Recommendations 

IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT CABINET: 
 

1) ENDORSES THE PARKING STRATEGY   
 

2) AGREES TO THE FOLLOWING SHORT TERM ACTIONS 
 

- NO PARKING PRICE RISES UNTIL 2020 
- NEW SHORT STAY CAR PARK FOR ASHBY 
- INTRODUCTION OF FREE AFTER 3PM IN COALVILLE 
- PURCHASE OF NEW TICKET MACHINES  
- CONSIDER RELEASING PARKING SPACE IN 

COALVILLE FOR REGENERATION (IF REQUIRED) 
- IMPROVE WEBSITE AND SIGNAGE 
- INTRODUCTION OF NEW WEEKLY AND MONTHLY 

TICKETS FOR COALVILLE 
- AMEND BROOK STREET CAR PARK IN ASHBY TO  

MAXIMUM OF 1 HOUR STAY 
- DISCONTINUE THE COALVILLE REFUND VOUCHER 

SCHEME 
- DEVELOP PARISH PARKING ACTION PLANS 

 
3) AGREES TO FUND THE REVENUE IMPLICATIONS IN 

2016/17 
 

4) AGREES TO FUND THE £140,000 CAPITAL REQUEST 
FOR TICKET MACHINES AND SIGNAGE FROM 2016/17 
UNDERSPENDS 

 
5) DELEGATES AUTHORITY TO THE DIRECTOR OF 

SERVICES TO PLACE THE ORDER FOR NEW 
TICKETING MACHINES IN CONSULTATION WITH THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Parking within North West Leicestershire is an important issue for a wide range of 

stakeholders including residents, businesses, shoppers, tourists, community groups 
and Parish/Town Councils. 

 



1.2 Parking is also an important issue in specific locations such as residential areas (ie on 
street parking) and in town centres (ie on and off street parking). On street parking is 
managed by the Highway Authority (Leicestershire County Council) and off street 
parking by a range of land owners of which the District Council is one. 

 
1.3 The District Council operates and maintains a range of off street car parks in the district 

(See Appendix 1). Each car park provides a service for its locality whether it be to 
support shoppers and local businesses or for residential purposes.  

 
1.4 The District Council’s Community Services manages car park provision with a number 

of teams having specific responsibilities. The overall service is operated through a car 
park trading account. The trading account is established to evidence that car park 
income is used for the purpose of operating and maintaining our car park provision. 
Prior to 2004 and the introduction of charges, car parks were solely funded through the 
general fund ie 100% subsidy. Since the introduction of charges,  the principle of user 
income paying for expenditure has applied. 

 
1.5 The District Council operates pay and display car parks in Coalville and Ashby but also 

manages car parks in the villages of Ibstock, Whitwick, Castle Donington, Measham 
and Thringstone which are not chargeable.  

 
1.6 There are a wide range of costs associated with operating and maintaining car parks 

as follows; 
 

- Repairs, resurfacing, line marking 
- Grounds maintainence, sweeping, litter picking, winter gritting 
- Cash collections, purchase of tickets, computer software, licences 
- Electricity, sewerage, NNDR 
- Enforcement activities including Car Park orders and signage 
- Staff recharges, corporate overheads 

 
1.7 The Council publicises its income and expenditure in relation to car parking in what is 

termed a trading account. The trading account is a balance sheet statement which 
shows how much the council has spent on its car parks and how much income it has 
received. Over the past 3 years the trading account is as follows; 

 

CAR PARK TRADING ACCOUNT Actual   
2013/14 

Actual   
2014/15 

Actual   
2015/16 

    £ £ £ 

BALANCE FROM PREVIOUS YEAR (38,324.62) (28,652.72) 25,974.99 

IN YEAR BALANCE 9,671.90 54,627.71 8,775.32 

BALANCE C/FWD 
(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT (28,652.72) 25,974.99 34,750.31 

 
1.8 The trading account will vary year on year dependant upon the capital schemes that 

are delivered i.e. in years where there is a large number of capital schemes the 
account will show a deficit and in years where there are no schemes it might show a 
surplus. It is therefore important to consider the car parking account over a number of 
years and not just in any one particular year.  

 
1.9 The council does not hold a separate account to retain any surpluses in or to fund any 

deficits from. Any surplus or deficit are funded from each years general fund 
performance. It can be seen that the car park service has for the last two years been 
significantly subsidised by the general fund. 



 
1.10 The Council undertakes an annual condition assessment of each car park which 

identifies any remedial works necessary and refreshes its estimated timeframe for 
either re-lining, surface dressing or resurfacing. The annual condition survey informs 
the Council’s capital programme which is refreshed annually.  

 
 

2.0 PARKING STRATEGY 
 

2.1 In 2015/16 the Council decided to undertake a number of strategic reviews including 
the Local Plan, Infrastructure Development Plan, Playing Pitch Strategy and a Parking 
Strategy. The intent was to ensure that the impact of future growth within the District 
was being planned for in a range of service areas. 

 
2.2 The Council tendered for the delivery of a Parking Strategy in January 2016 with White, 

Young Green the successful bidders. The work was split into two phases with Phase 1 
focussing on a high level assessment of potential car park strategies aimed at 
promoting growth in the two main town centres of Ashby and Coalville. Phase 2 was 
the development of a District wide Parking Strategy and an Action Plan with short, 
medium and long term actions. 

 
2.2   Phase 1 was completed in March 2016 and Phase 2 in September 2016. As part of 

Phase 2 stakeholder meetings were undertaken with representatives from various 
agencies and organisations in Ashby and Coalville, meetings were also held with 
Parish Councils. A community questionnaire was undertaken on the Council’s website 
which received over 400 responses. 

 
2.3 The draft Parking Strategy was considered by Policy Development Group on 28 

September 2016 and the comments are set out in section 6 of this report. The final 
Parking Strategy is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
 
3.0 PHASE 1 - HIGH LEVEL ASSUMPTIONS 
 
3.1 The following table lists the high level assumptions which were developed in Phase 1 

and then used to shape Phase 2 consultation questions  
 

  
Coalville  Ashby  

1  Reduce number of off 
street parking spaces  

Viable option to be assessed 
in more detail  Not a viable option  

2  Increase number of off 

street parking spaces  Not a viable option  Viable option to be assessed in 

more detail  
3  Increase cost of short 

stay parking  Not a viable option  Viable option to be assessed in 

more detail  
4  Decrease cost of short 

stay parking  
Viable option to be assessed 

in more detail  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  
5  Increase cost of long 

stay parking  Not a viable option  Viable option to be assessed in 
more detail  

6  Decrease cost of long 
stay parking  Unlikely to be a viable option  Unlikely to be a viable option  

7  Convert long stay spaces 

to short stay  
Viable option to be assessed 

in more detail  
Viable option to be assessed in 

more detail  
8  Introduce new 

technology  
Viable option to be assessed 

in more detail  
Viable option to be assessed in 

more detail  



9  Use Car Park Land for 
Regeneration  

Viable option to be assessed 
in more detail  

Unlikely to be a viable option 
unless better replacement option 

can be found  
10  Increased investment in 

car parks and equipment  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  
11  Adjust the level of 

enforcement  Minor impact  Minor impact  

12  Reduce / increase hours 

of charging  
Viable option to be assessed 

in more detail  
Viable option to be assessed in 

more detail  
13  Park and Ride  Unlikely to be a viable option  Unlikely to be a viable option  

14  More flexible tariffs  Viable option to be assessed 
in more detail  

Viable option to be assessed in 
more detail  

15  
Private Non-Residential 
Parking and On-Street 

Parking  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  

16  Balanced Sustainable 
Transport Strategy  

Viable if supported by other 
measures  

Viable if supported by other 
measures  

17  
New Development and 
Parking Policy / 

Standards  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  
Viable if supported by other 

measures  

18  
Tailored package of 

strategy tools for 
Coalville, Ashby and the 

rest of NWLDC  
Recommended approach  Recommended approach  

 
 
4.0 PHASE 2 – CONSULTATION ISSUES 
 
4.1 The high level assumptions at 3.1 were taken to stakeholder meetings covering 

Coalville, Ashby and the Parishes. These were also used in the Public online 
consultation. The outcomes of this consultation can be summarised as follows; 

 
4.2 General Consultation Issues from Online Questionnaire 
 

• Low level of satisfaction with the condition of car parks 
• Even split between those that thought charges are reasonable (50%) and those 

that thought they are too high (46%) 
• Level of enforcement seems about right (28% too much, 20% not enough, 50% ok) 

 
4.3 Coalville Stakeholder Consultation and Questionnaire issues 
 

• Cost of parking is too high, especially for short trips 
• No problem with the availability of spaces 
• Too much long stay parking in Market Hall Free car park 
• Short term trials for promotions would be welcomed 
• A different parking strategy is required for Coalville and Ashby 
• Adequate number of spaces need to be retained for future growth 
• Stop the parking voucher scheme 
 

4.4 Ashby Stakeholder Consultation and Questionnaire issues 
 
• Very difficult to find a space at busy times (86% want more spaces). People are 

dissuaded from visiting by this 



• Many people park in supermarket or on-street rather than Council car parks, 
because it is free 

• New development has not had enough parking provided 
• Local Plan growth will make the situation worse. Need to secure funding from 

developers to pay for town centre parking improvements 
• Long stay parking in central car parks makes it difficult to find a space 
• Various ideas were suggested for the location of new car parks 

 
4.5 Castle Donington / Whitwick / Ibstock / Measham / Kegworth Stakeholder Consultation 

and Questionnaire issues 
 

• No support for new parking charges 
• Castle Donington and Kegworth have too little parking but large developments are 

proposed 
• Enforcement is not very good in the smaller towns 
• Long stay parking in town centre car parks takes up space all day 
• Kegworth Bypass would enable more on-street space to be provided 
• New developments do not provide enough off-street parking 
• More on-street spaces could be provided if TROs are amended 
• Consider amending existing TRO’s to improve parking i.e. Kegworth market place 

 
4.6 Future Demand Modelling 
 
4.6.1 As part of the strategy work, car park usage has been modelled using existing 

occupancy data plus future growth based on up to 85% occupancy across the District. 
This has highlighted the following; 

   
• Coalville – Estimate that approximately 100 spaces could be released without much 

risk of leaving a shortfall 
• Ashby – Estimate that approximately 85 new parking spaces are required by 2031 
• Castle Donington – Approximately 20 new spaces required 
• Kegworth – More space required but future demand depends on bypass proposal  
• Whitwick, Ibstock, Measham – New car parks not recommended 

 
4.7 The consultation issues and demand modelling was used to form the following general 

recommendations for the Parking Strategy. It should be noted any comments or 
recommendations relating to on street parking will be passed to the County Council for 
their consideration. 

 
 

5.0 GENERAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The following general recommendations which are contained within the Parking Strategy 

have been developed as a focus for future work relating to parking in the District, they 
have also been refined into more specific recommendations for Coalville and Ashby at 
5.2 and 5.3. 

 

1 Increase off-street car park capacity in specific locations 

2 Expand the use of different parking strategies in different towns 

3 Adjust charging tariffs 

4 Convert Long Stay to Short Stay parking 

5 Review of on-street parking provision 

6 Residents Parking Schemes 

7 Sustainable Transport 

8 Parking Standards 



9 New development and S106 

10 Enforcement 

11 New car park equipment 

12 Improve Signage 

13 Regeneration of car park land 

14 Parking at special events and times 

15 Promotions, Initiatives and Marketing 

16 School-gate parking 

17 Season tickets 

18 Christmas Park and Ride scheme 

19 End Parking Voucher scheme 

20 Sponsorship and advertising within car parks 

21 Continue and improve liaison with LCC 

 
 

5.2 Coalville Recommendations 
 

1 Use of central car park land for regeneration projects 

2 Time restrictions on the Market Hall free parking spaces 

3 On-street parking amendments  

4 Targetted changes to tariff’s to improve town centre usage 

5 New coach parking spaces 

 
5.3 Ashby Recommendations 
 

1 Remove long stay parking from central car parks 

2 Identify new off-street car park for relocated long stay parking 

3 Traffic Regulation Order review 

4 Public realm and traffic management improvement to Market Street 

5 Investigate options for more off-street car park capacity 

6 Support provision of Money Hill public car park 

7 More off-street parking spaces required on the Coalfield Way Business Park 

8 Carry out further surveys when potential new car parks open 

9 Quantify traffic and environmental impacts of proposals 

10 Increase charges at Brook Street car park 

 
5.4  These recommendations were taken to Policy Development Group on 28 September 2016 

for consideration and comment. 
 

 
6.0 POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP COMMENTS 

 
6.1 The draft Parking Strategy was considered by Policy Development Group at its meeting 

on 28 September 2016. The extract from the draft minutes are contained in Appendix 3 
for Cabinets consideration. 

 
6.2 The views of Policy Development Group have been considered in this report and they 

have helped to shape the proposed recommendations. 
 
7.0 PROPOSALS FOR ACTION 
 
7.1 In order to turn the Parking Strategy into reality the recommendations have been 

marshalled into short, medium and long term actions (See Appendix 4).  
 



The summary short term actions proposed are as follows; 
 

- No parking price rises until 2020 
- New Short Stay Car Park for Ashby 
- Introduce Free After 3pm in Coalville 
- Purchase new ticket machines  
- Consider release of parking space in Coalville for regeneration (if required) 
- Improved website, signage review and implementation 
- Introduce new weekly and monthly tickets for Coalville 
- Brook Street in Ashby to be limited to 1 hour stay 
- Discontinue the Coalville Refund Voucher scheme 
- Develop Parish Parking Action Plans 

 
7.1.1 No parking price rises until 2020 
 

It was clear from the feedback that price rises particularly in Coalville would not be 
supported and would not help the vitality of the town centre. Car park prices have not 
been increased since 2008 and have only risen once since there introduction in 2004.  
 
In order to provide a further period of consistency and support to our town centres it is 
proposed not to review prices again until 2019/20. However, it should be noted that the 
general fund is currently subsidising the car park service (2014/15 and 2015/16) as 
seen in the trading account at 1.7. The Councils current general fund revenue 
projections for 2017/18 and 2018/19 can support this subsidy but this is likely to 
change from 2019/20 as the Council’s funding streams change.  
 
Furthermore, if the Council is to ensure that its car parking trading account remains 
sustainable and that investment in car parking infrastructure is to continue it will be 
necessary to review car parking prices.  
 
 It is therefore proposed to undertake a review of prices and all current and proposed 
parking initiatives including Free After 3pm in September 2019 with any increase to 
prices used to meet any service subsidy from September 2020. There is evidence 
within the Parking Strategy to suggest that Coalville and Ashby should be treated 
differently with regard to pricing strategies and differential pricing for each town will be 
considered as part of that review.  

 
7.1.2 New Short Stay Car Park for Ashby 

 
The Council has purchased the former Ashby Health Centre from NHS England for 
£255,000 in order to increase the short stay capacity within Ashby. The building will be 
demolished and a new 60 space car park constructed (with proposals for electric car 
charging points) at an approximate cost of £365,000 as part of the creation of a new 
Cultural and Leisure quarter in partnership with Ashby Town Council. A separate 
cabinet report confirms this project and outlines further proposed improvements to this 
area of Ashby. This is a significant investment in car parking in the District and will 
show a further significant deficit in the car park trading account in 2016/17 and 
2017/18. 

 
7.1.3 Introduce Free After 3pm in Coalville 
 

The Parking Strategy recommendations suggest pricing initiatives to boost town centre 
trade in Coalville. Free after 3pm is an initiative that is being delivered in a number of 
towns to boost trade in quiet periods typically targeting shoppers with flexibility on their 
time of visit and after school shopping. This initiative will also help to boost the early 



evening economy in shops, cafes, restaurants and bars. Therefore from 3 January 
2017, Coalville will have free parking in all its car parks between 3 and 5pm Monday – 
Saturday. No tickets wil be required from 3pm. The financial implications of this 
initiative are covered at 8.2. 
 
Free parking will also remain all day on Sundays and the free December Saturdays in 
both towns will also continue. It is also proposed that the Council will open discussions 
with the owners of the Belvoir Centre regarding the use of the free spaces in the 
Market Hall car park which are required to be provided through a covenant. All of these 
initiatives will be reviewed as part of a review commencing in September 2019. 

 
7.1.4 Purchase new ticket machines  
 

Stakeholder and consultation feedback reported outdated technology as leading to 
poor satisfaction rates and as a barrier to usage. By replacing the meters with the 
latest machine technology that will include a range of potential payment options such 
as credit/debit card, contactless and pay by phone it will give users more flexibility 
during visits and improved choice of payment.  The new machines will require an 
estimated £120,000 capital investment and will take approximately five months to 
procure and install. 
 
However, it should be noted that there is a cost to each transaction completed by 
credit/debit cards, contactless payments and phone payments. These costs are 
currently being investigated in order that full consideration can be given to the cost of 
their introduction. A sum of £5,000 has been estimated as the potential revenue cost of 
charges to the Council arising from the introduction of new payment options. 

 
7.1.5 Consider releasing parking space in Coalville for regeneration (if required) 
 

The demand modelling up until 2031 has outlined that approximately 100 car parking 
spaces could be re-used for regeneration purposes within the town centre without any 
detrimental effect on capacity for shoppers. It has been identified that the Bridge Road 
Car Park is the preferred site for regeneration purposes and if a business case can be 
supported it could be utilised for a new Sports and Leisure Centre. Such a major 
development would significantly increase footfall into the town centre and lead to 
increased benefits for town centre businesses. 

 
7.1.6    Improved website, signage review and implementation 
 

Feedback highlighted that town centre car parking could be improved through better 
signage and from better website information. A formal review of town centre car 
parking signage will need to be undertaken and the outcome shared with 
Leicestershire County Council for their support for any changes. It is proposed that a 
Coalville and Ashby town centre parking signage review be commissioned to include 
any proposed highway signage improvements and internal car park sign changes at an 
estimated cost of £15,000. 

 
7.1.7 Introduce new weekly and monthly tickets for Coalville 
 

The Coalville consultation sessions commented that the current quarterly season 
tickets costing £90 are too expensive for an initial outlay. It is therefore proposed that 
weekly and monthly tickets are offered following the implementation of the new 
machines. The weekly and monthly tickets will offer discounted rates compared to 
purchasing daily tickets. 

 



7.1.8 Limit Brook Street in Ashby to 1 hour 
 

The survey work highlighted a lack of short stay capacity in Ashby. This will be 
improved through the construction of a new short stay car park on the Health Centre 
site but capacity can be further improved through amending the maximum duration of 
stay at Brook Street from 3 hours to 1 hour.  

 
7.1.9 Discontinue the Coalville Refund Voucher scheme 
 

The Coalville stakeholder meeting suggested that the existing scheme was no longer 
offered by or supported by the majority of businesses in the town centre and therefore 
should be withdrawn. It is proposed to remove signage and formally end this scheme 
from 1 January 2017. 

 
7.1.10 Development of Town/Parish Parking Action Plans 

 
Parking issues in the Parishes vary from parish to parish and include a lack of on-street 
parking, a perceived  lack of enforcement, pavement parking, a lack of village centre 
traffic regulation orders and poor parking behaviours by residents and visitors. It is 
proposed to work with each Town/Parish Council, the County Council and local 
stakeholders to develop an action plan for each Parish area. This will be undertaken on 
a programmed basis starting with meeting all Parishes in 2017/18 and drafting initial 
plans by the end of Quarter 4. 
 
However, work has already started to support Kegworth Parish Council with changes 
around Traffic Regulation Orders in the Market Place and also with Ashby Town 
Council around increasing capacity for short stay parking. 
 

 
8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 As seen at 1.7 the general fund has subsidised the car park service over the past two 

years and the proposed short term actions will increase the subsidy required. The 
financial impact of the proposed short term actions (once all established) is as follows; 
 

Action Estimated Annual 
Financial Impact - 
Revenue 

Estimated One-off  
Capital Costs 

No parking price rises until 2020 £0 N/A 

New Short Stay Car Park for 
Ashby 

£30,000  -£620,000  
(already approved) 

Free After 3pm in Coalville -£50,000 -£5,000 

New ticket machines  -£5,000 -£120,000 

Improved website and signage £0 -£15,000 

New Weekly and monthly tickets 
for Coalville 

£0 N/A 

Limit Brook Street in Ashby to 1 
hour 

£1,000 N/A 

Discontinue the Refund Voucher 
scheme 

£2,000 N/A 

Develop Parish parking action 
plans 

£0 Unknown 

Sub-Total  -£22,000 -£760,000 

  
 



8.2 General Fund revenue implication 
 
The general fund revenue position will be impacted from 1 January 2017 if the 
implementation of the Free after 3pm scheme is supported costing approximately 
£15,000 in 2016/17 which is proposed to be met from 16/17 underspends. The 
estimated annual £50,000 cost thereafter of introducing Free after 3pm will be planned 
for through the 2017/18 budget planning process and the on-going subsidy 
requirement for the car park service noted within the general fund Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 
 It is also hoped that by implementing the positive short term actions they will support 
existing and attract new town centre businesses which in turn will help retain and grow 
business rates which the Council will benefit from. 
 
It should be noted that the combination of short term actions will result in the annual 
cost of car park provision continuing to out weigh the income received and as such car 
parking provision is and will continue to be a subsidised service through the general 
fund. 
 

8.3 Capital provision 
 
The Ashby Health Centre Car Park capital (£620,000) has already been approved by 
Cabinet as part of a report on 14 June 2016. A further capital provision of £120,000 is 
now requested for new ticket machines and £20,000 for operations and a signage 
review and implementation, both elements are proposed to be funded from 
underspends in 2016/17. 
 
Where the authority is required to enter into a contract which has a value of £100,000 
or more, Cabinet authority is sought prior to award of the contract. As Cabinet is 
considering the budgetary implications of the Parking Strategy, it is efficient for 
Cabinet to consider the award of necessary high-value contracts at the same time. 
 
It is therefore recommended that Cabinet consider and approve capital funding for the 
purchase of new ticket machines to facilitate the improvements required for the car 
parking service in a timely manner. The procurement of machines will be through the 
ESPO framework.  
 
Cabinet is also asked to delegate the award of the subsequent contract for the ticket 
machines to the Director of Services in consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 

 
 

9.0 TIMESCALES 
 

9.1 The following timescales are estimated for delivery of proposed actions; 
 

Action Estimated Timescale 

New Short Stay Car Park for Ashby 
 

Procurement to commence December 
2016 with estimated completion Autumn 
2017 

Free After 3pm in Coalville 
 

From 3 January 2017 

Improved website  
 

From 1 January 2017 

Discontinue the Refund Voucher 
scheme 

From 1 January 2017 



Limit Brook Street in Ashby to 1 
hour only  

From 1 April 2017 

Development of Parish Parking 
Action Plans 

From 1 April 2017 

Signage review and implementation In Quarter 1 2017/18 

New ticket machines with potential 
for pay by phone, pay by card and  
contactless options 
 

In Quarter 2 2017/18 
 

New Weekly and monthly tickets for 
Coalville 

From introduction of new machines, as 
above 

No price rises until 2020 
 

Review of prices to commence in 
September 2019 with new prices to come 
into effect in September 2020  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX 1  
 

 

Brook Street Car Park, Ashby de la Zouch 

Hood Park Leisure Centre, Ashby de la Zouch 

North Street Car Park, Ashby de la Zouch 

Hood Park Overspill Car Park, Ashby de la Zouch 

North Street Car Park Extension, Ashby de la Zouch 

South Street Car Park A,  Ashby de la Zouch 

 

Borough Street Car Park, Castle Donington 

Clapgun Street Car Park, Castle Donington 

 

Belvoir Shopping Centre/Bridge Road Car Park, Coalville 

Belvoir Shopping Centre/Needhams Walk Car Park, Coalville 

Belvoir Shopping Centre/Market Hall Car Park, Coalville (part) 

Belvoir Shopping Centre/North Service Road Car Park, Coalville 

James Street Car Park, Coalville 

London Road Car Park, Coalville 

Council Offices Car Park, Whitwick Road, Coalville 

Margaret Street Car Park, Coalville 

 

Gladstone Street Car Park, Ibstock 

High Street Car Park, Ibstock 

 

High Street Car Park, Measham 

Peggs Close Car Park, Measham 

 

Blackfordby Lane Car Park, Moira 

 

The Green Car Park, Thringstone 

 

City of Dan Car Park, Whitwick 

Market Place Car Park, Whitwick 

Silver Street ( Hermitage Leisure Centre) Car Park, Whitwick 

Vicarage Street Car Park, Whitwick 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 





 

WYG Transport Planning 
  
 

WYG Transport Planning part of the WYG Group                                                creative minds safe hands 
 

www.wyg.com 

 

 

North West Leicestershire District Council 

Parking Strategy 
 
 
 

 

WYG 
Executive Park 
Avalon Way 
Anstey 
Leicester 
LE7 7GR 

RT81175-53-2 

 

November 2016 
Copyright © WYG EPT Ltd 2016 

 

APPENDIX 2



 

WYG Transport Planning 
  
 

WYG Transport Planning part of the WYG Group                                                creative minds safe hands 
 

www.wyg.com 

 

 

REPORT CONTROL 

Document: Parking Strategy Stage 2 Parking Strategy Report  

 

Project: North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

Client: North West Leicestershire District Council 

Job Number: A081175-53 

File Origin: N:\Projects\A081175-53 - NWLeics Parking Strategy\reports\NWLDC 

Parking Strategy Phase 2 Report Final.docx 

 

Document Checking: 

Primary Author Steve Boden Initialled: SB 

 

Contributor Rob Holland Initialled: RH 

 

Review By Colin Shields Initialled: CS 

 

Issue Date Status Checked for Issue 

1 21-8-16 Draft V1 CS 

2 24-10-16 Draft V2 CS 

3 18-11-16 Draft V3 CS 

4 25-11-16 Final CS 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

1 
 

Contents 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................... 3 

1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................. 5 

2 POLICY REVIEW ................................................................................................................. 7 

3 COMPARISONS WITH OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES ............................................................ 11 

4 EXISTING CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................... 15 

5 PARKING SURVEY RESULTS ............................................................................................... 39 

6 CONSULTATION ................................................................................................................ 49 

7 FUTURE GROWTH AND CHANGE ........................................................................................ 64 

8 FUTURE PARKING DEMAND FORECASTS ............................................................................ 71 

9 PARKING POLICY AND STRATEGY OPTIONS ....................................................................... 80 

 

Tables 
 

 

Table Contents 
Table 1 – Benchmarking of Local Authority Parking Tariffs ...................................................................... 11 

Table 2 - Coalville Town Centre Car Parks .............................................................................................. 24 

Table 3 - Council Enforced Car Parks - Ashby Town Centre ..................................................................... 29 

Table 4 - Council Managed Car Parks – Other Centres ............................................................................ 32 

Table 5 - Ticket Sales, Coalville (Friday 20 May, 2016) ............................................................................ 34 

Table 6 - Ticket Sales, Coalville (Saturday 21 May, 2016)........................................................................ 34 

Table 7 - Ticket Sales, Ashby (Friday 20 May, 2016) ............................................................................... 35 

Table 8 - Ticket Sales, Ashby (Saturday 21 May, 2016) ........................................................................... 35 

Table 9 – Consultees Usage of Car Parks ............................................................................................... 49 

Table 10 – Stakeholder Attendees ......................................................................................................... 55 

Table 11 – TEMPro Growth Forecasts .................................................................................................... 72 

Table 12 – Existing Parking Demand in Ashby (Typical Saturday) ............................................................ 74 

Table 13 – Forecast Parking Demand in Ashby (2031) ............................................................................ 74 

Table 14 – Existing Parking Demand in Coalville (Typical Saturday) ......................................................... 75 

Table 15 – Forecast Parking Demand in Coalville (2031) ......................................................................... 76 

Table 16 – Potential Parking Policies ...................................................................................................... 80 

Table 17 – Proportions of Disabled Parking Spaces ............................................................................... 116 

Table 18 – Parking Action Plan ............................................................................................................ 125 

 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

2 
 

 
Figures 

Figure 1 – District Study Area 
Figure 2 – Coalville Town Centre car parks 

Figure 3 – Ashby Town Centre car parks 

Figure 4 – Castle Donington car parks 
Figure 5 – Whitwick car parks 

Figure 6 – Measham car parks 
Figure 7 – Ibstock car parks 

Figure 8 - Ticket Sales, Saturday 21 May, 2016 
Figure 9 – Ashby parking survey results 

Figure 10 – Ashby car park occupancy  

Figure 11 – Ashby combined car park occupancy 
Figure 12 - Coalville parking survey results 

Figure 13 - Coalville car park occupancy 
Figure 14 - Coalville combined car park occupancy 

Figure 15 – Castle Donington parking survey results 

Figure 16 – Whitwick parking survey results 
Figure 17 – Measham parking survey results 

Figure 18 – Ibstock parking survey results 
Figure 19 – Castle Donington parking demand forecasts 

Figure 20 – Ibstock parking demand forecasts 
Figure 21 – Measham parking demand forecasts 

Figure 22 – Whitwick parking demand forecasts 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Car Park Audit 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

3 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The requirement for a parking strategy was identified to help North West Leicestershire District Council 

(NWLDC) to support regeneration efforts and manage the pressures associated with growth in the 

District.  

The strategy addresses general issues that relate to parking across the whole District in the period up to 

2031 and also includes specific consideration in the following locations: 

 Ashby de la Zouch 

 Coalville 

 Castle Donington 

 Ibstock 

 Kegworth 

 Measham 

 Whitwick 

There are a wide variety of parking challenges in the District and different solutions are required in 

different locations. The methodology used to carry out this study is as follows: 

 Obtain detailed information of existing parking conditions and record on-site observations; 

 Review relevant planning policy and parking related documents to ensure parking study 

recommendations are in line with current policies; 

 Undertake detailed parking beat surveys of on-street and off-street parking locations in Ashby, 

Coalville, Castle Donington, Measham, Ibstock and Whitwick to record parking occupancy 

information; 

 Consult with relevant stakeholders by holding a series of workshops to understand local 

opinion; 

 Undertake an online parking questionnaire to obtain the views of local people; 

 Estimate future parking demand based on forecast growth in the District; and 

 Taking on board the information gathered above, assess all the potential parking policy options, 

make recommendations and prepare an Action Plan for the period up to 2031. 

Stakeholder consultation and feedback from an online questionnaire revealed concerns relating to the 

amount of parking that is provided, particularly in Ashby, Castle Donington and Kegworth and a number 

of sites for new car parking were suggested. There was some concern that the current parking charges 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

4 
 

were too high, but half of the people thought the charges are reasonable. Issues relating to on-street 

parking were also raised and there was concern about the inadequate parking that has been provided for 

new developments in the District. 

Parking beat surveys were carried out that recorded high levels of on-street and off-street occupancy in 

various locations and forecasts were made about how much worse this problem could become in the 

future. The surveys also revealed that there is an excess of empty parking spaces in Coalville and that 

the space could be used for more productive purposes, even when likely future parking demand is 

included. 

This report assesses the merits of a range of different parking policies and measures and it outlines a 

package of recommendations and an Action Plan that identifies the lead organisation responsible for 

implementation.  

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

5 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 PREAMBLE 

1.1.1 WYG has been commissioned by North West Leicestershire District Council to provide 

support in the preparation of a Parking Strategy for the District. The Council is seeking to 

develop a parking strategy that aligns with other initiatives to promote the use and growth 

of the town centres in the District.  

1.1.2 Parking can be a controversial subject and the attitude towards the provision of parking can 

differ even when the objectives are the same. Parking strategies can play an important role 

in guiding and supporting other policy areas to achieve their objectives. Parking is not an 

objective in itself but it can be either a stimulant or a brake on local economic activity.  

1.1.3 The supply of parking spaces serves various functions; it is a service to the public, residents 

and visitors; it can support businesses to operate and expand; it can support or hinder 

environmental efforts. If a surplus is generated by off-street parking it can be used by local 

authorities to maintain parking facilities or provide funds for other schemes and services.  

1.2 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

1.2.1 NWLDC is a diverse district with a variety of issues and priorities in different locations. 

Regeneration is the top priority in Coalville. The lack of a thriving evening and leisure 

economy in Coalville is also a concern. Measures to attract visitors and shoppers to Coalville 

and encourage them to stay longer are required and changes to parking could support these 

efforts.  

1.2.2 A lack of spare capacity in Ashby car parks is thought to be affecting its attractiveness to 

existing and potential customers and visitors, especially in comparison with the out of town 

retailers that have a large supply of free parking. Potential solutions to these issues include 

the provision of additional parking spaces and better management of the spaces that exist. 

1.2.3 Other towns and villages have issues with parking as well and the strategy addresses these 

concerns. Consultation and surveys have been carried out in order to understand the issues 

and produce a strategy for the smaller centres in the District. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

6 
 

1.2.4 The potential parking policy measures are assessed in relation to their likely impacts on 

factors such as the economy, regeneration efforts, traffic movements, environment, 

conservation and operational impacts. A summary of these impacts is presented for each 

potential policy measure in Section 7.  

1.3 REPORT OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 

1.3.1 The Parking Strategy project is split into two phases: 

 Phase 1 – High level assessment of potential car park strategies aimed at 

promoting growth that could be taken forward to Phase 2 

 Phase 2 – Development of a Car Parking Strategy and Action Plan 

1.3.2 This report presents the Phase 2 Parking Strategy. 

1.4 REPORT FORMAT 

1.4.1 The structure of this report is as follows: 

 Section 2 sets out the policy framework for the parking strategy; 

 Section 3 presents a comparison of the existing strategy with other local 

authorities; 

 Section 4 describes existing conditions; 

 Section 5 presents the results of parking surveys; 

 Section 6 reports the findings of the public and stakeholders consultation 

exercises; 

 Section 7 assesses the proposed and likely changes that are likely to affect the 

supply and demand for parking in the District; 

 Section 8 quantifies the demand for parking space in the future;  

 Section 9 is an assessment of each element of the proposed strategy with a 

recommended approach for each policy and the Action Plan. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

7 
 

2 POLICY REVIEW 

2.1 PARKING POLICY BACKGROUND 

2.1.1 Where the parking provision does not take account of all of the complex factors that 

influence economic activity it can become out of step with the needs of the town or village 

centre. The parking strategy may not be adequately meeting the needs of the town and this 

can lead to an under or over supply of parking spaces. In this case a change of strategy is 

required. 

2.1.2 There is a direct link between the supply and cost of parking with other sustainable 

transport initiatives and the outcome can conflict with economic growth. So, if the overall 

cost of travel by car is reduced by reducing parking costs it may boost the local economy 

but also may lead to more reliance on the private car and more traffic congestion. It seems 

likely that town centre traffic congestion in Coalville is a lower priority than it is in Ashby so 

measures that boost the economy but lead to an increase in traffic could gain more support 

than they might in Ashby.  

2.1.3 The revenue implications of parking provision are less straightforward than simple income 

versus operational costs. The devolution of funding responsibility that was contained in the 

Local Government Finance Act 2012, and which is forecast to increase in scale in the future, 

means that the economic health of a town centre will affect overall income to the local 

authority through the collection of business rates. Therefore, lower parking charges that 

lead to a reduction in revenue income from parking operations could actually lead to a net 

increase in income to the authority if more business rates are collected from successful town 

centre businesses.  

2.1.4 Parking standards for new development is also a key issue to be considered within the 

parking strategy. Local and national policy is in place that provides the framework for 

decisions about the levels of public and private parking to be provided by new 

developments. 

2.1.5 This report has been prepared with reference to relevant planning and transport policy and 

reports. The following documents provide information relating the policy framework for the 

parking strategy and future growth in the District.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

8 
 

2.2 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 

2.2.1 This Parking Strategy will be undertaken in accordance with paragraph 40 of the NPPF 

which states: 

“Local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking in town centres so that it is 

convenient, safe and secure, including appropriate provision for motorcycles. They should 

set appropriate parking charges that do not undermine the vitality of town centres. Parking 

enforcement should be proportionate.” 

2.3 PARKING STRATEGIES AND MANAGEMENT (CIHT) 

2.3.1 The above document was prepared by the Institution of Highways and Transportation 

(CIHT) to provide guidance on policy context; objectives and measures; and implementation 

for preparing parking strategies. The guidance will be used to inform preparation of the 

Parking Strategy.  

2.4 NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE LOCAL PLAN  

2.4.1 The current Local Plan of the planning strategy for the District covered the period 1991 to 

2006 and updated in 2004 and 2005. A new Draft Plan 2015 is currently being progressed 

for the period up to 2031.  

2.4.2 North West Leicestershire forms part of the Leicester & Leicestershire Housing Market Area 

(HMA), which identified there was an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for 5,700 to 7,000 

new dwellings in the District by 2031. NWLDC have identified there is a need to have regard 

to other evidence before identifying a housing requirement so the Draft Local Plan proposes 

to make provision for 10,700 dwellings between 2011 and 2031, a 26% increase in the 

District as a whole. 

2.4.3 Growth identified in the Draft Local Plan and the parking implications of this growth are 

discussed in detail in Section 5. 

2.4.4 A publication version of the Draft Local Plan was made available in June 2016 and this 

makes specific reference to parking in relation to new developments. Policy IF7 states that: 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

9 
 

“Development should incorporate adequate parking provision for vehicles and cycles in order 

to avoid highway safety problems and to minimise the impact upon the local environment 

and should be designed so that it is an integral part of the development and does not 

dominate the public realm”. 

2.4.5 The promotion of cycling is enhanced through the provision of secure cycle parking as an 

integral part of new development.  

2.4.6 Parking standards for vehicles and bicycles will need to have regard to local highway and 

parking conditions and use the most up-to-date 6C’s Design Guidance to specify the amount 

of parking to be provided. Parking standards should only be reduced where there is good 

access to other modes of transport.  

2.4.7 The supporting text highlights the following issue: 

“Given the car ownership levels in the district as well as the low level of public transport and 

instances in the past where new developments have been dominated by cars parked on 

roads, due to the lack of off-street parking, the Council wish to ensure that new 

development creates attractive places to live and work and is not dominated by parked cars. 

Therefore, to ensure that car parking provision is adequate the provision of 2 car parking 

spaces per dwelling, increasing to 3 spaces per dwelling for four or more bed properties will 

be appropriate in many instances.” 

2.5 REGENERATION AND NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS 

2.5.1 Coalville has had various regeneration strategies over the years and the current initiatives 

are the Building Confidence in Coalville programme (also known as the ‘Coalville Project’). 

This includes the Car Parking Strategy itself plus various other workstreams that relate to 

the car parking strategy, including the ‘Four Squares’ regeneration plan and a feasibility 

study for the potential development of the London Road car park. 

2.5.2 The Pre-submission Draft of the Ashby Local Neighbourhood Plan 2016-31 has recently been 

consulted on by the Town Council which includes a target of 1,434 new homes for the town. 

This number has been established on a pro-rata split of the 10,700 allocation for the district 

as a whole.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

10 
 

2.6 NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN 

2.6.1 The Infrastructure Plan includes references to car parks and it recognises that the 

recommendations of the Parking Strategy will affect the infrastructure requirements in the 

future. The Parking Strategy is consistent with the Infrastructure Plan and they need to be 

read in conjunction. 

2.7 LEICESTERSHIRE LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 3 (LTP3) 

2.7.1 LTP3 provides a long term strategy for transport in Leicestershire during the period to 2026 

with emphasis on encouraging sustainable travel. In terms of parking, LTP3 specifically 

identifies that: 

“Further consideration will also be required as to the role of car parking provision, especially 

its location and charges, in both the context of managing car use for journeys and attracting 

the levels of inward investment that will enable growth.” 

2.7.2 LTP3 also indicates that LCC will continue to develop and refine its approach to on-street 

parking provision. In the long term, it indicates that consideration will be given to 

introducing on-street parking charges in county towns and larger urban areas. 

2.8 LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (LLEP) 

2.8.1 The LLEP Priority Projects and Programme includes the Market Town Regeneration 

Programme that aims to arrest the downward trend in the County’s market town economies. 

Funds have been provided for the Town Centre Regeneration Programme and both Ashby 

and Coalville are included in the programme.  

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

11 
 

3 COMPARISONS WITH OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

3.1 PARKING TARIFFS 

3.1.1 Car park pricing policy can be very competitive between different local authorities and 

between public and private operators in the same location. The current NWLDC parking 

tariffs were introduced in 2008 and have only been increased by 10p or 20p since 2004. The 

charges have been benchmarked against comparable towns and districts and shown in 

Table 1. The red, amber and green coloured boxes show where parking charges are 

greater, the same or lower than the current NWLDC charges. 

Table 1 – Benchmarking of Local Authority Parking Tariffs 

Local Authority 

Town Centre Weekday Parking Charge 

<1 hr <2 hrs <3 hrs <4 hrs <5 hrs 
Long 

stay 

NWLDC (Coalville and Ashby) 50p 80p £1.20   £2 

East 

Staffordshire 

Burton £1.00 £1.00 £1.80 
£2.20 - 

£4.40 
 £4.40 

Uttoxeter £1.00 £1.00 £1.50 £2.80  £5.50 

South Derbyshire Free parking, with time limits in 3 car parks 

Broxtowe Free £1.00 £1.50   £2.00 

Oadby and Wigston Free Free Free   £3.00 

Charnwood 
Loughboro’ 60p £1.60 £2.20 £3.20 £4.90 £6.00 

Browns Lane £1.10 £3.20     

Blaby Free Free 20p £1.50  £4.50 

Market Harborough 70p 70p £1.20 £1.70  £3.20 

Hinckley and 

Bosworth 

Short Stay 50p £1.00 £1.50 £2.60  £4.80 

Long Stay     £1.30 £2.40 

Melton 
Short Stay 70p £1.40 £2.00    

Long Stay 70p £1.10  £2.20  £3.30 

Ashfield Free 60p £1.50 £1.50 £2.00 £2.00 

Erewash 
Free £1.00 £1.50   £3.00 

 80p    £1.00 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

12 
 

3.1.2 Table 1 shows that NWLDC parking charges are at the lower end of the range of parking 

tariffs amongst its neighbouring comparator local authorities. There are many different tariff 

structures in place so a direct comparison is not always possible, but the charges for <1 

hour and <2 hours are 50p and 80p in NWLDC car parks while in other authorities they 

range from Free to £1.10 for <1 hour and most are between 60p to £1.60 for <2 hours. In 

summary: 

 East Staffordshire, Charnwood and Melton Districts have consistently higher tariffs. 

 Ashfield, Broxtowe, Erewash, Harborough and Hinckley and Bosworth have similar 

tariffs to NWLDC (Ashfield, Broxtowe and Erewash are all free for the first hour) 

 Oadby, Blaby and South Derbyshire have lower parking tariffs and all offer free 

short stay parking   

3.2 CASE STUDIES AND EVIDENCE FROM OTHER AUTHORITIES 

3.2.1 A successful Parking Strategy is one that supports other initiatives to achieve the objectives 

of a local authority, stakeholders and the public. Parking strategies can have an impact in 

isolation but they are far more effective when used in parallel with other interventions. Free 

parking may seem like an effective way to increase use and boost the local economy, but 

there are many other factors to consider.  

3.2.2 The British Parking Association carried out a user survey and ranked the top 10 factors that 

dictate a driver’s choice of car park: 

 Location 

 Personal safety 

 Safe environment 

 Tariffs 

 Ease of access 

 Congestion / queues 

 Number of spaces 

 Effective surveillance 

 Size of parking spaces 

 Appropriate lighting 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

13 
 

3.2.3 All of these factors have been considered as part of a revised parking strategy but at this 

stage the study has focussed on those factors that are most directly related to supporting 

the regeneration efforts in the District. The factors related to safety and security need to be 

as high quality as possible but they have a limited impact on decisions about location, size 

and cost of parking which have a closer relationship with the town centre economy. 

3.2.4 The provision of parking has an opportunity cost, i.e. the cost of the alternative land use 

that has been foregone in favour of parking. Unused car parking spaces do not just have a 

zero or low maintenance cost, it also includes the opportunity cost of what could be built or 

provided on that site. 

3.3 RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN PARKING AND THE TOWN CENTRE ECONOMY 

3.3.1 Town centre economic prosperity is driven by a wide range of factors that are interlinked in 

many complex ways. Population and demographics, the health of the local and regional 

economies, the size of the centre and its retail and leisure offer and the proximity of 

competing centres are just a few of the many important factors. 

3.3.2 Town centres can be considered to be an ecosystem where retail is an important element 

but it may not be the most important. Many town centres have seen a reduction in the 

number of shopping outlets but the most successful towns have found a way to respond to 

this change by tapping into new sources of income. 

3.3.3 Accessibility and transport options to a town centre are just one factor that users consider in 

their decision making about where to shop and the price and availability of parking is just 

one element of the whole travel experience. The link between parking and prosperity is 

difficult to isolate from amongst all these other factors and there is not much quantitative 

evidence beyond the anecdotal.  

3.3.4 The Association of Town and City Management and the British Parking Association produced 

guidance on parking provision called ‘Re-Think! Parking on the High Street’. This showed 

that there is a clear link between the number of parking spaces and town centre footfall but 

the report warns against the conclusion that the provision of more spaces causes increased 

footfall. The report shows the link between the cost of parking and town centre footfall is 

less obvious and linear, suggesting that other factors are at work. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

14 
 

3.3.5 A major study was produced for the Welsh Government in 2015 titled ‘Assessing the Impact 

of Car Parking Charges on Town Centre Footfall’. Although most of the examples in the 

study are from Wales, the results and principles are still applicable to England and North 

West Leicestershire. The key findings of the study were: 

 There is a lack of robust evidence to link car park strategies with town centre 

footfall. It is difficult to separate the impacts of parking charges from all the other 

factors in a robust and convincing way; 

 Businesses and workers are convinced that parking charges have an impact on the 

number of people coming to town centres, but there is little published evidence to 

support this assertion beyond the anecdotal. There is a relationship, but it may be 

weaker than expected; 

 Town centre visitors do take account of parking charges and the availability of 

spaces, but they are just two of many other transport and non-transport factors; 

 Free parking was often found to not benefit target visitors but was used by town 

centre workers rather than shoppers and it had little impact on footfall; and 

 Town centre economies are highly localised and very specific to local conditions (the 

towns in North West Leicestershire are clear examples of this) and town centre 

strategies should be tailored to local areas to maximise footfall. 

3.3.6 Studies and reports by business organisations such as the Federation of Small Businesses 

often link town centre vitality with parking charges, but provide little hard evidence to prove 

the link. Sustrans research found that traders over estimate the amount of income from car 

users and under estimate the importance of pedestrians. 

 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

15 
 

4 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

4.1.1 North West Leicestershire District (NWLD) covers an area of approximately 108 square miles  

and has a population of approximately 95,000 (2014).  

4.1.2 The district includes the key towns of Coalville and Ashby-de-la-Zouch (Ashby) plus smaller 

centres such as Castle Donington, Measham, Kegworth and Ibstock. The study area, along 

with identification of key towns and transport routes is shown on Figure 1. 

Figure 1 – North West Leicestershire District 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

16 
 

4.1.3 Major road links within the district include the A511, linking Burton-upon-Trent to M1 J22 

and the A42, which links M1 J23A with Birmingham. The two major roads meet at a grade 

separated junction to the east of Ashby. 

4.1.4 The district has a long history of mineral extraction, which includes brick making, gravel and 

coal mining. However, all of the deep coal mines have now closed. East Midlands Airport is a 

major employer and transport hub situated in the northern section of the district. 

4.1.5 Along with the airport hub and its surrounding distribution, logistics and hotel employers, 

other major employers in the area include Aggregate Industries HQ in Bardon and the 

Bardon Hill Industrial Estate to the east of Coalville and United Biscuits in Ashby. 

4.2 COALVILLE 

4.2.1 In 2011, Coalville had a population of 12,686 (2011 Census), with the Coalville urban area 

housing a population of 33,011, making it the largest town in NWLD. The town is situated in 

the southern section of the district, approximately 11 miles North West of Leicester.  

ECONOMY 

4.2.2 The town has suffered greatly from the closure of the deep coal mines and the majority of 

the business sector now focuses around the service industry. The Belvoir Shopping Centre is 

the town’s main retail area constructed in the 1960’s/70’s, which is home to stores including 

Argos, Wilkinsons and Home Bargains. Despite its position in the centre of the town, the 

shopping centre has suffered a decline in footfall in recent years and up to 1/3rd of shops 

are now vacant. 

4.2.3 Coalville has a market located in the Market Hall to the east of the Belvoir Shopping Centre 

which trades on Tuesday, Friday and Saturday. The majority of trading at the market occurs 

on Fridays. 

4.2.4 Industrial and business centres are present to the north of the town centre, off the A511 

which provides good east-west links to the strategic road network. The areas include large 

supermarkets Morrisons and Aldi, amongst numerous industrial units. 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

17 
 

TRANSPORT 

4.2.5 The A511 by-passes the town to the north, directing through traffic around the town centre. 

The main routes into and out of Coalville include Ashby Road, Belvoir Road, High Street and 

Thornborough Road. 

4.2.6 A number of bus routes serve Coalville, mainly run by Arriva Midlands and include routes to 

and from Leicester, Loughborough, Burton-upon-Trent, Hinckley and East Midlands Airport. 

The closest railway station is in Loughborough, approximately 8 miles to the North East of 

Coalville. 

4.2.7 Traffic congestion is not a major issue in the town centre although the A511 can get 

congested at busy times. 

4.3 ASHBY 

4.3.1 With a population of approximately 12,530 (2011 census), Ashby is the second largest town 

in the district and it’s town centre is situated approximately 7 miles west of Coalville. The 

town currently accommodates approximately 5,422 homes. 

ECONOMY 

4.3.2 The main industrial areas / business centres in Ashby are located to the north and east of 

the town, close to the A511 and A42. United Biscuits and KP Snacks are the largest 

employers in the town at their factory and distribution centre. A large Tesco Extra store is 

also located close to this junction.  

4.3.3 The town centre is relatively successful and the proportion of vacant shop units is low. 

Unlike Coalville, Ashby has a lively night time economy, with a number of restaurants, pubs 

and nightclubs, most notably on Market Street. The town council hold a number of local 

events, on weekends and evenings, which attracts interest from residents and local visitors. 

TRANSPORT 

4.3.4 The town is situated to the west of the A511 / A42 grade separated junction. The A511 and 

A42 bypass the town to the north and the south respectively and the main routes into Ashby 

are from Nottingham Road, Measham Road, Moira Road and The Callis, from the east, 

south, west and north respectively. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

18 
 

4.3.5 Arriva Midlands bus services provide trips between Coalville and Burton-upon-Trent and 

National Express Coach services link the town with links to Leicester and London. The 

nearest train station is Burton-Upon-Trent, approximately 8 miles to the west of Ashby. 

4.3.6 There is some traffic congestion in the town centre, especially between the A511 and 

Market Street. The town centre roads are not particularly suitable to carry large volumes of 

traffic. 

4.4 CASTLE DONINGTON 

4.4.1 Castle Donington is a large village of approximately 6,400 inhabitants lying to the north of 

the district approximately a mile to the north of East Midlands Airport. 

ECONOMY 

4.4.2 Major business and employment sites are located in the vicinity of the Airport to the south 

of the village and adjacent Pegasus Business Park further to the south-east around Junction 

23A of the M1. In addition to providing employment associated with the passenger side 

operations, the Airport is a major logistics and warehousing centre.  

4.4.3 Approximately one mile to the north of the village is the East Midlands Distribution Centre 

on land formerly occupied by the Castle Donington Power Station. Companies located on the 

site include a mix of light industrial manufacturing and a major logistics warehouse occupied 

by Marks & Spencer. 

4.4.4 Donington Park race course is located approximately one mile to the south of the village, 

holding regular motor racing meetings and other major events including Download Festival 

and various concerts and exhibitions throughout the year.  

4.4.5 There are a mix of shops, services and restaurants / bars located along Market Street in the 

village centre including a Cooperative foodstore, Post Office and branch banking facilities.  

TRANSPORT 

4.4.6 The village is located approximately 4 miles from Junction 23A of the M1 to the south-east 

and 1.5 miles south of the A50 Derby Southern Bypass to the north. In both cases local 

access is provided by way of grade separated connections to each of the routes providing 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

19 
 

excellent highway connections to the north and south via the M1, the west via the A50 and 

south-west via the A42. 

4.4.7 The nearest railway station is located at Long Eaton on the Midland Mainline approximately 

4.5 miles to the north-east accessed via the B6450 Trent Lane. A second (more frequently 

served) access to the rail network is provided by way of the East Midlands Parkway station 

located approximately 6 miles to the east. Existing passenger services operating out of both 

stations provide frequent connections to destinations including Derby, Leicester and 

Nottingham within the region and Sheffield and London further beyond. 

4.4.8 The village is well served by existing bus services, notably the Skylink routes operated by 

Kinch / Trent Barton that provide minimum twenty minute frequency daytime services to 

key destinations including East Midlands Airport / Pegasus Business Park, Derby, 

Nottingham, Loughborough, Leicester and Long Eaton station. There is a twice hourly 

daytime link to Coalville provided by way of an extended Skylink service plus the Coalville 

Airlink operated by Roberts Coaches. 

4.5 IBSTOCK 

4.5.1 Ibstock is a village located approximately 2.5 miles to the south-west of Coalville. The 

current population of the parish is approximately 5,700. 

ECONOMY 

4.5.2 Ibstock Brick Limited located on a site to the north-east of the village is a major 

manufacturer of building products. Additional limited light industrial units are located on 

Spring Road to the east of the village centre. 

4.5.3 There are a number of shops and services located within the village centre including a 

sizeable Co-operative foodstore, secondary school and various small retail businesses, fast 

food restaurants and public houses primarily located along the High Street.  

TRANSPORT 

4.5.4 The village lies along the A447 that connects to the A511 adjacent to the west of Coalville 

approximately 3 miles to the north and to the A47 on the northern side of Hinckley 

approximately 10 miles to the south. Additional routes into and out of the village to the east 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

20 
 

and west are provided by way of Leicester Road and Pisca Lane that connect to the A511 at 

Bardon and the A42 just west of Packington approximately 6 miles to the west respectively.  

4.5.5 There are two existing bus routes operating services in the village: Arriva Midlands that 

operates the number 15 service connecting to Coalville every twenty minutes during the 

daytime and the 159 operated by Robert’s Coaches that provides an hourly service to 

Coalville to the north and to Hinckley via outlying settlements including Market Bosworth, 

Newbold Verdon and Barwell to the south. 

4.6 MEASHAM 

4.6.1 Measham is a large village located in the south-west of the district, approximately 4.5 miles 

south-west of Ashby and 8 miles west of Coalville. The village population is c. 5,200. 

ECONOMY 

4.6.2 There are a number of industrial and major retail premises around the village including the 

Hanson brickworks located to the south-east of the village on Atherstone Road, the 

Westman Industrial Estate approximately one mile to the west of the village centre and the 

British Car Auctions and DFS site approximately one mile to the south. Bloor Homes head 

office is located on the north side of the village centre, accessed off of the Ashby Road. 

4.6.3 There are a limited number of retail and service facilities located within the village centre 

including a local Tesco foodstore, Post Office, local medical facilities and a number of public 

houses / restaurants and fast food outlets.  

TRANSPORT 

4.6.4 The village lies adjacent to the eastern side of the A42 although the closest access to it is 

provided via junction 12 approximately one mile to the north and junction 11 two miles to 

the south. Measham Road provides access to the A444 located approximately 2 miles to the 

west. In turn, the A444 provides onward connections towards Swadlincote and Burton upon 

Trent approximately 9 miles to the north-west and to the A5 and Nuneaton approximately 

15 miles to the south. 

4.6.5 Two existing bus routes operate in the village: service 19 operated by Midland Classic that 

provides an hourly daytime service to destinations including Ashby, Swadlincote and Burton 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

21 
 

upon Trent and service 7 operated by Robert’s Coaches that operates on a two-hourly 

frequency throughout the day to Atherstone and Fenny Drayton via outlying villages in west 

Leicestershire. 

4.7 WHITWICK 

4.7.1 Whitwick is a large village of approximately 8,600 inhabitants located in the south-east of 

the district approximately 2 miles north-east of Coalville town centre.  

ECONOMY 

4.7.2 The village is mainly residential with the main employment opportunities located in Coalville 

and beyond. Midland Quarry Products is the largest employer and is located to the east of 

the village and small businesses are located on Church Lane. 

TRANSPORT 

4.7.3 The main highway access is provided by way of Hermitage Road that connects into the 

A511 approximately one mile to the south-west. The A511 in turn provides connections to 

both Coalville and Ashby within the district and more distant key settlements including 

Leicester approximately 13 miles to the south-east and Burton upon Trent approximately 16 

miles to the north-west. 

4.7.4 Additional locally important highway connections are provided by way of North Street / 

Talbot Street through the village centre that links into the A512 Loughborough Road 

approximately 2 miles to the north through Thringstone. 

4.7.5 Bus services are provided through the village travelling from Coalville to Leicester and 

Loughborough. Service 29A provides a daytime frequency of 30 minutes to Coalville and 

Leicester and service 16 is hourly to Shepshed and Loughborough. The Skylink service 

travels along Thornborough Road to the west of the village and there is an occasional local 

service to Coalville, W3, provided by Coalville Yellow Cabs. 

4.8 KEGWORTH 

4.8.1 Kegworth is a large village of approximately 3,600 inhabitants located in the north-east 

corner of the district, approximately 1 mile to the east of the M1 and East Midlands Airport.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

22 
 

ECONOMY 

4.8.2 There are major employers to the north-west of the town that benefit from easy access to 

the M1 and other strategic road links as well as the Airport. These include the Cott 

Beverages factory and Hotel / Conference Centre on the A6.  There is a lively village centre 

that contains shops, food and drink, services and some business employers.  

TRANSPORT 

4.8.3 Kegworth is well located in terms of access to the strategic road network because it lies on 

the A6 north of Loughborough and has easy access to the M1, A50, A42 and A453 via the 

M1 junction 24. However, the A6 runs through the centre of the village which carries high 

traffic flows and heavy goods vehicles. 

4.8.4 Access to the rest of NWL District is not so good because of the location of the village at the 

edge of the District. Kegworth has more direct connections with other towns and districts 

such as Loughborough and Nottingham than it does with most of NWL, although it does 

have good access to the Airport and Castle Donington. 

4.8.5 The main bus service in Kegworth is the Skylink between Loughborough and East Midlands 

Airport that operates two buses per hour in the daytime and runs 24 hours a day. There is 

also an occasional service to Clifton and Sutton Bonington. 

4.9 PARKING IN COALVILLE 

4.9.1 There are a number of council and privately operated car parks within the town centre and 

their location is highlighted in Figure 2 along with the Belvoir Shopping Centre and the 

Market Hall. 

4.9.2 The car parks in Coalville town centre are mainly operated by the Council, the main 

exception being the Co-op car park off Bridge Road. This is beneficial because a parking 

strategy can be applied across the whole town, unlike in many towns where parking is 

provided by private operators and the tariffs and conditions vary and the impact of the 

strategy is diluted.  Blue Badge holders have unrestricted free parking on all car parks 

operated by the District Council. 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

23 
 

Figure 2 – Coalville Town Centre Car Parks 

 

4.9.3 Table 2 sets out the characteristics of the council operated car parks in Coalville town 

centre.  

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

24 
 

Table 2 - Coalville Town Centre Car Parks 

Car Park Owner 

Number of Parking 
Spaces 

Length of 
Permitted Stay        

(>3 hrs) Standard Disabled 

Market Hall Council 175 13 
Short & Long        

(90 free spaces) 

Bridge Road Council 233 8 Long 

Needham’s Walk Council 106 2 Short 

Co-op  Co-op 126 13 Short 

North Service Road Council 74 0 Long 

London Road Council 86 3 Long 

Council Offices Council 158 4 Long 

Margaret Street Council 38 5 Short 

LCC Library 
County 
Council 

15 1 Long 

James Street Council 54 4 Long 

4.9.4 An audit of all the public car parks in the District has been undertaken (see Appendix A) 

MARKET HALL CAR PARK 

4.9.5 The Market Hall Car Park is located adjacent to the Market Hall and it has 188 spaces 

including 13 disabled bays. There is an area of the car park containing 90 spaces where 

parking is free and not time restricted. The remaining spaces are restricted to a maximum 

stay of three hours and parking charges apply to these spaces. Observations confirm that 

the car park is busy and practically full at busy times with a high turnover of vehicles. The 

car park provides easy access to the Market Hall and the Belvoir Centre.  

4.9.6 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has most of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and they are in a good condition. The only facilities that 

could be added are CCTV and cycle parking. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

25 
 

 

BRIDGE ROAD CAR PARK 

4.9.7 Bridge Road Car Park is adjacent to the Market Hall Car Park and users can drive between 

the two. It has 233 spaces and 8 disabled bays. The car park charges apply from 08:00 – 

17:00 Monday to Saturday and the tariff is long stay. Spaces are generally available at any 

time of the day in the Bridge Road Car Park. 

4.9.8 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has some of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and it is in a reasonable condition.  

 

NEEDHAM’S WALK CAR PARK 

4.9.9 Needham’s Walk Car Park is located adjacent to the south of the Belvoir Centre and it offers 

parking for up to 108 spaces, plus two disabled bays. The parking tariff is short stay, with 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

26 
 

parking available for up to three hours only. Usual parking conditions suggest the car park 

reaches approximately half capacity. 

4.9.10 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has some of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and it is in a reasonable condition.  

NORTH SERVICE ROAD CAR PARK 

4.9.11 North Service Road Car Park is located adjacent to High Street, to the north of The Belvoir 

Shopping Centre and parking conditions suggest the car park is close to capacity at busy 

times of day. The car park provides parking for 74 spaces and time limit restrictions do not 

apply, with charges applying from 08:00 – 17:00, Monday to Saturday. The car park 

provides quick and easy access into the Belvoir Shopping Centre. 

4.9.12 The audit of the car park shows that the car park is missing many of the facilities that would 

be expected in a town centre car park and it is quite a low quality environment. Pedestrian 

access is poor with no footways or signs and there is no disabled parking.  

LONDON ROAD CAR PARK 

4.9.13 London Road Car Park is a long stay car park, located adjacent to London Road, providing 

parking for up to 86 vehicles, plus three disabled bays. Usual parking conditions suggest the 

car park is almost full on weekdays due to staff parking. It has been noted that local 

residents park in the car park in the evening and overnight. Council staff members receive 

parking permits and they are valid in the London Road car park and the Council Offices car 

park. Other visitors to the Council offices receive 30 minutes free parking.  

4.9.14 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has some of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and they are in a reasonable condition. The facilities that 

could be added are some pedestrian signs, waste bin, CCTV and cycle parking. 

COUNCIL OFFICES CAR PARK 

4.9.15 The Council Offices Car Park has 158 parking spaces, plus four disabled spaces. It is located 

adjacent to London Road Car Park and accessed off Whitwick Road. The car park offers long 

stay parking and generally has a high level of occupancy, although many Council officers 

with parking permits park here so analysis of ticket sales alone may not provide a complete 

assessment of how the car park is used.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

27 
 

4.9.16 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has some of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and they are in a reasonable condition. The facilities that 

could be added are some pedestrian signs, waste bin, motorcycle parking and CCTV. 

MARGARET STREET CAR PARK 

4.9.17 Margaret Street Car Park is a small short stay car park with space for up to 39 vehicles, plus 

five disabled bays. Parking is restricted to a maximum of three hours with charges applying 

from 08:00 to 17:00, Monday to Saturday. The car park is busy during the daytime with a 

high turnover of vehicles. 

4.9.18 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has most of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and they are in a good condition. The only facilities that 

could be added are pedestrian signs and CCTV. 

LCC LIBRARY CAR PARK 

4.9.19 The Library Car Park is Leicestershire County Council owned; however charging is enforced 

by NWLDC. The car park has space for 15 vehicles and offers long stay parking; 

observations indicate that the car park is busy during the daytime, with a high turnover of 

vehicles and ticket sales compared with the average.  

4.9.20 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has few of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park. The car park is only small but it could benefit from 

some additional facilities. 

JAMES STREET CAR PARK 

4.9.21 James Street Car Park is located to the south west of the town centre and it provides spaces 

for up to 54 vehicles, plus four disabled spaces. The car park offers long stay parking and 

the car park reaches approximately half capacity in the daytime.  

4.9.22 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has most of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and it is in a good condition. Pedestrian access is not 

ideal but that is due to the level difference between the car park and footway. The only 

facilities that could be added are signs for drivers and pedestrians, CCTV and cycle parking. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

28 
 

4.10 PARKING IN ASHBY 

4.10.1 Figure 3 shows the car parks in Ashby town centre and Table 3 describes the 

characteristics of each car park. 

Figure 3 – Ashby Town Centre Car Parks 

 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

29 
 

Table 3 - Council Enforced Car Parks - Ashby Town Centre 

Car Park Owner 

Number of Parking 
Spaces Long/Short 

Stay 

Standard Disabled 

South Street Council 55 2 Long 

North Street 
(Inc Extension) 

Council 71 5 Mainly Short 

LCC Library Council 29 1 Short 

Hood Park 
Leisure Centre 
(Inc Extension) 

Council 90 3 Combination 

Royal Hotel Private 100 0 Long 

Brook Street Council 10 1 Short 

SOUTH STREET 

4.10.2 South Street Car Park is located to the south of the town centre and accommodates up to 

55 vehicles, plus two disabled spaces. The car park is known to be very busy at all times 

and is thought to be popular for long stay commuter parking. 

4.10.3 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has many of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and is in a very good condition (due to the recent 

resurfacing work and new equipment that has been installed). The main things that could 

be added to the car park would be some cycle and motorcycle parking spaces. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

30 
 

 

NORTH STREET (INCLUDING LIBRARY AND EXTENSION) 

4.10.4 North Street Car Park (including extension) is located to the north of the town centre off 

North Street, and accommodates parking for up to 71 vehicles, plus five disabled spaces. 

The car park accommodates mainly short stay parking, and is busy at all times, with a high 

turnover of vehicles. 

4.10.5 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has many of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park and is in a reasonable condition. The main things that 

could be added to the car park would be some cycle and motorcycle parking spaces. 

THE HOOD PARK LEISURE CENTRE  

4.10.6 The Hood Park Leisure Centre Car Park has a combined capacity of 90 spaces, plus three 

disabled spaces. The car park has short stay and long stay tariffs and is used by Leisure 

Centre users and visitors to the town centre. 

4.10.7 Parking is free for users of the Leisure Centre for up to three hours if they submit their 

vehicle registration number at reception.  

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

31 
 

BROOK STREET 

4.10.8 Brook Street Car Park is a small set of parking spaces off Brook Street in the centre of the 

town. The area has capacity for 11 vehicles, and is busy at all times, with a high turnover of 

vehicles. The condition audit shows that the facilities are limited in this very small car park. 

 

THE ROYAL HOTEL 

4.10.9 The Royal Hotel Car Park is privately owned, however similarly to the LCC Library Car Park, 

parking charges are enforced by NWLDC. The car park has capacity for approximately 100 

vehicles and is a long stay car park. The car park operates at medium capacity and is mainly 

used by the hotel guests and staff. 

4.10.10 The audit of the car park shows that the car park has some of the facilities that would be 

expected in a town centre car park but is in a poor and unattractive condition, particularly in 

relation to the car park surface that is unmarked, uneven and consists of loose chippings. 

This makes it more difficult for pedestrians and drivers. The car park would benefit from 

some signs for drivers and pedestrians, disabled parking spaces and CCTV. 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

32 
 

4.11 OTHER KEY CENTRES AND CAR PARKS 

4.11.1 There are a number of smaller centres in North West Leicestershire District that have council 

operated car parking provision. These car parks are all free of charge. 

4.11.2 The additional car parks located outside of Coalville and Ashby are listed in Table 3 and 

presented in Figures 4 to 7. Two of the car parks are adjoining private car parks that are 

not owned and operated by the Council, although they are open to the public. Hillside car 

park in Castle Donington is leased to the Parish Council by the Catholic Church, it is open to 

the public and enforcement is carried out by NWLDC under contract to the Parish Council. 

These car parks have been considered as part of the Parking Strategy.  

Table 4 - Council Managed Car Parks – Other Centres 

Location Car Park Names 
No. of Parking 

spaces 

Castle Donington Borough Street 30 (plus 18 private) 

Castle Donington Clapgun Street 34 

Castle Donington Hillside 15 

Hugglescote Station Road 20  

Ibstock Gladstone Street 22 

Ibstock High Street 74 

Measham High Street 50 

Measham Peggs Close 20 (plus 60 private) 

Blackfordby Moira Blackfordby Lane 9 

Thringstone The Green 10 

Whitwick Silver Street 145 

Whitwick Vicarage Street 29 

Whitwick City of Dan 16 

Whitwick Market Place 6 

Kegworth 
No formal off-street car parks but there is an on-

street parking area at The Croft 

 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

33 
 

Figures 4 to 7 – Castle Donington, Measham, Whitwick and Ibstock Public Car Parks 

 

 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

34 
 

4.12 CAR PARK TICKET SALES 

4.12.1 The Council keeps a record of car park ticket sales at each of the car parks where charges 

apply. Tables 5 to 8 show summaries of ticket sales in Coalville and Ashby on a typical 

Friday and Saturday in May 2016.  

Table 5 - Ticket Sales, Coalville (Friday 20 May, 2016) 

 Tariff 50p   80p £1.20 £2.00 

TOTAL 1 Hour 2 Hour 3 Hours All Day 

Market Hall 175 97 20 0 292 

Bridge Road 118 82 23 17 240 

Needhams Walk 159 113 28 0 300 

North Service Rd 207 67 16 35 325 

London Road 30 3 12 7 52 

Council Offices  16 15 3 6 40 

James Street 69 33 17 14 133 

LCC Library 33 19 10 3 65 

Margaret Street 149 78 29 0 256 

TOTAL 956 507 158 82 1703 

 

Table 6 - Ticket Sales, Coalville (Saturday 21 May, 2016) 

 Tariff 50p   80p £1.20 £2.00 

TOTAL 1 Hour 2 Hour 3 Hours All Day 

Market Hall 154 121 15 0 290 

Bridge Road 163 113 23 20 319 

Needhams Walk 145 95 22 0 262 

North Service Rd 251 107 14 21 393 

London Road 34 19 1 6 60 

Council Offices  117 109 73 19 318 

James Street 47 44 8 9 108 

LCC Library 41 12 2 2 57 

Margaret Street 115 89 36 0 240 

TOTAL 1067 709 194 77 2047 

 

 
 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

35 
 

Table 7 - Ticket Sales, Ashby (Friday 20 May, 2016) 

 Tariff 50p   80p £1.00    £1.20 £2.00 

TOTAL 1 Hour 2 Hour 2 Hours 3 Hours or more 

Brook Street 36 34 0 6 0 76 

Leisure Centre 20 8 0 7 13 48 

North Street 141 166 0 61 11 379 

South Street 50 43 0 8 50 151 

Library 23 42 0 18 0 83 

Royal Hotel 0 0 75 0 46 121 

TOTAL 270 293 75 100 120 858 

 

Table 8 - Ticket Sales, Ashby (Saturday 21 May, 2016) 

 Tariff 50p   80p £1.00    £1.20 £2.00 

TOTAL 1 Hour 2 Hour 2 Hours 3 Hours or more 

Brook Street 35 32 0 10 0 77 

Leisure Centre 149 201 0 130 81 561 

North Street 109 132 0 87 1 329 

South Street 44 80 0 37 36 197 

Library 23 23 0 16 0 62 

Royal Hotel 0 0 99 0 33 132 

TOTAL 360 468 99 280 151 1358 

4.12.2 The tables show which car parks are more popular for different lengths of stay and the 

variation between length of stay in the two towns. In Coalville most people pay to stay for 

up to one hour while in Ashby more people stay for between one and two hours and there is 

more all-day (£2.00) parking in Ashby.  

4.12.3 There are five main car parks in Coalville (plus the free Market Hall car park) that are used 

by a similar number of people each day, although a lot more people pay to park in the 

Council Office car park on a Saturday (it is still busy during the week with staff parking). The 

amount of all-day parking is relatively low (4-5% of the total). 

4.12.4 In Ashby the North Street car park was the most popular on the weekday but on a Saturday 

the Leisure Centre car park is the most popular because of the clubs and activities that take 

place. Long stay parking is more common than in Coalville (11%-13% of the total) and very 

common in the South Street car park where 33% of users pay for the whole day. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

36 
 

4.12.5 Figure 8 shows the distribution of ticket sales across the day on Saturday 21 May, 2016 

and the total tickets sold during the day.  

Figure 8 – Ticket Sales, Saturday 21 May 2016 

 

4.12.6 The graph shows that many more tickets are sold in Coalville in the middle of the day but 

the number drops sharply after lunch and the number of tickets sold is similar in the early 

evening.  

4.12.7 A comparison of Christmas ticket sales provides some guidance on the difference in 

occupancy at that time, although a full analysis is not possible because parking has been 

free on December Christmas Saturdays so no tickets are sold. Using Christmas weekdays as 

a comparison it shows that approximately 30% more tickets were sold on Fridays in Coalville 

in December compared with Fridays in the rest of the year.  In Ashby the increase in ticket 

sales on Christmas Fridays is lower than Coalville with 6% more tickets sold than on average 

Fridays. This has an obvious impact on car park occupancy at Christmas, although this does 

not mean that the volume of parking space to be provided should meet demand at this peak 

time if it is going to be unused for the rest of the year.  

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

Ti
ck

e
ts

 P
u

rc
h

as
e

d
 Coalville (2,047) 

Ashby (1,368) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

37 
 

4.13 ON-STREET PARKING  

4.13.1 On street parking provides valuable parking spaces in all of the town and village centres. 

There are no charges for on-street parking. In total there are approximately 320 controlled 

parking bays in the District and some of these are restricted to specified users (e.g. disabled 

users, taxis and loading bays).  

4.13.2 This includes Marlborough Square in Coalville which is one of the town’s priority 

regeneration areas. The square contains 26 on street parking spaces that are free of charge 

but are time limited.   

4.13.3 On-street parking performs a major function in Ashby as one of the busiest parking areas is 

along the main commercial street in the town, Market Street. Parking is allowed for a limited 

time on both sides of the road and is the parking space of choice for many people visiting 

the town centre for a short time period.  

4.13.4 Surveys were carried out of these two important on-street parking areas, in addition to 

those carried out in the car parks. 

4.14 SPECIALIST PARKING (DISABLED, MOTORCYCLE, CYCLE, COACH AND HGV) 

4.14.1 Disabled parking spaces are provided in most of the Council run car parks in the District, 

with the exception of the Library car park in Ashby and the North Service Road car park in 

Coalville where there are nearby car parks that do have disabled spaces.  

4.14.2 Motorcycle spaces are provided in some of the main car parks but not all. There is no 

charge to park a motorcycle in any of the car parks. Cycle parking spaces are provided in 

some car parks as well as in other locations in the town and village centres. 

4.14.3 Two public coach parking bays are provided but these are on private land at the Ashby 

Tesco and are thus outside of the direct control of the Council and also not very convenient 

for other parts of the District. 

4.14.4 There are no official HGV parking spaces in the District, although they are parked on-street 

and in laybys. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

38 
 

4.15 PRIVATE NON-RESIDENTIAL PARKING 

4.15.1 Private Non-Residential (PNR) parking is that provided by businesses or organisations for 

use by employees or visitors. It is privately controlled so the Council has no control over 

how it is operated or used. The number of PNR spaces is not known in the District but the 

Parking Strategy takes account of its presence and impact.  

4.16 RESIDENT PARKING SCHEMES 

4.16.1 There are currently no Resident Parking schemes in the District. Other Leicestershire District 

Council areas do have Resident Parking schemes. These are implemented and managed by 

the County Council in collaboration with District Councils and residents.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

39 
 

5 PARKING SURVEY RESULTS 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

5.1.1 Parking beat surveys were carried out in June 2016 to gain an understanding of how the car 

parks are used. The surveys were done at times that are considered to be the busiest time 

of a ‘normal' week; they were not done at the very busiest times, i.e. Christmas or during 

other special events. Ticket sales data was analysed which showed that the highest number 

of tickets sales are on a Friday and Saturday, with Saturday sales slightly higher and also 

with a higher proportion of longer stay tickets. The Saturday peak is also concentrated at a 

shorter period of the day so, using all this information it was concluded that the maximum 

occupancy is likely to be on a Saturday lunchtime and the surveys were then carried out on 

Saturday 18th June, 2016. 

5.1.2 The focus of the strategy will be on the busiest day-to-day conditions rather than the 

absolute maximum times of use, but with recognition that there are times and events that 

create even more demand than normal. 

5.1.3 Occupancy surveys were carried out between 10.00am and 2.30pm in the main public car 

parks and roads. An assessment of each town is presented in the following sections. 

5.2 ASHBY RESULTS 

5.2.1 Figure 9 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in all of the surveyed car parks in 

Ashby town centre and on-street parking on Market Street and Figure 10 shows the 

percentage occupancy of each of these parking areas. The data labels on each line also 

show the capacity of each car park. 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

40 
 

Figure 9 – Ashby Parking Survey Results, June 2016 

 

Figure 10 – Ashby Parking % Occupancy, June 2016 

 

North Street 65

North Street 65

North Street Ext 11

South Street 57

Brook Street 10

Hood Leisure Centre 93

Bakery Court Private 13

Library 30

Market Street North 17

Market Street South 22

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

O
cc

u
p

ie
d

 S
p

ac
e

s

North Street 65

North Street Ext 11

South Street 57

Brook Street 10

Hood Leisure Centre 93

Bakery Court Private 19

Library 30

Market Street North 17Market Street South 22

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 O

cc
u

p
an

cy



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

41 
 

5.2.2 Figure 9 shows that the majority of people park in North Street, South Street or the Hood 

Park Leisure Centre car parks. The Leisure Centre car park is busiest in the morning, due to 

the events that take place at that time and it then gets less busy through the day. The other 

car parks are consistently busy through the day. 

5.2.3 Figure 10 shows that there is a high level of occupancy throughout this time period with all 

car parks exceeding 90% occupancy at some point in the day. The Library and its Extension 

are the last ones to fill up and the first to empty, suggesting that they are the least popular 

places to park. North Street, South Street, Brook Street, Bakery Court and Market Street are 

effectively full throughout the study period.  

5.2.4 Figure 11 shows the total car park occupancy across the town centre. Occupancy reaches 

90% by 11am and then slowly declines after that. This means that there is very little spare 

parking space in the town centre and people are likely to be driving round trying to find 

somewhere to park. The only spare space at the peak time is a few spaces in the Leisure 

Centre car park.  

Figure 11 – Ashby Combined Car Parking, Saturday Occupancy, June 2016 

 

5.2.5 The use of Disabled parking spaces was also monitored. Disabled spaces are provided in all 

of the car parks except Bakery Court and the Library. The spaces were all very well used 

throughout the study period, with very few spare Disabled spaces at any times. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00

To
ta

l P
ar

ki
n

g 
Sp

ac
e

s

Time

Occupancy

Total Spaces



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

42 
 

5.3 COALVILLE RESULTS 

5.3.1 Figure 12 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in all of the surveyed car parks in 

Coalville town centre and on-street parking in Marlborough Square and Figure 13 shows 

the percentage occupancy of each of these parking areas. The data labels on each line also 

show the capacity of each car park. 

Figure 12 – Coalville Parking Survey Results, June 2016 

 

5.3.2 Figure 12 shows that most people park in the Market Hall car park or the adjoining 

Needhams Walk and Bridge Road car parks. The North Service Road car park was also well 

used throughout the study period.  

5.3.3 Figure 13 shows the percentage occupancy in these car parks.  

  

Market Hall Free 90

Market Hall 98

Needhams Walk 108

Bridge Road 241

North Service Road 74

North Service Road 74

Margaret Street 43

Marlborough Square 25
James Street 58

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

O
cc

u
p

ie
d

 S
p

ac
e

s

Time



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

43 
 

Figure 13 – Coalville % Occupancy, June 2016 

 

5.3.4 Figure 13 shows that the Market Hall free parking spaces and Marlborough Square were 

full throughout the study period and Margaret Street was full before noon. The remaining 

car parks had spare capacity at all times of day, North Service Road, Market Hall (Pay and 

Display area) and Needhams Walk reached between 70-80% occupancy at their busiest 

times while James Street and Bridge Road were not very well used throughout the day.  

5.3.5 Figure 14 shows the total car park occupancy across the town centre. Occupancy reaches 

a maximum of 60% by 11am and then slowly declines after that. This means that there are 

plenty of spare parking spaces in the town centre at all times but demand for the free 

parking spaces does exceed the supply. Drivers circulate round the Market Hall car park 

trying to find a free space and then move on to another car park if a space is not available.  

  

Market Hall Free 90

Market Hall 98

Needhams Walk 108

Bridge Road 241

North Service Road 74 North Service Road 74

Margaret Street 43

Marlborough Square 25

James Street 58

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 O

cc
u

p
an

cy

Time



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

44 
 

Figure 14 – Coalville Combined Car Parking Occupancy, June 2016 

 

5.3.6 The use of Disabled parking spaces was also monitored. Disabled spaces are provided in the 

Market Hall, Needhams Walk, Bridge Road, Margaret Street, Marlborough Square and James 

Street car parks. These were all very well used throughout the study period, with the 

exception of the James Street car park. 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00

To
ta

l P
ar

ki
n

g 
Sp

ac
e

s

Time

Occupied 

Total Spaces



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

45 
 

5.4 CASTLE DONINGTON RESULTS 

5.4.1 Figure 15 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in the surveyed car parks in 

Castle Donington on Monday 4th July. Occupancy counts were carried out at four times 

during the day. The data labels on each line also show the capacity of each car park. 

5.4.2 The graph shows that Clapgun and Borough Street car parks are very well used throughout 

the survey period and the amount of spare car park space is limited. The vacant parking 

spaces in Clapgun and Borough car parks tended to be the disabled spaces. The Pharmacy 

car park that adjoins the Borough Street car park is for customers only so is not counted as 

a public car park. 

Figure 15 – Castle Donington Parking, July 2016 

 

  

Clapgun 34

Hillside 15

Borough St 30

Pharmacy 18

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

08:40 10:50 12:40 14:20



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

46 
 

5.5 WHITWICK RESULTS 

5.5.1 Figure 16 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in the surveyed car parks in 

Whitwick on Monday 4th July. Occupancy counts were carried out at four times during the 

day. The data labels on each line also show the capacity of each car park. 

5.5.2 The graph shows that the large Silver Street (Hermitage) car park is very well used in the 

morning which is due to early morning use of the leisure centre and possibly some residents 

nearby that use the car park because there is limited on-street parking on some streets. 

Vicarage Street is quite popular although there are always vacant spaces and the other car 

parks are less well used. Overall, after the early morning rush there are plenty of spare off-

street parking spaces in Whitwick. 

Figure 16 – Whitwick Parking, July 2016 

 

Silver St (Hermitage) 
145

Leisure Centre 33Market Place 6

Vicarage St 29

City of Dan 16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

09:30 11:20 13:10 15:00

N
o

. o
f 

O
cc

u
p

ie
d

 S
p

ac
e

s

Time



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

47 
 

5.6 MEASHAM RESULTS 

5.6.1 Figure 17 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in the surveyed car parks in 

Measham on Monday 4th July. Occupancy counts were carried out at four times during the 

day. The data labels on each line also show the capacity of each car park. 

5.6.2 The graph shows that the Peggs Close (private and public) car parks are well used and have 

high levels of occupancy, although spaces could be found at all times. The High Street car 

park was just over half full in the morning and then became less busy. 

Figure 17 – Measham Parking, July 2016 

 

  

High St 50

Peggs Close 20

Peggs Close 
Private 60

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

10:20 12:00 13:50 15:30

N
o

. o
f 

O
cc

u
p

ie
d

 S
p

ac
e

s

Time



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

48 
 

5.7 IBSTOCK RESULTS 

5.7.1 Figure 18 shows the number of occupied parking spaces in the surveyed car parks in 

Ibstock on Monday 4th July. Occupancy counts were carried out at four times during the 

day. The data labels on each line also show the capacity of each car park. 

5.7.2 The graph shows that the Gladstone Street car park was full for most of the day and the 

High Street car park was well used but there were vacant spaces at all times. 

Figure 18 – Ibstock Parking, July 2016 

 

High St 74

Gladstone St 22

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

10:00 11:40 13:30 15:15

N
o

. o
f 

O
cc

u
p

ie
d

 S
p

ac
e

s

Time



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

49 
 

6 CONSULTATION 

6.1 INTRODUCTION 

6.1.1 Consultation has been carried out with the public and stakeholders in the District in order to 

gain a better understanding of the existing parking patterns/issues/concerns and the views 

of the public and stakeholders towards the future parking requirements in the study area.  

6.2 PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

6.2.1 A parking questionnaire was devised and a link was made available on the NWLDC website 

between 29th July and 31st August 2016 and the survey was publicised through the Council 

website, social media, press release, community newsletter and posters.  

6.2.2 Questions were broken down by study area location and respondents were able to answer 

questions on as many areas as they liked. 463 people completed some or all of the 

questions.  

6.2.3 Respondents were asked to identify which car park they used most often and to make 

comments about that car park. They were also asked to identify a second car park which 

they used and comment about that and 22% of people gave feedback on more than one car 

park. The number of responses relating to different car parks is presented in Table 9. 

Table 9 – Consultees Usage of Car Parks 

Car Park 
Most Days 1-3 times a 

week 

Most weekends 

Ashby 25 84 23 

Coalville 16 61 16 

Castle Donington 9 18 11 

Measham 3 10 4 

Ibstock 1 10 1 

Whitwick 5 8 0 

Kegworth 57 55 5 

 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

50 
 

6.3 DISTRICT-WIDE RESULTS 

6.3.1 The questions relating to general issues covered the following subjects: 

 General condition and satisfaction levels 

 Purposes of the trips made to car parks 

 Enforcement levels of parking restrictions 

 Car parking locations other than Council car parks 

 Volume of parking spaces provided 

 Scope for removal of some parking restrictions 

 The use of public transport 

User Characteristics 

6.3.2 The survey results show that over half of respondents using car-parks across the district 

drive less than two miles to access car-parks within town and service centres currently and 

over 80% are within four miles. 86% of respondents use the car-parks for the purpose of 

accessing shops, leisure and educational facilities with only a small proportion of the parking 

(10%) undertaken for work purposes.  

6.3.3 A large proportion of respondents described their use of car-parks in key settlements as 

occasional. This was particularly the case in the major towns of Ashby and Coalville (43% 

and 46% respectively). 24% of respondents in Ashby and 31% in Coalville indicated that 

they never used the car-parks within the town. 

6.3.4 In the smaller settlements around the district, use of public car parks appeared even less 

marked with between 60% and 80% of respondents indicating that they never use car-

parking facilities in Kegworth, Castle Donington, Measham, Whitwick and Ibstock. Of course 

this does not indicate that car-parks do not play a vital role in sustaining economic activity in 

each location, however, it does perhaps suggest the following: 

 That the substantial majority of respondents use car-parks reasonably 

infrequently and that their use is largely for non-work purposes; 

 That only a small minority of respondents use car-parks most days for the 

purpose of accessing work (although it should be noted that this may account for 

a substantially greater proportion of the daily parking occupancy of spaces 

because of their length of stay); 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

51 
 

 That a large proportion of respondents travel short distances to access car-parks. 

There are a number of implications that can be drawn from this analysis: 

 That car borne visitors using existing car-parks are typically reasonably 

infrequent visitors to the town centres to which they are driving; and 

 That it is reasonable to anticipate that a substantial proportion of car borne 

visitors to the towns are within viable walking and cycle distance (55% of 

respondents travel less than two miles).  

6.3.5 It is therefore recommended that the future parking strategy for each town should be 

developed in tandem with ongoing efforts to develop the wider transportation strategy for 

the town. Such measures may include: 

 Development of measures to encourage increased accessibility to the key retail 

and service centres for pedestrians and cyclists. It may for example be 

preferable to rationalise areas of parking supply if doing so provides increased 

amenity for pedestrians and (particularly) cyclists of a scale suited to prompting 

increased usage of these modes to provide for access to the town for more 

localised trips (although this would require close consideration). 

General condition and satisfaction levels 

6.3.6 Overall there is a low level of satisfaction with the condition and facilities in the car parks 

used by consultees with nearly three times as many responses of ‘Poor’ compared with 

‘Good’. The highest levels of dissatisfaction were with signs to and within the car parks, car 

park layout and pedestrian access. 

6.3.7 Respondents were evenly split with regards to the current charging tariff, with 50% saying it 

was reasonable and 46% saying the costs are too high. 

6.3.8 There was a reasonable level of satisfaction with the level of enforcement that is carried 

out, with 52% saying there is enough enforcement, 28% there is too much and 20% that 

there is not enough.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

52 
 

6.4 ASHBY RESULTS 

6.4.1 Car parks in Ashby were used by 170 survey respondents and 75% of them describe them 

as “good” or “adequate”. The weakest point is availability of spaces which was described as 

“poor” by 45% of people. Car parks in Ashby are mostly used for shopping in the town 

centre (84%) and for leisure activities (49%). 80% of users travel less than 4 miles and only 

9% stay longer than 3 hours during the day, while this number is a bit higher (14%) in 

evenings and at weekends.  

6.4.2 One question asked whether there are enough parking spaces in each town. In Ashby the 

large majority (86%) said there are not enough parking spaces.  

6.4.3 One interesting result is that 65% of respondents sometimes visit the town and do not use a 

council car park. The majority of these people use a supermarket car park or park on the 

road for such visits. People highlighted the need for free parking for short trips and they 

also complained about vehicles parking on double yellow lines and on footways. Other 

comments were about lack of quality public transport and missing cycle routes from 

surrounding villages. 

6.5 COALVILLE RESULTS 

6.5.1 Questions about Coalville car parks were answered by 134 people, of which 42% think that 

availability of spaces is good and another 47% describe it as adequate. A dominant purpose 

of using car parks here is town centre or precinct shopping. 72% of people travel less than 

4 miles. People mostly commented on poor amenities in Coalville and blame parking charges 

for that and suggest that it should be free again to help to revitalise the town.  

6.5.2 Over 85% of respondents stated that they daily or sometimes choose to visit other towns. 

Regarding parking charges, 31% of people think that they are too high for short stay and 

another 36% say they are too high for all time periods. This corresponds with the fact that 

about 90% of users do not stay longer than 3 hours. Some respondents complained about 

the ticket machines and 56% of respondents evaluate payment options as poor.  

6.5.3 The response to the question about the number of parking spaces was that 68% of people 

thought there are enough spaces in Coalville but 26% said there are not enough. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

53 
 

6.6 CASTLE DONINGTON RESULTS 

6.6.1 The number of responses from people that named Castle Donington as the location of their 

most used and second most used car parks was quite limited, including 25 people. Analysis 

of these responses shows that the users of Castle Donington car parks have the following 

key opinions: 

 General satisfaction levels are low, with a high proportion of ‘Poor’ ratings and 

very few ‘Good’  

 The lack of availability of parking spaces is the key concern, with 76% of people 

rating this as ‘Poor’ and most people responded that there are too few spaces 

and more should be provided. 

6.7 MEASHAM RESULTS 

6.7.1 The number of responses from people that named Measham as the location of their most 

commonly used car parks was quite limited, including 12 people. Analysis of these 

responses shows that the users of Measham car parks have the following key opinions: 

 General satisfaction levels are quite low, with a high proportion of ‘Poor’ ratings 

and very few ‘Good’  

 The quality of the signs in the car park was the most common complaint 

 Most people thought the existing level of enforcement is adequate 

6.8 IBSTOCK RESULTS 

6.8.1 The number of responses from people that named Ibstock as the location of their most used 

and second most used car parks was quite limited, including just 4 people. Analysis of these 

responses shows that the users of Ibstock car parks have the following key opinions: 

 General satisfaction levels are slightly low with a few more answers of ‘Poor’ than 

‘Good’ 

 The provision of more short stay parking was the most common solution  

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

54 
 

6.9 WHITWICK RESULTS 

6.9.1 The number of responses from people that named Whitwick as the location of their most 

commonly used car parks was quite limited, including 5 people. Analysis of these responses 

shows that the users of Whitwick car parks have the following key opinions: 

 General satisfaction levels are quite high, with a high proportion of ‘Good’’ 

ratings and very few ‘Poor’  

6.10 KEGWORTH RESULTS 

6.10.1 The number of responses from people that named Kegworth as the location of their most 

commonly used car parks was high, including 112 people. A large majority of people (81%) 

use the car parks for less than 1 hour. Analysis of these responses shows that the users of 

Kegworth car parks have the following key opinions: 

 General satisfaction levels are very low, with nearly 60% of people giving ‘Poor’ 

ratings to the various car park facilities 

 Over half of the people (51%) thought there is not enough enforcement of the 

time restrictions 

 Virtually everybody said that there are not enough parking spaces in Kegworth 

and that more spaces are required. Twice as many people requested short stay 

spaces than long stay 

 The need for Residents parking schemes was mentioned by many people in the 

free text comments section 

6.11 STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 

6.11.1 Workshop events were held in July and August 2016 to seek the views of local stakeholders. 

Workshops were focussed on the towns of Ashby, Coalville, Castle Donington, Kegworth, 

Ibstock, Whitwick and Measham. An additional session was held for any stakeholders that 

missed the initial workshop event.  

6.11.2 Stakeholders from each town were invited to attend one of the workshops, including Town 

Councillors, local businesses and community group representatives, Parish, District and 

County Councillors along with District and County Council officers. Attendance at the 

workshops was by invite only and invites were co-ordinated by NWLDC. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

55 
 

6.11.3 The workshops included a presentation of the data collection results and an open forum to 

discuss the development of the strategy. An agenda was circulated at the beginning of each 

workshop to provide attendees with suggested discussion points.  Table 10 summarises the 

times of the workshops, the number of invitees and the number of attendees at each 

workshop. The views of invitees who were unable to attend a workshop but provided 

comments via email have been taken into account. 

Table 10 – Stakeholder Attendees 

Group Date 

Number of 
Attendees 

(excluding 

NWLDC/WYG 
staff) 

Coalville 4th July 2016 10 

Ashby 14th July 2016 12 

Castle Donington and 
Kegworth 

18th August 2016 5 

Ibstock, Measham and 
Whitwick 

18th August 2016 11 

Wrap up session 18th August 2016 7 

 

6.11.4 The main points that were raised in the stakeholder consultation have been summarised 

below for each event. These are not necessarily the views of all stakeholders that attended 

the events and there were some issues where the stakeholders did not all agree.  

6.12 COALVILLE STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.12.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

 The cost of car parking currently does not represent good value for money for visitors 

 Stakeholders generally accepted that there is a ‘chicken or egg’ situation between the 

improvement of business offer/town centre attractions and a reduced price for car 

parking, but the cost of parking has a role to play in the attraction of the town 

 No overt acceptance that businesses can do more to attract business 

 There was a level of positivity over the future plans for the town 

 A general agreement that different parking strategies for Ashby and Coalville were 

needed 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

56 
 

 A view that car park spaces should be retained for the future, although there was 

acceptance that usage is low at present 

 Some residents are using the car parks in the evening for residential use 

 Comments about access/exit to main car parks. Market Hall access needs to be 

improved, the crossing point on High Street should be moved and the configuration of 

roads / crossings inside car park could be improved 

 Coach parking – None provided in Coalville currently. Bridge Rd/Market Hall car park 

could be used for coaches (Emporium currently use Bridge Rd although there are 

noise issues). Football club will need somewhere now they are in a higher league 

 Free spaces are used for commuter parking in Coalville and thus free spaces are tied 

up all day and not benefitting the town. Re-open discussions with Belvoir Centre and 

look at the possibility of time limited free spaces to increase turnover 

 Free after 3pm concept was not strongly supported but there was some agreement 

that it would be a benefit for a limited target market of after-school parents. It may 

be a benefit to the large retail outlets and chains more than smaller independents, 

many of whom are closed by 3pm 

 Season tickets (currently £90 a quarter) should be made available weekly/monthly 

which would be more affordable and then more popular (people may then visit at 

weekend as already paid for the weeks pass) 

 Lunchtime free spaces (maybe limited area) should be considered, e.g 1 hour max 

stay 

 Reduction in price across tariffs should be considered, e.g. 30p for 1 hour, 50p for 2 

hours to increase dwell time 

 Different prices in different car parks should be considered, although the current tariff 

is very simple and it would be more difficult and confusing to communicate different 

tariffs to users 

 Promotions could be done for a trial period to assess their impact 

 End the refund voucher scheme that is not working very well 

 Investigate potential for sponsorship of car parks by businesses to raise revenue 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

57 
 

6.13 ASHBY STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.13.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

General Ashby Issues 

 Peak times need to be considered in Ashby i.e. Christmas.  People want to visit and 

shop in the town but are put off by a lack of car parking space 

 New housing estates have limited parking (both driveways and off road) and this 

causes issues 

 It would be worth having a tailored parking strategy for Ashby and one for Coalville; 

 Gritting of car parks needs to be improved 

 The surveys exclude the Co-op car park and the Royal Hotel. It was suggested that 

surveys should be done here as well 

 Many people park on-street all day because it is free. This can restrict access for 

other people. More restrictions are required to prevent this 

 Population is due to increase by 65% and demand for parking will increase by a 

similar amount. There is a need to predict how many spaces will be needed especially 

with more development/homes coming into Ashby 

 The Local Plan that is out for consultation does not address the issue of town centre 

parking adequately. Developers used to pay a contribution towards car park facilities 

but this policy has ceased, linked to the shift towards sustainable transport in the 

Local Transport Plan, but there still needs to be a way to get developer contributions 

towards town centre facilities such as parking 

 Royal Hotel has planning permission on the car park so its long term future is 

uncertain 

Town Centre 

 The long stay car parks are used by employees from the businesses in the town and 

they reduce the amount of available spaces for the public/visitors/customers 

 The Co-op has reduced the number of hours it allows people to park for free to 

prevent people using it as a free car park.  This change has meant those that did use 

the Co-op are either using other space or not visiting the town centre 

 Signage for the car parks in Ashby is poor 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

58 
 

 Decrease the cost of long stay parking for staff or consider identifying a location out 

of the town centre for the staff to park in 

 Coaches currently park at Tesco where two spaces have been provided, and pick up 

at North Street however the coach parking bays are not well used, possibly because 

they are not in the best location 

 Parking outside takeaways in Market Street causes a nuisance 

 Taxi ranks cause issues with double parking and U-turns 

Cost of Parking 

 It was felt that 50p is too expensive for someone who is just nipping into the town 

centre for a few minutes; could it be free for the first 30 minutes? 

 Car parking tariffs are reasonable for the area for short term parking but too high for 

those parking long term i.e. staff.  Could there by a permit system for those employed 

locally? 

 On the whole people do not mind the cost of the car parks in Ashby 

 Suggested that the car parks should be pay on exit as banks have raised issues with 

customers having to cut meetings short as their time runs out on their car parking 

 Pay by phone was suggested as an option for the future 

 A suggestion was made for a 6 month trial for any tariff changes that are introduced 

Business Park 

 Employee figures have increased and the existing car parks can no longer cope with 

the amount of cars so people are parking on Coalfield Way which is getting full 

 Employees are unlikely to use the town centre at lunch as it is too far to walk and if 

they travel by car their parking space will be gone by the time they get back 

 Businesses would welcome a multi storey car park in the Business Park 

 Tesco has 668 spaces with 3 hours free parking which is very attractive to customers. 

Other businesses have put in restrictions to prevent employees from other businesses 

using their car park e.g. Wickes 

 Siemens has looked into land availability for additional parking but have been 

unsuccessful to date 

 Access to the area is challenging because of the single access road 

 Businesses do look into sustainable travel initiatives (car share and flexible working) 

as there is a lack of frequent, reliable public transport 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

59 
 

 There needs to be a focus from Planning and Development Control to encourage 

additional parking spaces in businesses that locate in Ashby 

 There are still a number of issues with HGV’s parking over night although some action 

has been taken 

Locations for Additional Parking Space 

 There are some areas of informal car parking such as Ivanhoe School, Health Care 

Centre, Royal Hotel, which could be better used  

 Other areas could be assessed such as the area near to Venture Theatre on North 

Street, Manor House School on South Street and Burton Road Primary School (during 

the weekend). However there might be issues around cost of opening up these car 

parks and security 

 The Money Hill development may provide a large car park (120 spaces) for the use of 

the public visiting the town centre 

 The Health Centre on North Street  is likely to be turned into a new public car park, 

subject to land deals and detailed design 

 The Market St pedestrianisation scheme included measures for improved parking, but 

the scheme was rejected and the funding is no longer available 

 A multi-storey car park would provide extra capacity but may be too expensive.  

Needs to be considered 

 Coach parking – extra spaces could be provided at Money Hill if it is thought to be a 

priority 

 Park and Ride should be considered an option 

Other Measures to be considered in the Strategy 

 There are 6 bicycle parking spaces in Market Street, more at Hood Park and the 

library which is adequate; however there is a need to encourage more sustainable 

modes of transport into Ashby rather than driving 

 Need to liaise with the Co-op and Royal Hotel to ensure the charging tariffs are 

consistent 

 Old pay machines could be replaced with new ones plus pay by phone technology or 

pay-on-exit to allow people to extend their stay in the town centre 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

60 
 

6.14 CASTLE DONINGTON STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.14.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

General Issues 

 New housing developments do not include enough off-street parking spaces. 

Highways allow unsuitable development that leads to parking problems 

 Parking charges would be a bad idea 

 Could the Council publicise the Share-my-Drive initiatives or similar, to increase the 

amount of off-street space? 

 Liaison with the County Council about on-street parking is very important 

Castle Donington Issues 

 Changes have recently been made on Borough St to add more disabled spaces. This 

may mean that the disabled spaces in the car parks are not needed any more. The 

two main car parks are difficult for disabled people because of the gradient and steps 

in and out. The surveys show they were not used but may need more data before 

they could be removed. On-street parking in Borough St is better since restrictions 

have been changed 

 Hillside car park is used by business owners in the village, so that spaces closer to the 

shops are available for visitors 

 Borough and Clapgun car parks are generally full. Clapgun is used for commuter 

parking and by residents 

 When events are on (Farmers Market, etc) the College allows parking on their 50 

spaces 

 Future development means that demand will increase substantially 

 There are some potential sites for new car parks being pursued by the Parish Council 

 Clapgun could be made two levels by digging out, without the need for ramps 

because the existing gradient means that level access from the road could be 

provided to both levels, so there would be no need for a ramp 

 Airport parking takes place in the car parks and on-street by people seeking to avoid 

parking charges at the airport. This occupies valuable parking space for long periods 

of time.  

 A Hopper bus service in the village would reduce the need for parking in the centre.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

61 
 

6.15 KEGWORTH STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.15.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

 

 No surveys have been carried out in Kegworth but NWLDC is well aware that the 

small parking area in the Market Place is full most of the time 

 Enforcement of restrictions is not very good. Officers do not visit very often because 

there is no car park, so the on-street restrictions get enforced less often than other 

places 

 More parking space is required 

 Space in the village is used by commuters and passengers to the airport and by 

students at Sutton Bonington (Uni. Of Nottingham) who live or just park in the village. 

 The most common complaint is a lack of short stay parking space in the centre 

 There are many non-retail businesses in the centre, which causes long stay parking 

that fills up many of the spaces 

 Land is very expensive to buy so difficult to provide a car park. Land was available but 

is now very expensive. Might be possible to lease land in the short term rather than 

buy it 

 In the longer term (2018) the Kegworth Bypass will remove a lot of through traffic 

from the A6 and allow a redesign of the centre. Double yellow lines on main road 

could be removed. There will be opportunities to improve parking when that has 

happened to provide more spaces 

 The village is due to expand significantly, from 3,700 to 5,000 population 

 One proposal is to install new restrictions to make all spaces short-stay (1hr or 2hr). 

Residents and businesses might object and slow the progress of such a scheme 

 Study report should acknowledge that restrictions need to be reviewed and taken 

forward by Parish and District to the County 

 It may be better to wait until the bypass is complete before any changes are made to 

restrictions 

 Students cause a lot of parking problems in residential areas because they have too 

many cars for each property. There are 600-700 students living in the area 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

62 
 

6.16 IBSTOCK – MEASHAM – WHITWICK CONSULTATION 

General Issues 

 New housing developments do not include enough off-street parking spaces. 

Highways allow unsuitable development that leads to parking problems 

 Surveys could have been done overnight to pick up resident parking 

 On-street parking is often unsafe, especially at school times. Schools have not been 

designed to cope with the amount of cars that now drop off 

 Parking charges would be a bad idea in all of the centres 

 NWLDC need to liaise with the County on enforcement, parking restrictions and 

development control issues 

 Sustainable transport – new cycle parking racks would be useful in town centres. 

Cycle paths are only possible in a few locations 

6.17 IBSTOCK STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.17.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

 Data collected shows that there was some spare capacity in the High Street car park 

and that Gladstone Street was full. Local opinion is that High Street often gets full as 

well 

 Gladstone Street is used for residents parking by people without a parking space 

 The main problem is the enforcement of parking restrictions 

 Parking restrictions could be removed along High St to provide more parking space 

6.18 MEASHAM STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.18.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

 There is adequate off-street parking in Measham, although this does rely heavily on 

the Peggs Close car park that is privately owned 

 Need more short stay parking in safe locations on the High St 

 Main problem is parking on double-yellows for short trips, particularly at the Tesco 

cash machine but elsewhere as well. Enforcement was said to be insufficient but 

these short trips are very difficult to enforce when people are allowed a 10 minute 

grace period for parking 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

63 
 

6.19 WHITWICK STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK 

6.19.1 The main points that were raised in the consultation have been summarised below: 

 Plenty of off-street parking capacity in the town, although Vicarage Street does get 

busy at school drop off/pick up and overnight 

 There are too many spaces (6) in the Market Place and this causes a safety risk. The 

road is busy here with traffic, bus stop, pedestrian crossing and side road junctions. 

This should be reduced to one disabled space instead 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

64 
 

7 FUTURE GROWTH AND CHANGE 

7.1 INTRODUCTION 

7.1.1 This section of the report looks at expected future growth in the district, in terms of 

employment, housing and retail growth, and it’s potential effects on parking demand. The 

North West Leicestershire Local Plan provides guidance on the district’s growth forecasts 

which this report has used to forecast future growth and parking demand. 

7.2 FUTURE GROWTH - NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE LOCAL PLAN 

7.2.1 The North West Leicestershire Draft Local Plan 2015 is the council’s guidance document 

that, once adopted, will identify how much new development is required and where it 

should go. The draft Local Plan represents the District Council’s view on how sustainable 

development should be achieved in North West Leicestershire and covers the period up to 

2031. 

7.2.2 The existing plan was adopted in 2002. NWLDC agreed to save a number of policies in 2006 

which are used to inform and determine planning applications. The policies have similar 

themes to those proposed in the draft 2015 Local Plan. The following policies are taken from 

the North West Leicestershire Draft Local Plan 2015 and they provide an idea of the scale of 

development proposed within the District. 

POLICY S2 – FUTURE HOUSING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT NEEDS 

7.2.3 Policy S2 – Future Housing and Economic Development Needs, describes NWLDC’s forecasts 

on business, housing and shopping needs for the district. The forecasts have been 

calculated based on a number of pieces of work done by external consultants as well as 

specific evidence within the district. The quantified business, housing and shopping needs 

set out in the plan are described below. 

Business Needs 

7.2.4 Work undertaken by Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership identified that 

approximately 5,600 employment jobs will be created in the district up to 2031, which would 

be facilitated by the development of around 96 hectares of land allocated for employment.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

65 
 

Housing Needs 

7.2.5 North West Leicestershire forms part of the Leicester & Leicestershire Housing Market Area 

(HMA), which identified there was an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for 285 to 350 new 

dwellings each year from 2011 to 2031, resulting in 5,700 to 7,000 new dwellings in the 

District. 

7.2.6 However, NWLDC have identified there is a need to have regard to other evidence before 

identifying a housing requirement. For example, the Strategic Rail Freight Interchange 

(SRFI) near East Midlands Airport and M1 J24 could create up to 7,400 jobs. Therefore, the 

Local Plan proposes to make provision for 10,700 dwellings between 2011 and 2031 (535 

dwellings per annum), a 26% increase in the district as a whole. 

Shopping Needs 

7.2.7 A Retail Capacity Study was undertaken in late 2014 which assessed the need for additional 

shopping provision. The study took into account projections of population growth, spending 

projections and non-traditional forms of shopping as well as sites with permission for retail 

use or where new shops should be developed. The study recommended that 7,300sqm of 

extra retail floorspace is required up to 2031, with the need not arising until 2016. 

 POLICY H1 – HOUSING PROVISION: PLANNING PERMISSIONS 

7.2.8 Policies H1, H2 and H3 set out how the district will ensure that the overall housing 

requirement is met over the plan period. There are three types of provision which the 

council identify; permissions, resolutions and allocations. 

7.2.9 POLICY H3 – HOUSING PROVISION: NEW ALLOCATIONS 

7.2.10 The following sites are allocated for housing development, subject to meeting the specified 

requirements set out in Policy H3 of the local plan. 

 H3a – Land north of Ashby de la Zouch (1,750 dwellings in total) 

 H3b – Land off Waterworks Road Coalville (about 95 dwellings) 

 H3c Land off Ashby Road/Leicester Road, Measham (about 420 dwellings) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

66 
 

7.3 LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (LLEP) 

7.3.1 The LLEP Priority Projects and Programme includes the Market Town Regeneration 

Programme that aims to arrest the downward trend in the County’s market town economies. 

Funds have been provided for the Town Centre Regeneration Programme and both Ashby 

and Coalville are included in the programme. Research to find ways to improve the viability 

of market town centres has been carried out and the Final Report has recently been 

published.  

7.3.2 In relation to Ashby the report highlights the success of the town centre but recognises 

concerns relating to the availability and cost of parking spaces and the impact of proposed 

growth in the town. In Coalville the report concludes that the town is at an important stage 

of development and the success of the regeneration efforts will help to determine whether 

the town centre thrives or if residents will work and spend money in other towns and cities. 

7.4 FUTURE GROWTH – COALVILLE 

7.4.1 As identified within Policy S3, Coalville, more notably the Coalville Urban Area, is identified 

as a ‘Principal Town’, and therefore a large proportion of the development needs set out in 

Policy S2 will occur within the Coalville Urban Area. 

7.4.2 As shown in Policy H1 and H2, there are a number of sites within the Coalville Urban Area 

that have planning permission or NWLDC is seeking planning permission for. In total, the 

Coalville Urban Area has planning permission for 1,340 dwellings and the Council is resolved 

to grant planning permission for a further 3,628 dwellings. Additionally, land off Waterworks 

Road, Coalville, is allocated for housing development (approximately 95 dwellings) as 

described in policy H3. 

7.4.3 In total, if all the dwelling developments set out in H1, H2 and H3 for the Coalville Urban 

Area are constructed, there will be an extra 5,153 dwellings in the area by 2031 (not 

including developments under 10 dwellings), a substantial amount that will inevitably have 

an effect on parking demand in Coalville town centre. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

67 
 

7.5 COALVILLE REGENERATION STRATEGY 

7.5.1 The Coalville Regeneration Strategy puts forward NWLDC’s proposals for regenerating 

Coalville town centre. The strategy focuses proposals around four squares linked by vibrant 

streets. Two of these squares, Memorial and Marlborough, already exist, with two additional 

squares proposed. The street network to link these four squares exists in some places, but 

needs to be either repaired or created in other areas.  

7.5.2 Building on the notion of the Four Square concept, the strategy has produced nine 

development opportunity areas and development briefs that are aimed at helping 

regenerate the town centre. 

7.6 COALVILLE FOUR SQUARES AND STREETS INVESTMENT PLAN 

7.6.1 The Four Squares and Streets investment plan followed the publication of the Regeneration 

Strategy for Coalville Town Centre, produced in partnership with the Prince’s Foundation for 

the Built Environment in February 2010. The aim of the plan was to improve the vitality and 

viability of Coalville town centre by enhancing the town’s existing streets and squares, and 

by creating new streets and squares as identified within the Coalville Regeneration Strategy. 

7.6.2 The investment plan describes initial design objectives for the four squares, which are 

described previously in this report and have been adopted by NWLDC following the approval 

of the investment plan by the Council’s Cabinet. Each square has been given a priority 

completion level, with one being of the highest priority and three the lowest, which are as 

follows: 

 Marlborough Square (Priority level - 1) 

 Market Place (Priority level – 1) 

 Stenson Green (Priority level – 2) 

 Memorial Square (Priority level – 3) 

7.6.3 The regeneration strategy will be delivered through this Four Streets and Squares 

Investment Plan and the successful implementation of a number of projects (which include 

the four squares) requiring both private and public investment. The plan has generated a 

series of concept plans for the four squares and streets network. These initial concept plans 

have been prepared in response to a series of initial design objectives for these spaces. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

68 
 

7.6.4 It is intended that as funding opportunities arise, or private sector investment is 

forthcoming, these concept proposals are explored and developed in consultation with the 

public and key stakeholders. 

7.7 ‘BUILDING CONFIDENCE IN COALVILLE’ (SEPTEMBER 2015) 

7.7.1 Following the election in May 2015, NWLDC are producing a full scope of works under the 

banner ‘Building Confidence in Coalville’ that is looking at ways the Council can continue to 

support the regeneration of Coalville. The potential areas for consideration and development 

build on work already undertaken in relation to the town centre, particularly the Four 

Squares and Streets investment plan. 

Phase 1 – Stenson Square 

7.7.2 The area of Stenson Square forms the focus of phase 1 of the Building Confidence in 

Coalville project. The phase is split into two parts. Part 1 looks at improvements to the 

Council offices and Part 2 looks at issues surrounding the potential development of Stenson 

Square. The Cabinet gave approval for NWLDC to engage specialist advisors via the Scape 

Major Works Framework, in order to produce a feasibility study looking at options for future 

use and development of the Council Offices and the London Road Car Park. 

7.8 ‘BUILDING CONFIDENCE IN COALVILLE’ (JANUARY 2016 UPDATE) 

7.8.1 A project update was produced in January 2016 that stated how a draft report and 

recommendations for regenerating Stenson Square was produced and the options identified 

will be refined and a final recommendation will be provided in April 2016. 

7.8.2 The update also highlighted how NWLDC is engaging a consultant to conduct an options 

appraisal for the leisure and culture offer of Coalville, looking at health and fitness facilities.  

7.9 COALVILLE MARKET HALL 

7.9.1 One of NWLDC’s main focuses in Coalville is improving the footfall into the Market Hall. A 

new business plan has been prepared for the Market Hall, which is looking at ways of 

improving the market and generating additional economic activity.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

69 
 

7.10 PARKING DEMAND - COALVILLE 

7.10.1 The proposed growth, most notably with the provision of development in the Coalville Urban 

Area identified within the Local Plan will increase the number of residents in the local area. 

Additionally the proposals set out in the Regeneration Strategy have the main aim of 

bringing back footfall in the town centre and increasing the length of stay, improving the 

flow of vehicles and pedestrians around the town through development of new controlled 

green space / squares and constructing new infrastructure such as the new vehicular and 

pedestrian bridge over the railway line. The increase in housing, along with the proposed 

redevelopment of retail/pedestrian/employment areas and the evening/leisure economy 

could transform the town centre and increase the number of visitors looking to park in the 

town centre. 

7.11 FUTURE GROWTH - ASHBY 

7.11.1 As identified in Policy S2, Ashby has been identified as a ‘Key Service Centre’, where a 

significant amount of development will take place but of a lower scale than in Coalville. 

7.11.2 As shown in Policy H1 and H2, there are a number of sites within Ashby that have planning 

permission or where planning permission is being sought. In total, Ashby has planning 

permission for 559 dwellings (Table 5) and the Council is resolved to grant planning 

permission for a further 275 dwellings (Table 6). Arguably more importantly, land for 1,750 

dwellings to the north of Ashby has been allocated for future development.  

7.11.3 In total, if all the developments set out in H1, H2 and H3 for Ashby are constructed, there 

could be an extra 2,584 dwellings in the local area by 2031 (not including developments 

under 10 dwellings). 

7.12 ASHBY LOCAL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (2016 – 2031) 

7.12.1 The Ashby Pre-Submission Consultation Draft Local Neighbourhood Plan (Oct 2015) has 

been prepared by the Ashby-de-la-Zouch Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, which has 

been led by Ashby-de-la-Zouch Town Council.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

70 
 

7.12.2 In the absence of a District-wide apportionment methodology, a target of 1,434 new homes 

has been developed within the Neighbourhood Plan, which has been established on a pro-

rata split of the 10,700 allocation for the district as a whole. 

7.12.3 So far, 1,376 new homes have been built between April 2011 and April 2015, almost 

reaching the 2031 target. Policy H2 of the NWL Local Plan suggests the 1,434 target will be 

surpassed by the continued dwelling development planned. 

7.12.4 The Neighbourhood Plan describes how a study carried out by NWLDC states that “Ashby 

was shown to be performing well, with a low vacancy rate, a well maintained town centre 

and a good variety of retailers with a mix of national multiples and specialist independents”. 

Although the plan does not have any specific measures for improving what is already a 

thriving town centre, the Neighbourhood Plan is committed to maintaining and enhancing 

the attractiveness of the town centre. The Town Council recognises that car parking is a 

serious issue, and that responses to it need to be explored and developed.   

7.13 PARKING DEMAND - ASHBY  

7.13.1 Similar to Coalville, the increase in dwellings in the town will result in an increase in the 

number of residents and visitors wanting to park in a thriving and busy town centre. 

However, the opportunity for growth in Ashby may not be as significant as in Coalville 

because the town centre is already popular so the potential for further growth could be 

more limited than it is in Coalville. 

7.13.2 Unlike Coalville, Ashby’s car parks are already operating close to, if not at, capacity, and any 

increase in drivers wanting to park in Ashby will result in an increase in the gap between 

parking supply and demand, with residents and visitors finding it harder to find a car 

parking space if the provision of parking space does not increase. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

71 
 

8 FUTURE PARKING DEMAND FORECASTS 

8.1 INTRODUCTION 

8.1.1 An assessment of future parking demand has been undertaken up to 2031 to take into 

consideration the future growth outlined in the previous section. 

8.1.2 Parking demand is based on a number of factors which mean estimating future parking 

demand is not a straightforward exercise. Future parking demand is influenced by factors 

such as: 

 Availability of parking – if parking is plentiful, people are more likely to drive to 

an area. If parking is in short supply, drivers may travel by an alternative mode 

or may even be discouraged from visiting an area altogether. Any latent demand 

in such instances will be unknown. 

 Sustainable travel options – if attractive alternatives to the private car are 

available, people are more likely to travel by alternative modes to the private car. 

This could reduce parking demand. 

 Parking charges – if parking charges are considered to be too high, people may 

be put off from driving to an area. They may choose to travel by an alternative 

mode, go elsewhere or may be discouraged from visiting an area altogether. 

 Growth of the internet – an increasing number of everyday tasks can now be 

undertaken without having to travel and the internet provides information on the 

availability of parking spaces. As the internet continues to evolve this will impact 

upon travel patterns and parking demand. 

 Town/village centre offering - catchment area size may increase/decrease over 

the years as a result of growth/decline of that area or of competing areas. This 

will have implications for parking demand in an area. 

 Population growth and relocation – as population increases and moves, demand 

for goods and services will increase and change. These people will be free to 

travel where they like and will not necessarily choose their closest destination. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

72 
 

8.2 METHODOLOGY 

8.2.1 In order to estimate the future parking demand in each of the study areas, the starting 

point is TEMPro growth factors. TEMPro is a software program approved by the Department 

for Transport as being suitable for estimating growth in traffic and is based on an assumed 

level of future development across the particular TEMPro area. The TEMPro based approach 

has been used for all of the study area locations. A new version of TEMPro has recently 

been issued (Version 7.0) that provides an up to date forecast of expected growth in 

different areas of the District.   

8.2.2 Growth factors have been obtained for each of the study area locations and applied to the 

parking occupancy data presented earlier in this report in order to provide an estimate of 

future parking demand. This approach is based on an assumption that parking demand in 

each of the study area locations will be in proportion to population growth in the District.  

8.2.3 It is acknowledged that whilst TEMPro provides a good basis for estimating growth across 

the whole District, it may not necessarily reflect the location of growth as identified in the 

emerging Local Plan. The parking demand associated with these growth areas is difficult to 

forecast. Transport Assessments have been prepared for many developments in the District; 

these do not provide details of public parking demand throughout the day for the study area 

locations. The TEMPro growth factors forecasting the level of growth are shown in Table 

11. 

Table 11 – TEMPro Growth Forecasts 

Location 

Forecast Traffic Growth 

2016 - 2031 

Average Weekday Saturday 

Ashby 17.9% 18.7% 

Coalville 19.6% 19.6% 

Castle Donington 18.8% 19.6% 

Kegworth 19.8% 21.4% 

Measham 18.1% 18.7% 

Whitwick 16.6% 16.6% 

Ibstock 16.9% 17.0% 

NWL District Average 17.6% 18.1% 

8.2.4 As demonstrated in Table 11, TEMPro growth factors are similar for each of the study area 

locations. The growth factors have been compared with the housing growth targets for NWL 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

73 
 

District. Based on the number of households being 39,128 at the time of the 2011 Census 

and a new Local Plan target of an additional 10,400 new homes between 2011 and 2031, 

this represents a 26.6% increase in housing over the period between 2011 and 2031 

(approximately 1.3% per year). TEMPro factors of 18% for the period 2015 to 2028 (1.2% 

per year) are therefore broadly in line with housing growth targets for the District as a 

whole.  

8.2.5 The car park surveys were carried out on a Saturday and the TEMPro analysis shows that 

traffic growth on Saturdays is expected to be higher than the average weekday, so the use 

of Saturday data represents a robust forecast of demand in the future. On this basis TEMPro 

growth factors in Table 11 are considered to be a sound basis for estimating future parking 

demand. 

8.2.6 When considering the above, alongside the complex range of factors influencing parking 

demand, as well as the need to encourage sustainable travel, it is considered that the 

TEMPro growth forecasts are a reasonable basis for estimating future parking demand and 

no further increase in demand should be made to account for individual developments. 

Increasing demand further in order to represent individual developments is likely to result in 

an over-estimate of future parking demand and would result in an over-provision of parking 

which would be against current transport policy to encourage sustainable travel. 

8.2.7 It is important to recognise that the calculations in this section show some parking locations 

to be over 100% occupied. In practice, if a car park or street is fully occupied, vehicles will 

be displaced to another car park or will park on-street (perhaps in an area where on-street 

parking may not be desirable). In these circumstances it is useful to consider the total car 

park capacity across the whole town or village, which shows the overall capacity for users to 

transfer to a different car park. 

8.2.8 The approach estimates future parking demand based on ‘typical’ periods of the year rather 

than peak periods such as Christmas (except at tourist sites where peak periods are 

considered). It would be inappropriate to assess demand and present recommendations for 

peak periods of the year because this is likely to result in an over-provision of parking 

spaces. An over-provision of parking spaces would be against current transport policy aimed 

at encouraging sustainable travel. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

74 
 

8.3 ASHBY FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.3.1 An estimate of future parking demand in Ashby based on TEMPro growth factors is 

presented in Table 13. Future occupancy levels have been estimated by applying the 

growth in Table 11 to the 2016 occupancy levels recorded in parking beat and spot check 

surveys. The occupancies are colour-coded with a red-amber-green rating to help show 

where car parks are at or approaching full capacity. Green numbers indicate that occupancy 

is below the CIHT recommended threshold of 85% occupancy, amber numbers indicate 

occupancies between 85% and 100% where users are likely to find it increasingly difficult to 

find a parking space and red numbers indicates where a car park is likely to be full. 

8.3.2 Whilst applying the same level of growth at each car park may have limitations, this 

approach is considered acceptable for estimating future parking demand as it is the overall 

occupancy level in Ashby that is the key piece of information.  

Table 12 – Existing Parking Demand in Ashby (Typical Saturday) 

Time 10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 

North Street 74% 100% 92% 89% 100% 88% 

North Street Ext 18% 55% 100% 73% 0% 0% 

South Street 96% 96% 98% 100% 95% 88% 

Brook Street 90% 100% 90% 100% 100% 80% 

Hood Leisure Centre 92% 82% 72% 71% 59% 52% 

Bakery Court  85% 100% 92% 77% 62% 62% 

Library 13% 90% 73% 60% 70% 50% 

Market St North 94% 100% 100% 94% 94% 88% 

Market St South 86% 95% 91% 95% 91% 95% 

TOTAL ASHBY 79% 91% 86% 83% 78% 70% 

Table 13 – Forecast Parking Demand in Ashby (2031) 

Time 10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 

North Street 87% 118% 109% 106% 118% 104% 

North Street Ext 22% 65% 118% 86% 0% 0% 

South Street 114% 114% 116% 118% 112% 104% 

Brook Street 107% 118% 107% 118% 118% 95% 

Hood Leisure Centre 109% 97% 85% 84% 70% 61% 

Bakery Court  100% 118% 109% 91% 73% 73% 

Library 16% 107% 87% 71% 83% 59% 

Market St North 111% 118% 118% 111% 111% 104% 

Market St South 102% 113% 108% 113% 108% 113% 

TOTAL ASHBY 93% 108% 102% 98% 93% 83% 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

75 
 

8.3.3 The results show that demand is already reaching capacity across the combined car parks in 

the town, with the only significant spare capacity in the Leisure Centre car park. Note that 

the Royal Hotel and Co-op car parks are excluded from these figures and there is likely to be 

some spare capacity in those car parks. 

8.3.4 The 2031 future year forecast shows that demand will exceed supply in all car parks. If total 

occupancy across all car parks were to be brought down to the recommended maximum of 

85% it would require the provision of 403 parking spaces (Forecast demand 343/Supply 403 

= 85%). This represents an increase of 85 spaces above the 318 spaces that are currently 

provided. This extra is expected to be provided by the proposed Health Centre car park and 

the potential Money Hill development car park, subject to final agreements.  

8.4 COALVILLE FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.4.1 During the period between 2016 and 2031 there are a number of likely changes to parking 

numbers in Coalville that need to be taken into account when considering future parking 

demand. The following tables show the existing occupancy levels and the forecast demand 

in 2031 when the TEMPro growth factors are applied. 

Table 14 – Existing Parking Demand in Coalville (Typical Saturday) 

Time 10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 

Market Hall Free 99% 100% 100% 100% 98% 

Market Hall 62% 73% 83% 66% 52% 

Needhams Walk 36% 70% 56% 48% 32% 

Bridge Road 14% 21% 26% 19% 12% 

North Service Road 77% 82% 70% 78% 76% 

Margaret Street 86% 95% 84% 53% 65% 

Marlboro. Square 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

James Street 47% 48% 45% 40% 28% 

TOTAL COALVILLE 50% 60% 59% 52% 44% 

 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

76 
 

Table 15 – Forecast Parking Demand in Coalville (2031) 

Time 10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 

Market Hall Free 118% 120% 120% 120% 117% 

Market Hall 74% 88% 99% 79% 62% 

Needhams Walk 43% 84% 68% 58% 39% 

Bridge Road 17% 25% 31% 23% 14% 

North Service Road 92% 99% 84% 94% 90% 

Margaret Street 103% 114% 100% 64% 78% 

Marlboro. Square 120% 120% 120% 120% 120% 

James Street 56% 58% 54% 47% 33% 

TOTAL COALVILLE 60% 72% 70% 62% 53% 

8.4.2 The results show that overall there is adequate spare capacity in the car parks under 

existing and future conditions. The 2031 future year forecast shows that demand will 

exceed supply in the Market Hall Free car park, Margaret Street and Marlborough Square 

but there are plenty of spare spaces in the nearby car parks for users to transfer to. 

8.4.3 This suggests that some car park capacity could be released without a large risk of creating 

a shortfall in the future. The maximum occupancy across the town in 2031 would be 72% so 

to remove some spaces but keep within the CIHT recommended occupancy of 85% it would 

be possible to remove approximately 100 parking spaces to meet existing demand or 

remove 200 parking spaces and still be within 100% capacity.  

8.4.4 This ignores the additional demand that would be created by any new development built on 

the redeveloped car park, but that demand could be assumed to be included in the 2016-

2031 growth forecasts.  

8.4.5 Therefore, a significant area of the existing car parks (e.g. Bridge Road or Needhams Walk) 

could be redeveloped without jeopardizing future parking requirements. 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

77 
 

8.5 CASTLE DONINGTON FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.5.1 The forecast developments in the District and background changes in travel behaviour are 

expected to have the following impact on the demand for parking across the combined car 

parks in Castle Donington.  

Figure 19 – Castle Donington Future Demand 

 

8.5.2 The forecast shows that the car parks are already approaching capacity at the busiest times 

and the additional growth by 2031 will mean there will be no available parking spaces in the 

village. The only available space may be in the Pharmacy car park, but this is a private car 

park that has not been included in the overall figures because it is outside of the Council’s 

control.  

8.5.3 Approximately 20 additional parking spaces would be required in Castle Donington to 

provide adequate capacity for the forecast increase in demand. This excludes any changes 

in the supply and use of on-street parking spaces.  

  

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

Capacity 08:40 10:50 12:40 14:20 

P
ar

ki
n

g 
sp

ac
e

s 

2031 

2016 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

78 
 

8.6 IBSTOCK FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.6.1 The forecast developments and background changes in travel behaviour are expected to 

have the following impact on the demand for parking across the combined car parks in 

Ibstock.  

Figure 20 – Ibstock Future Demand 

 

8.6.2 The results show that there is likely to be some spare capacity across the town in the future, 

located in the High Street car park. 

  

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

Capacity 10:00 11:40 13:30 15:15 

P
ar

ki
n

g 
Sp

ac
e

s 

2031 

2016 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

79 
 

8.7 MEASHAM FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.7.1 Current usage of the Measham car parks is well below the available capacity and even with 

future growth the car parks would continue to be adequate.  

Figure 21 – Measham Future Demand 

 

8.8 WHITWICK FUTURE PARKING DEMAND 

8.8.1 Current usage of the Whitwick car parks is well below the available capacity and with future 

growth the car parks would continue to be adequate. 

Figure 22 – Whitwick Future Demand 

 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

Capacity 10:20 12:00 13:50 15:30 

P
ar

ki
n

g 
Sp

ac
e

s 

2031 

2016 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

Capacity 09:30 11:20 13:10 15:00 

P
ar

ki
n

g 
Sp

ac
e

s 

2031 

2016 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

80 
 

9 PARKING POLICY AND STRATEGY OPTIONS 

9.1 INTRODUCTION 

9.1.1 A wide range of policy tools exist to enable the Parking Strategy to support other policies in 

the District and achieve their objectives. Consultation with the public and stakeholders plus 

research and experience from other parking strategies and measures implemented in the UK 

has been used to develop a list of possible changes to the existing parking strategy.  

9.1.2 These potential interventions that have been assessed on an independent basis without any 

pre-conceptions. An assessment of the impacts of these policies in other places and their 

appropriateness to NWLDC is presented in the following section. The potential strategy tools 

are presented in Table 16. 

Table 16 – Potential Parking Policies 

 Parking Strategy Area 

1 Off-street car park capacity 

2 Tariff Charging Options 

3 Long and Short Stay Parking 

4 On-street parking issues 

5 Resident Permit Parking 

6 Sustainable Transport 

7 Parking standards and new development 

8 Enforcement 

9 Condition, Facilities, Technology, Security and Maintenance 

10 Potential for regeneration projects on car park land 

11 Management of Parking Services 

12 Specialist Parking 

13 Parking at Special events and times 

14 Marketing and Promotions 

15 Park and Ride 

16 
Tailored package of strategy tools for each town/village in 
the District 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

81 
 

9.2 PARKING STRATEGY ASSESSMENT 

9.2.1 Each of the potential interventions has been assessed in the following section to 

demonstrate their likely effects in the context of the district and NWLDC operations.  

9.2.2 Many of the potential parking interventions are related to each other, for instance the 

parking charges have a direct relationship with demand and many other factors affect 

demand as well so these factors have to be considered together.  

9.2.3 The interventions have been assessed with reference to a series of indicators, including: 

 Economic Indicators (e.g. footfall, expenditure, vacancy rates) 

 Regeneration efforts / Land Availability 

 Traffic movements 

 Conservation and environmental  

 Council parking operations 

9.3 POLICY OPTION 1: CAR PARK CAPACITY  

9.3.1 The assessment of future parking needs in the previous chapter highlighted where there is 

expected to be shortfalls in parking space in the future. The need to adjust the amount of 

parking space that is provided is presented in the following sections for each of the main 

towns in the District. 

9.3.2 In summary the capacity assessment of the main centres shows that: 

 There is a lack of parking capacity in the centres of Ashby, Castle Donington, 

Kegworth and Ibstock that is expected to get worse in the future; 

 There is adequate off-street parking in Measham and Whitwick and this is 

expected to meet demand in the future (unless unexpected circumstances occur); 

 Coalville has an over-supply of parking space that is unlikely to be required now or 

in the short-medium term. 

Car Park Capacity in Coalville 

9.3.3 Chapter 8 showed that current car park occupancy is low and that, although it is expected 

to increase due to forecast development in the town and other factors that affect parking 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

82 
 

behaviour, there is still likely to be an excess of parking space in the town centre in the 

future. 

9.3.4 A reduction in the number of off street parking spaces in Coalville is therefore a viable policy 

option because of the current over supply of parking space. Some of the current car parks 

are not very well used so the removal of these spaces is not likely to have an effect on the 

attractiveness of the town centre. The space could then be used for other purposes that are 

more productive for the town as a whole. 

9.3.5 However, the growth of the town centre economy and potential increase in demand for 

parking must be considered. An adequate amount of car park capacity needs to be retained 

to provide enough space for the successful regeneration of the town, but retaining too much 

could stifle that very regeneration. The aim is to achieve the best balance between these 

two factors. 

9.3.6 The main change that will affect parking demand will be the provision of a better town 

centre offer, in terms of improved shops, services, leisure industry and environment. Parking 

has a relatively small role to play in supporting the regeneration efforts and reducing car 

park prices alone will have a limited impact. This is not to say that it should not be done but 

it is a small part of a wider package of measures. 

9.3.7 It is considered that the regeneration of Coalville should be the Council’s top priority so if 

parking land has to be lost in order to provide the space for regeneration then the risk of a 

future lack of supply could be considered to be a risk worth taking. A future lack of supply 

could be addressed if that were ever to occur.  

9.3.8 The capacity assessment shows that even with an 18% growth from 2016 to 2031 there is 

still likely to be a surplus of unused parking spaces.  

9.3.9 The impact on Council parking operations of reducing the amount of parking spaces in the 

short term is likely to be negligible. Effectively the proposal will remove some empty spaces, 

so there will be little loss of parking income and little impact on enforcement costs. If the 

car park land could be used for a successful regeneration scheme there would be benefits 

for neighbouring businesses if overall footfall and trade could be increased. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

83 
 

9.3.10 The removal of maintenance liability would also be beneficial to the Council. If the surplus 

land were redeveloped there would be a benefit to overall budgets through the sale of land 

and additional income from town centre regeneration.  

Recommended Approach for Car Park Capacity in Coalville 

9.3.11 Some of the existing car park space could be redeveloped for alternative uses. It has been 

calculated that approximately 100 spaces could be lost without much risk of leaving a 

shortfall by 2031. 

9.3.12 The least well used car park in the central area is Bridge Road where maximum occupancy 

at the busiest times is currently less than 30%. The car park is well located in a central 

position, adjacent to the Belvoir Centre and Market Hall and it is joined to two other large 

car parks that users could easily transfer to. The tariffs of the remaining car parks may need 

to be adjusted to allow some long stay parking. 

9.3.13 The other car parks that are not very well used are James Street and Needhams Walk with 

maximum Saturday occupancy of approximately 50% and 70% respectively.  If James 

Street were to be redeveloped for other uses it would leave that part of the town centre 

without a convenient car park so that is not the preferred approach and the car park may 

become more popular if the Marlborough Square regeneration scheme is successful. 

9.3.14 The development of Needhams Walk would be a viable alternative to Bridge Road; there are 

adjoining car parks so users could transfer to the Bridge Road or Market Hall car parks if 

Needhams Walk were removed. The only downside to that proposal is that Needhams Walk 

is closer to the town centre for pedestrians, which is presumably why more people currently 

prefer to park there, given that it is the same price as Bridge Road. Removing the more 

convenient car park for town centre pedestrians may not be the best approach. 

9.3.15 One major problem with using Bridge Road or Needhams Walk for regeneration would be 

the access roads into the area. The current access roads are not suitable to carry much 

additional traffic because of the main access on to High Street or the rear entrance via 

Bridge Road. The High Street access junction is constrained by the existing buildings 

surrounding the junction and it gets very congested at busy times. The Bridge Road 

entrance is constrained by the residential nature of the road and its side roads which are 

narrow and have on-street parking and residential properties on both sides. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

84 
 

9.3.16 If car park land at Bridge Road / Needhams Walk were to be used for regeneration the 

access roads into the site would need to be improved, and that would be part of the 

planning application process for such a development, rather than this Parking Strategy. 

Car Park Capacity in Ashby 

9.3.17 An increase in the number of off street parking spaces in Ashby is the recommended policy 

option because of the current lack of parking space at busy times. At present the difficulty 

of finding a parking space is a constraint on the town centre economy as people may be 

discouraged from shopping or visiting the town centre. The reality or perception that it is 

difficult to park may cause people to shop or visit other towns or the out of town retailers.  

9.3.18 Section 8 showed that approximately 85 additional parking spaces would be required to 

meet the increase in demand by 2031 in the car parks that were surveyed (i.e. excluding 

the Co-op and Royal Hotel car parks). This would be a 27% increase in the number of 

spaces in these car parks. 

9.3.19 The provision of more parking spaces is not just a blunt instrument to provide more 

capacity. It will need to be done in parallel with other initiatives to improve the use of non-

car modes and to increase the turnover of the existing parking spaces to use them more 

effectively. There is a package of measures that will address the parking problem in Ashby, 

and building more spaces is just one important element of this package. 

9.3.20 Car park capacity is related to road traffic congestion and the ability to park is just one 

element of the whole journey into the town centre. Additional parking is likely to lead to 

additional vehicle trips and additional congestion in the town centre although increasing 

availability might conversely reduce localised congestion in some areas of the town centre 

by reducing the number of vehicles circulating whilst searching for parking spaces. This is a 

recognised consequence of increasing town centre parking availability. People that may be 

currently dissuaded from visiting Ashby because it is hard to park would be attracted back 

to the town. However, one of the potential downsides of increasing the available space to 

park is that additional traffic could cause severe impacts on a congested road network and 

damage the town centre environment. This is why additional measures will be required to 

limit the impacts of the potential increases in town centre traffic. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

85 
 

9.3.21 One option is to provide more off-street parking space and reduce the amount of on-street 

parking. This could provide the opportunity to implement a public realm scheme, in Market 

Street for instance, that would provide an improvement to the town centre environment by 

removing the parking on Market Street and providing more space for pedestrians and 

environmental improvements. Schemes to improve Market Street have been considered in 

the past but were eventually rejected. The localised impact on traders and services 

operating in the town centre of adopting such an approach would need to be carefully 

considered. 

9.3.22 Parking in non-central locations was also raised during the consultation, particularly with 

reference to the Coalfield Way business park. Options to relieve the pressure of inadequate 

parking need to be assessed urgently because it is detrimental to the operation of the park. 

9.3.23 New parking spaces could have an environmental impact in terms of their visual, noise and 

air quality impacts. The visual impact of car parks can be mitigated to some extent but there 

is a limit to what can be achieved, especially with multi-storey car parks. The location of the 

car park and its detailed design would need to minimise these environmental impacts. 

9.3.24 There are other ways to increase car park capacity without building more spaces. If the 

existing spaces can be used more efficiently this could provide some of the extra parking 

spaces that are required and reduce the negative effects of car park construction. In long 

stay car parks users are occupying car park spaces for the whole day but if the tariff is 

changed to prevent long stay parking the spaces could be used more intensively for short 

stay trips. The number of times each car park space is then used per day would increase 

and the overall capacity of the car park and its value to the town centre economy is thus 

increased. This option is discussed in the following sections.    

9.3.25 There are a number of existing car parks that are not currently being used for public, town 

centre parking, including Ivanhoe College, Venture Theatre and various other schools in the 

town. The possibility of expanding and increasing the use of these car parks needs to be 

explored in greater depth. 

9.3.26 Additional long stay parking may then need to be provided elsewhere but it may be possible 

to locate this further out of the town centre because people who are parking for the whole 

day are often willing to walk a little further than those doing a short stay trip.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

86 
 

Recommended Approach for Car Park Capacity in Ashby 

9.3.27 The provision of new parking spaces in town centres has taken place in virtually all town 

centres over the years and the capacity assessments and consultation with the public and 

stakeholders suggests that this is a policy that would be successful and well-received. 

9.3.28 What needs to be avoided is where an increase in the number of spaces leads to 

unexpected consequences and a reduction in economic activity due to additional traffic or 

damage to the town centre environment. Although there are clear benefits of providing 

more space in the town centre it still has to be consistent with the sustainable long term 

transport strategy. 

9.3.29 An increase in parking space in Ashby could be operationally viable in terms of the Council’s 

budget because the forecast long term increase in revenue income could offset the capital 

costs, operational costs and ongoing maintenance costs.  The main issues are likely to be 

the difficulty of identifying suitable sites, the initial construction costs and the traffic impacts 

on the road network of creating new car park capacity. 

9.3.30 A review of potential sites for new or expanded car parks has been undertaken but this 

strategy does not include recommendations for the actual plots of land to be used because 

this is commercially sensitive information and circumstances and land availability could 

change quickly as new opportunities arise.  

9.3.31 The option to expand the capacity of the existing car parks also needs to be examined 

alongside the provision of new car parks. Existing sites could be expanded by adding more 

levels of parking above the existing surface level, although the costs of multi-storey car 

parks are prohibitively high. 

9.3.32 One committed project is to expand the Leisure Centre car park by using the land occupied 

by the disused Ashby Health Centre on North Street. Land has been acquired by the Council 

to expand the existing car park by approximately 60 spaces. This will go some way towards 

providing the additional space required but more parking spaces are likely to be required in 

the longer term.  

9.3.33 A second new car park could be provided as part of the Money Hill residential development 

to the North-East of the town centre. Discussions are ongoing about the design of the 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

87 
 

proposed car park but it is likely to include 100+ parking spaces that will be accessible from 

the town centre. This could be a good location for displaced long stay parking from the 

more central car parks. 

9.3.34 If the Health Centre car park and the Money Hill car park were provided it is expected to 

meet the forecast demand and further car parks would not be required. There may need to 

be measures to redistribute some of the parking to ensure the car parks are used 

effectively, e.g. by reducing the amount of long stay parking in the central car parks and 

relocating it to Money Hill or the Royal Hotel.  

Parking Capacity in Castle Donington 

9.3.35 Previous chapters have shown that car park capacity in Castle Donington is already reaching 

capacity and the forecast growth in housing and employment will make the situation worse. 

The car parks are largely full during a typical weekday and there is a lot of competition for 

on-street parking spaces, particularly along Borough Street. Consultation results backed up 

these conclusions with the majority of respondents rating the availability of spaces as poor.   

9.3.36 Parking is currently free of charge and it is recommended that this policy should continue. 

To introduce charges in the car parks could damage trade but could also cause a transfer of 

parked cars on to the nearby streets. The village centre is relatively small so that people 

could easily park on street and walk into the centre to avoid any charges applied to the car 

parks. 

9.3.37 The alternative approaches are to provide more off-street parking free of charge to meet 

demand or to install time restrictions on the existing car parks to encourage a greater 

turnover of spaces.  

9.3.38 It may be possible to provide more spaces at the Clapgun car park by creating 2 levels, 

without the need for ramps because of the existing level differences, although it would still 

be a high level of investment at a free car park.  

9.3.39 The other options for providing more off-street parking spaces have been discussed and 

there are some potential sites that could be considered at the next stage of the strategy 

implementation. The options are not assessed in any detail in this strategy because of the 

commercial nature of land ownership and use.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

88 
 

9.3.40 Clearly there would be large cost implications of providing another car park in the village, 

particularly one that would be free of charge with no opportunity to recoup the costs. 

Desirable as such a facility would be it has to be recognised that the Council’s budget may 

not be sufficient to purchase land for a new car park. However, the leasing of land may be 

an option, as is the creation of a Council-run car park on land owned by a third party. 

9.3.41 The final option would be to introduce a time limit on the existing car parks so that they 

would still provide a facility for short stay visits but would prevent people from occupying 

the spaces all day. If commuter parking could be removed from the car park the spaces 

could be used more intensively for short stay parking with overall benefit to the village. 

Commuter parking may move on-street unless some space can be found in a less-central 

location.  

9.3.42 It should be noted that time limited parking and waiting restrictions tend to be costly and 

time-consuming to enforce. Should manual enforcement be required, this would require 

officers to visit the site multiple times to check compliance of each specific vehicle rather 

than simply undertaking random spot checks of ticket purchases to ensure adequate 

enforcement of a similar pay & display system. Furthermore, as there is no income stream 

associated with time-limited restrictions, funding for enforcement would need to be found 

from elsewhere within the Authority’s budget, although this might be considered viable in 

the context of the cost of implementing alternatives – notably delivery of additional off-

street parking supply. 

9.3.43 A minor change would be to remove some or all of the disabled parking bays from the car 

parks. More on-street disabled bays have recently been installed in Borough Street, which is 

much more convenient for the village centre than the car parks are. The use of these bays 

needs to be monitored in more detail and if they are found to be unused then they could be 

converted to standard bays. 

  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

89 
 

Parking Capacity in Kegworth 

9.3.44 Capacity surveys have not been carried out in Kegworth because there are no car parks 

operated by NWLDC, but it is well-recognised that there is a problem with a lack of parking 

capacity because there are no off-street car parks. This was a common comment in the 

consultation responses. The only parking space is currently classed as on-street because it is 

on the highway in the Market Place and is therefore managed by the County Council. This 

area is very busy with parked cars and it is often difficult to park there. 

9.3.45 Additional parking capacity needs to be provided in Kegworth to meet current and future 

needs. One way to achieve this would be to adjust the current time restrictions in the 

Market Place to provide a greater turnover of short stay parking spaces although it should 

be noted that ensuring cost-effective enforcement would likely remain a challenge. Currently 

people can park in some of the spaces all day for no charge, thus occupying a valuable 

space in the centre of the village. If this long stay parking could be relocated it would free-

up these spaces to be used for short-stay visits. 

9.3.46 There is a limit to the effectiveness of this approach and it is recognised that more parking 

space will be required in the future. The scope for providing off-street car parks appears to 

be limited but this should be explored in more detail. Land prices in the village centre are a 

major constraint but the leasing of land rather than purchase could be considered. 

9.3.47 The final consideration is the impact that the Kegworth Bypass is likely to have. A bypass of 

the village centre is proposed as part of the East Midlands Gateway project. This will remove 

a lot of the existing and future traffic from the A6 and the centre of the village which will 

enable changes to be made to the main road and connecting roads to improve the 

environment in the village. This could well include the removal of some parking restrictions 

to provide more on-street parking spaces. A proposed scheme is in preparation that will 

determine the extent of the changes and the impact and opportunities it will have on 

parking. 

Recommended Approach for Car Park Capacity in Kegworth 

9.3.48 Options for providing additional car park capacity in Kegworth need to be explored in more 

detail.  

 Short term changes could be made to the existing on-street parking bays in the 

Market Place to replace long stay parking with short stay. The impact on long stay 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

90 
 

parking and enforcement cost / effectiveness would need to be explored in more 

detail; 

 The impacts and opportunities provided by the Kegworth Bypass on parking and 

traffic in the village centre need to be assessed when the plans are available; 

 The options for providing an off-street car park in the village need to be explored in 

more detail. 

Parking Capacity in Ibstock 

9.3.49 Previous chapters have shown that there is some spare car park capacity in the High Street 

car park but the Gladstone Street car park is usually full during the day. However, 

stakeholder feedback suggests that the High Street car park also gets full on a regular basis. 

If this is the case then there is not much spare capacity to cope with additional demand in 

the future. 

9.3.50 More data may need to be collected that would confirm whether there is a necessity for 

additional off-street parking spaces in the town centre. 

9.3.51 A review of the on-street parking restrictions should be carried out to assess whether there 

is any scope to provide additional parking spaces on-street. Options for the provision of 

additional off-street car parks along High Street may be limited. 

9.3.52 The removal of long term parking from the Gladstone Street car park should be considered, 

however there are likely to be enforcement issues and local opposition if local residents do 

not have alternative parking spaces. 

9.3.53 The recommended approach for car park capacity in Ibstock is: 

 Assuming that off-street capacity is limited now and/or in the future options to 

provide more capacity need to be explored. This includes additional on-street 

parking if it is found to be appropriate or the provision of a new off-street car park; 

 Consider whether the introduction of time restrictions on the Gladstone Street car 

park would provide a car park that better meets the needs of the town centre. 

Parking Capacity in Measham 

9.3.54 Previous chapters have shown that car park capacity in Measham is currently adequate to 

meet demand, although this does rely heavily on the car park space provided in the 

privately owned car park adjoining the Peggs Close public car park. If this car park were to 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

91 
 

be redeveloped it could lead to a shortfall in parking in the central area of the town. The 

other significant car park at the south end of the High Street does have spare capacity but it 

is a relatively long distance from the north end of the High Street. 

9.3.55 Under current conditions there is no need to provide additional car park spaces but this may 

need to be revisited if the Peggs Close private car park were to be developed for an 

alternative use. 

9.3.56 There is a desire to provide more on-street parking spaces on the High Street and this issue 

should be discussed with the County Council. 

9.3.57 Issues relating to the enforcement of on-street parking are discussed in following sections. 

Parking Capacity in Whitwick 

9.3.58 Previous chapters have shown that car park capacity in Whitwick is currently adequate to 

meet demand and should continue to be adequate in the longer term. There is a large car 

park at Silver Street adjoining the leisure centre that always has adequate space to meet 

demand, although this is not ideally placed for the town centre and the other car parks in 

the town also have available space. 

9.3.59 The reduction of parking spaces in the Market Place should be considered because of the 

road safety risk they cause. This area is busy with vehicles, pedestrians, side roads, zebra 

crossing and bus stop and the removal of reversing vehicles would help to reduce the safety 

risk. It would be possible to retain the disabled spaces in this area. 

  
Recommendations 

Provide additional off-street parking capacity to relieve existing and future shortfalls. 

Detailed assessment of all potential options for new car parks (Action 1). 

Ashby - Provide additional off-street parking, approximately 85 new spaces to meet 

forecast demand. Quantify the consequences of this increase on traffic congestion. 

Assess scope to reduce on-street spaces if more off-street spaces are provided, as part 

of a public realm improvement. Provide additional off-street spaces for long stay 

parking if this can be removed from the central car parks. Support schemes to provide 

public car parks at the Health Centre and Money Hill development and carry out new 

surveys when new car parks are open (Actions 24, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31). 

Coalville – Release car park land for redevelopment. Assess all related issues to 

identify preferred site for disposal (e.g. location, vehicle access, usage, pedestrian 

accessibility) (Actions 13 and 33). 

 

 

 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

92 
 

9.4 POLICY OPTION 2 : ADJUST THE COST OF PARKING 

9.4.1 An effective way to manage the use of car parks is to change the cost of parking by 

adjusting the tariff. Research by TRL for the Department for Transport shows that new or 

increased cost of parking has the following effects: 

 Increased turnover of the most convenient parking spaces. This increases consumer 

convenience, facilitates deliveries, and reduces cruising for parking (searching for an 

unoccupied space); 

 Reducing the number of spaces needed to meet demand, reducing the total parking 

costs and allowing more compact development; 

 Encouraging long-stay parkers to use less convenient spaces (such as off-street or 

urban fringe), and encourages travellers (particularly commuters) to use alternative 

modes when possible; 

 Reducing total vehicle traffic and therefore problems such as traffic congestion, 

accidents, energy consumption and pollution emissions; 

Recommendations continued 

Castle Donington - Explore opportunities to provide more off-street parking, including 

the lease and purchase of land and the potential expansion of Clapgun Street car park. 

Provide alternative space for long stay parking if this can be removed from central car 

parks. Remove disabled spaces from car parks if surveys confirm they are not used 

(Actions 38, 39 and 40). 

Kegworth – Options for providing a new car park to be assessed. Assess whether 

converting long stay on-street parking in Market Place to short stay is advisable. Assess 

impacts and timescales of A6 Kegworth Bypass scheme and the scope it has to provide 

more on-street spaces (Actions 41, 42 and 43). 

Ibstock – Explore options to provide more capacity including additional on-street 

parking or the provision of a new off-street car park. Consider whether time restrictions 

on the Gladstone Street car park would provide a car park that better meets the needs 

of the town centre (Action 46). 

Measham – Investigate whether more on-street spaces could be provided on High 

Street (Action 48). 

Whitwick – Reduce the number of parking spaces in the Marketplace to reduce road 

safety risks (Action 49). 

 

 

 

 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

93 
 

 Generating revenue; ensuring that users pay a greater share of municipal road and 

parking costs.  

9.4.2 These are the standard principles behind the introduction of parking charges but the 

question now is whether parking charges should be changed to help achieve some of the 

Council’s objectives in Ashby and Coalville. 

9.4.3 The introduction of parking charges in car parks outside of Ashby and Coalville is not 

proposed in this strategy because of the risk that drivers would park on-street instead, to 

the detriment of road safety. 

9.4.4 The reduction of parking charges is a valid policy that has been considered. Consultation has 

shown that many people see a reduction in parking charges as a potential boost to local 

trade but the question is whether the benefits outweigh the loss of income to the Council. 

Evidence gathered in Phase 1 of this project showed that the links between parking charges 

and economic growth are not clearcut and that there are much larger factors that affect the 

attractiveness of town centres.  

9.4.5 The current parking charges are relatively low in comparison with many nearby local 

authorities so the savings to car park users if charges were reduced or removed will also be 

limited. Even if charges were abolished, the question is whether savings of 50p for 1 hour or 

80p for 2 hours would influence many people to travel to the town centre more often, stay 

longer and spend more money while they are there.  It would not do any harm to local 

trade but it would remove the income stream that allows the Council to maintain and 

improve the car parks. 

9.4.6 The following sections present the likely effects of changes in parking charge in different 

locations. 

Parking Charges in Coalville 

9.4.7 An increase in the cost of long or short stay parking in Coalville is not considered to 

be a viable option because this is likely to damage the attractiveness of the town. An 

increase in charges is likely to dissuade some people from visiting the town centre and make 

it more expensive for commuters. This solution may be an appropriate method of reducing 

parking demand, but that is not an issue in Coalville. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

94 
 

9.4.8 An increase in the cost of long stay parking spaces in Coalville is not a viable option because 

demand for long stay parking is already low and this policy would make that worse. Only 

6% of tickets sold in Coalville in 2015 were for long stay parking. 

9.4.9 Reducing the cost of short stay parking in Coalville is a viable policy option if it 

stimulates activity and the local economy. It could lead to an increase in demand for 

parking, but only if the town centre regeneration also stimulates extra economic activity. 

The cost of short term parking is relatively low so it is probably only having a minor effect 

on travel behaviour. 

9.4.10 Free parking is a tool that has been introduced in many other locations, for the whole day or 

at particular times, but it is very difficult to point to conclusive evidence to say this will 

definitely boost footfall and the economy and that the cost to the Council of doing it is worth 

the benefit.  

9.4.11 It is recommended that the standard parking tariff is not changed in Coalville but charges 

should be reduced to support specific initiatives and that reviews of usage should continue 

and the option to amend tariffs if necessary is established at this stage. 

Parking Charges in Ashby 

9.4.12 The effects of an increase in short term parking charges in Ashby need to be 

considered carefully. It is a recognised method of managing parking demand where demand 

is very high, in city centres for instance and it may lead to a quicker turnover of parking 

spaces or encourage a transfer of cars to a long stay car park. However, the negative 

effects on a town centre such as Ashby may outweigh any benefits. Discouraging short term 

retail, leisure or other purpose trips could be harmful to the local economy overall and is not 

recommended at this stage.  

9.4.13 There may be specific locations where demand is high and a quick turnover of spaces is 

desirable (e.g. Brook Street car park) and where short term increases in charges would be 

beneficial. Encouraging drivers to park in other car parks could be a legitimate aim so 

tailoring the tariff of certain car parks could achieve this. However, a blanket increase in the 

short term tariff across all car parks is not recommended.  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

95 
 

9.4.14 Reducing the cost of short stay parking in Ashby is not a strong option, because it is 

likely to create additional demand for parking that cannot be provided by the existing car 

parks. It could be a more viable option if a reduction in cost were applied alongside the 

provision of new car parks.  

9.4.15 An increase in the cost of long stay parking that leads to the relocation of long stay 

parking in Ashby is a valid policy approach that would deliver some desirable impacts in the 

town centre. It is likely to free up space for more short stay parking that has the potential to 

help generate greater economic activity in the town centre.  

9.4.16 Many local authorities have reduced the amount of town centre long stay parking by 

increasing its cost in order to increase the available space for short stay parking. People that 

park for a long time, such as commuters, may be more prepared to park in non-central 

locations and walk to work if they are able. Some long stay space for disabled users would 

need to be retained in the town centre. 

9.4.17 The parking tariffs in Council car parks in Ashby are the same for short stay parking but 

three of the car parks also allow long stay parking (£2 for parking over 3 hours). This is low 

compared with the price of long stay in most of the neighbouring local authorities.  

9.4.18 The South Street car park allows long stay parking but is also very convenient for the town 

centre for short stay visitors. If long stay parking were made more expensive in the South 

Street car park it would encourage long stay users to park elsewhere and provide more 

capacity for short stay in a prime location. The impact would be the relocation of long stay 

parking which would need somewhere else to park, assuming that a shift to non-car modes 

would be limited in number. A transfer of long stay parking to on-street parking would not 

be desirable, so there needs to be adequate off-street capacity to accommodate the long 

stay users and the Traffic Regulation Orders may need to be amended to prevent this. 

9.4.19 As discussed in the previous section, the provision of a new car park at Money Hill may 

provide the opportunity to provide more long stay parking within a convenient walking 

distance of the town centre and the existing Royal Hotel car park is an alternative location 

for long stay parking. 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

96 
 

Operational Impacts of Different Tariffs 

9.4.20 In simple terms an increase in the cost of parking could lead to an increase in revenue 

income, unless the price increase led to a reduction in the number of people using the car 

parks. The most profitable balance of cost and supply may not be the best option in terms 

of the town centre economy if higher prices lead to a lower footfall.  

9.4.21 In Coalville 27,331 long stay tickets were sold in 2015 so an increase to £3 per day could 

generate an extra £27,331. These figures are additional to the Council staff that use parking 

permits but staff without a permit may be paying for long stay parking and they would be 

included.  

9.4.22 However, if prices were to increase then some long stay users may change behaviour and 

park elsewhere but if the relocation of long stay parking led to more space for short stay 

then overall income could rise even further because of the increased turnover and yield of 

each short stay parking space. This may be the case in Ashby where parking space is in 

short supply but not in Coalville.  

9.4.23 Reductions in the cost of short stay parking could stimulate demand in Coalville and Ashby. 

Whether that would lead to an overall increase in revenue is difficult to forecast, there will 

be more users but they will be paying a lower charge. Greater demand would also lead to 

an increase in enforcement costs and FPN income. If demand exceeds supply in Ashby it is 

also likely to add to the issues and complaints from users and businesses about a lack of 

parking space. 

Adjust Hours of Charging 

9.4.24 Parking charges apply in the District between 8am and 5pm, Monday to Saturday. These 

hours could be changed to stimulate activity at the times of the day or week that are 

considered to be a priority.  

9.4.25 The options to consider are whether the weekday hours of operation could be reduced, 

different hours should apply on Saturdays and the possibility of introducing Sunday charges. 

Different tariffs could be appropriate for different car parks. 

9.4.26 Reduced hours of charging could lead to an increase in demand during that time or even 

across the whole day. This would be beneficial in Coalville but could cause increased 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

97 
 

capacity problems in Ashby at busy times. Reduced charging hours would lead to a 

reduction in the level of enforcement required so there would be a revenue saving. There 

would also be a reduction in parking revenue income during those times and PCN income. 

9.4.27 Many authorities have introduced a scheme to attract customers in the afternoon, through 

their ‘Free After Three’ scheme. The idea is to increase footfall for the late afternoon retail 

economy and the evening leisure economy. Other local authorities in the area have free 

parking for the first hour to stimulate demand for short visits. 

9.4.28 The recommendation is that the hours of charging could be adjusted as part of initiatives to 

stimulate demand at particular times of the day and week. This could include the Free After 

Three initiative or at specific times on Saturdays 

More Flexible Parking Tariffs 

9.4.29 The use of flexible parking tariffs is an option that needs to be considered. Tariffs can be 

adjusted by location, over time or for specific events to achieve desirable changes in travel 

behaviour. Where car parks are under or over-used, incremental changes in tariff can be 

used to attract more users or to reduce demand where car parks are full. New technology 

may help to communicate changes in tariff and the ability to make short term changes. 

Variable signs, improved pay station equipment and increased use of online and mobile 

technology can be used to enable more flexibility in changing tariffs to match demand. 

9.4.30 Before this approach can be taken forward the issue of whether different tariffs can be 

applied across the District needs to be explored. Currently the tariffs are largely the same 

across all car parks (the only major variation being whether long stay parking is allowed). 

Given the differences in demand and the needs of the local economy it is likely that different 

tariffs would be appropriate in different locations. This concept may be difficult to adopt but 

it needs to be considered. 

Recommendations 

Charging tariff to be retained in the short term but with targeted changes (Action 3) 

Coalville – Retain existing charging tariff but consider reducing the hours of charging 

at specific times of the day or week, e.g. Free After Three (Action 36) 

Ashby – Retain existing tariff but consider increases in specific car parks (e.g. Brook 

Street) or for particular users (e.g. Long stay parking) (Actions 23 and 32) 

Other areas – retain free parking at all times  



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

98 
 

9.5 POLICY TOOL 3: CONVERT LONG STAY TO SHORT STAY PARKING 

9.5.1 The length of time that parking spaces are used can be adjusted without changing the 

charging tariff by imposing time restrictions. These already apply in many of the Districts car 

parks and new restrictions can be implemented to replace long stay parking with short stay. 

9.5.2 The use of town and village centre car parks for long stay parking is a common complaint in 

many of the centres and can be a poor use of a scarce public resource. A quick turnover of 

parking spaces for short term visits is critical in maintaining the viability of the towns and 

villages but if spaces are blocked by commuter or resident parking this can prevent short 

trips and damage the local economy. This effect has been reported in Ashby, Kegworth and 

Castle Donington. 

9.5.3 On the other hand, the availability of long stay parking is also seen as important by many 

people who work or live in the town and village centres.  

9.5.4 This strategy does not advocate the simple replacement of long stay parking by short stay. 

In some circumstances this would be appropriate but in all circumstances the alternative 

provision for long stay parking has been considered. 

9.5.5 The transfer of spaces from long stay to short stay tariff in Ashby is one of the main policies 

to be considered in greater depth. It is one of the most suitable policies that could meet the 

objectives of the strategy as parking space could be made available for multiple short trips 

during the day instead of a space being occupied by a single car for the whole day. Long 

stay parking mainly takes place in the South Street car park where it costs £2 to park all 

day, plus 10 long stay spaces in the North Street car park.  

9.5.6 If these car parks were converted in whole or part to short stay it could increase the 

turnover of these spaces by short stay visitors and generate extra footfall in the town. It is 

possible that short stay visitors are currently discouraged from visiting Ashby because of the 

lack of space to park. 

9.5.7 The related issue is where commuters and long stay visitors would park in the town centre. 

Commuter parking is not the best use of town centre space, especially where space is 

limited. It does little to generate town centre footfall and economic activity, although it is 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

99 
 

convenient for commuters and is relatively cheap compared with most neighbouring 

authorities.  

9.5.8 Alternative locations for commuter parking would need to be identified. In Ashby there are 

alternative locations for long stay parking at the Royal Hotel and in the proposed Money Hill 

development. Commuters can be encouraged to walk further from their car park to their 

workplace so options do exist in non-central locations.  

Operational Impacts 

9.5.9 Successfully converting parking spaces from long stay to short stay tariff could generate 

additional revenue income by increasing the turnover of spaces and their yield per day. 

Using the current tariff, three visits of two hours per day would generate £2.40 revenue in 

comparison with £2 income for a single long stay visit. The benefit to the wider economy of 

three car loads of visitors to the town centre compared with one long stay visit would be an 

additional benefit to businesses and the Council. An increase in car park throughput may 

require slightly more enforcement and management but this would be a minor impact. 

9.5.10 The operational implications of encouraging a greater number of vehicles to use the town 

centre car-parks would need careful consideration to assess the potential for increased 

congestion and / or localised environmental degradation. This being said, the number of 

spaces that would be affected by implementing such a conversion would likely be quite low, 

the policy would be expected to reduce traffic circling the town centre whilst attempting to 

find parking spaces and traffic movements would largely be anticipated to occur outside of 

sensitive, network peak periods. It is therefore considered likely that any detrimental 

impacts are likely to be quite marginal and manageable. 

  

Recommendations 

Ashby – Adjust charges or time restrictions to remove or reduce long stay parking in 

central car parks. Ensure that alternative car parks exist for the displaced long stay 

parking (Actions 3, 4 and 23) 

Coalville – Consider installing time restrictions in the Market Hall free car park (Action 

34) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

100 
 

9.6 POLICY OPTION 4: ON-STREET PARKING ISSUES 

9.6.1 On-street parking plays an important role in the vitality of the town centres and it is 

important that the strategy relating to on-street and off-street parking is complementary. 

The District Council is not directly responsible for the provision or management of on-street 

parking so has limited control over it. However, the Council does liaise with the County 

Council and can promote on-street schemes or changes to Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs).   

9.6.2 The County Council is currently carrying out a review of on-street parking charges and the 

review may include streets in NWLDC at some point in the future. 

9.6.3 On-street parking issues were one of the most common areas of concern in the public and 

stakeholder consultation exercise. The main issues highlighted were: 

 Need for more parking restrictions for safety or access reasons 

 On-street spaces are often occupied all day by commuters avoiding the parking 

charges in Coalville or Ashby or the time restrictions in other locations 

 Some TRO’s could be removed or changed to provide more on-street parking 

 The enforcement of the existing TRO’s is inadequate (this is covered in more detail 

in the following Policy Option 8 on Enforcement) 

9.6.4 A scheme to improve the public realm in Market Street, Ashby has been proposed in the 

past but not implemented. Such a scheme would involve the rationalisation of on-street 

parking. This scheme should be revisited if funding becomes available. 

9.6.5 Enforcement of on-street restrictions is currently carried out by NWLDC staff under contract 

to the County Council and the continuation of this will ensure the consistency of approach 

and contact with the public in off-street and on-street locations. The Parking Strategy is 

limited in its ability to control or influence on-street parking because it is the responsibility of 

LCC, however the recommendations relating to on-street parking are as follows: 

Recommendations 

NWLDC to continue to liaise with the County Council to ensure that the on-street parking 

provision is suitable and complementary to the off-street car park strategy. Respond to 

any proposals to install on-street parking charges to ensure that the proposals meet the 

objectives of the Council and are consistent with the off-street charging tariff. Revisit 

proposals to rationalise parking in Market Street, Ashby (Actions 5, 25, 26, 35, 45, 48 

and 49). 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

101 
 

9.7 POLICY OPTION 5: RESIDENT PERMIT PARKING 

9.7.1 There are currently no residents parking schemes in the District but it is a measure that 

should be considered under the right circumstances. Areas of on-street parking can be 

reserved for the local residents to use under a permit scheme. Such schemes are often used 

where residential streets are being used for other types of parking (e.g. commuters, 

shoppers or railway passengers). There are many such schemes in other parts of 

Leicestershire. 

9.7.2 Some residents parking schemes give preference to residents with a permit by allowing non-

permit holders to only park for a limited time period. Other types of scheme are for the 

exclusive use by residents and all other users are prohibited. There would be an annual 

charge for the residents parking permits (typically £50 per year). 

9.7.3 If a majority of the residents of a street or area are in favour of a residents parking scheme 

then they should be able to request that a scheme be implemented. The scheme would 

have to be approved, implemented and managed by the County Council because it has 

responsibility for the highway but NWLDC would also need to be consulted about such a 

scheme.  

9.7.4 An alternative form of parking management designed to have a similar impact to the  

introduction of a residents parking might be considered that would involve the 

implementation of a limited period of restricted parking (for all) during the middle of the day 

as a means of discouraging long-stay, commuter parking. An example of this kind of scheme 

has been implemented along a number of residential streets in the vicinity of the Queens 

Medical Centre in Nottingham where it is understood to work well. The advantage of this 

system would be the simplicity of its enforcement. However, it may be unpopular with 

residents, whose vehicles would also be subject to the restrictions, and it is not clear 

whether or not long-stay commuters might try to circumvent restrictions by temporarily 

moving their vehicles during restricted periods. As is the case with any new parking 

restrictions proposed, the potential cost of enforcement may exceed the resources available 

to provide for it. 

Recommendations 

Provide support to residents that request a Residents Parking permit scheme and assist 

with liaison with LCC (Action 6) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

102 
 

9.8 POLICY OPTION 6: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT (BUS, CYCLE AND WALK) 

9.8.1 The provision of a sustainable travel strategy is clearly a much wider issue than parking but 

there is a relationship between the volume and cost of parking and a sustainable transport 

strategy (i.e. walking, cycling and public transport modes). An over-provision of parking can 

damage efforts to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel while the provision of 

good sustainable travel options can reduce the need for additional parking spaces. 

9.8.2 Increased use of sustainable modes of travel is an alternative to building more parking 

spaces, but it has to be recognised that there is limited scope to satisfy all travel and 

parking needs through the promotion of non-car modes. This is part of the solution but it 

will not remove the need for more parking spaces entirely.  

9.8.3 Neither Coalville nor Ashby has a high level of public transport accessibility so the options to 

improve public transport need to be considered as an alternative to providing more car park 

space. The development of sustainable transport is part of the County Council Local 

Transport Plan 3 (2011-26) and any new parking strategy will need to be developed with 

the long term LTP3 strategy and the 3 year implementation plans in mind.  

9.8.4 Sustainable transport improvements were requested by 35% of the people that responded 

to the public questionnaire. It was mentioned by some stakeholders but not as the primary 

solution, mainly because of the lack of existing facilities and limited scope for improvement, 

given the likely budgets that will be available.  

9.8.5 Given the existing scale of settlements around the District, it is not likely that significant 

improvements to public transport accessibility will be forthcoming in the foreseeable future. 

In broad terms, public transport is likely to remain used by a limited market (e.g. the 

elderly, young and those without access to a car). Furthermore, as market towns serving a 

wider, predominantly rural, hinterland use of the car to access services in the various 

settlements across the district will remain high. 

9.8.6 With limited scope to prompt substantial modal shift away from use of the car to access key 

settlements and / or provide additional parking within them, promoting the more efficient 

use of existing car-parks will be fundamental to delivery of a successful strategy. Measures 

to promote walking and cycling more widely within settlements could be integrated with 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

103 
 

efforts to improve specific walking and cycling links between more outlying car-parks and 

key services located within town centres in order to maximise the convenience for users. 

9.8.7 Car parks do have a role to play in the improvement of sustainable transport by providing a 

secure location for cycle parking and motorcycle parking. These are already provided in a 

limited number of the car parks but this could be expanded significantly, that may help to 

reduce demand for the conventional parking spaces. The inclusion of electric vehicle 

charging points in the busiest car parks would also support efforts to promote sustainable 

transport modes. 

 

9.9 POLICY OPTION 7: PARKING STANDARDS AND NEW DEVELOPMENT 

9.9.1 The implementation of the Parking Strategy will need to be supported by a complementary 

approach to new development in the District. Pre-application advice and decisions about 

planning applications through the development control process can contribute to the aims of 

the Parking Strategy and town centre regeneration. 

9.9.2 There is a high degree of dissatisfaction with the outcome of the planning process in 

relation to parking in residential and commercial developments from stakeholders and the 

public. A very common comment at the consultation events was that recent developments 

have provided insufficient off-street parking and the result is a serious under-provision of 

parking and a large overspill of parking on to nearby streets. This applies to residential 

developments where estate roads are often blocked by parked cars and commercial 

developments, such as the Coalfield Way business park, Ashby where there is a substantial 

shortage of off-street parking. 

Recommendations 

Parking Strategy must be consistent with the LTP Sustainable Transport Strategy 

(Action 7) 

Reduce over-provision of parking that is harming efforts to promote the Sustainable 

Transport Strategy (Action 13) 

Provide more cycle and motorcycle parking spaces within car parks and investigate 

possibility of providing electric charging points (Action 11) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

104 
 

9.9.3 This strategy does not propose new parking standards for new development but it does 

highlight that recent planning permissions have resulted in an under-provision of parking. In 

areas where sustainable modes of travel are not very high quality this causes on-street 

parking problems. It is recommended that the Parking Standards that are applied by NWLDC 

as Planning Authority are reviewed in light of some of the issues that have arisen in recent 

developments.  

9.9.4 The Parking Standards in use (taken from Saved Policies from the Local Plan adopted in 

2002) are derived from the current County-wide requirements of Leicestershire County 

Council and are applied as a maximum level of parking. The application of this maximum 

standard should be reviewed and amended if necessary to prevent further developments 

with a serious underprovision of off-street parking that risk damaging the economic viability 

and road safety of sites. The draft Local Plan (June 2016 publication) includes proposed 

non-residential Parking Standards that are taken from the 6C’s Design Guide (Table DG11). 

It also refers to the County Council Highway Requirements for Development (HRfD) for 

those sites below the thresholds specified in the 6C’s Design Guide. These are both 

maximum parking standards so there is a risk that the recent under provision of parking 

could be repeated. The draft Local Plan also specifies that the appropriate level of parking to 

be provided for residential properties is 2 off-street parking spaces per dwelling, rising to 3 

spaces for dwellings with four or more bedrooms, although this is not presented as a 

maximum or minimum.  

9.9.5 The review of the appropriateness of overall parking quantum serving developments should 

not take place in isolation and should be conducted within the wider context of considering 

overall quality of parking provision and wider design issues likely to impact on the overall 

level of car ownership, dominance and propensity of car use (especially to undertake short 

trips) in a given location. Wider design issues that are equally valid for consideration 

include: 

 The specific location and layout of proposed parking provision paying particular 

attention to the efficient and appropriate use of land to provide for parking needs 

that “seek to avoid ‘land-hungry’ approaches to parking, such as rear courtyards”1 

                                                
1 The Chartered Institute of Highways & Transportation and Institute of Highway Engineers: Guidance Note: Residential Parking, 
available at: http://www.ciht.org.uk/en/knowledge/standards-advice/residential-parking-guidance-note.cfm 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

105 
 

and support the creation of street environments suited to facilitating and 

encouraging walking and cycling as preferred modes for local trip making by all; 

 Ensuring that high quality and convenient walking, cycling and (where appropriate) 

public transport routes provide suitable connections between proposed new 

developments and adjacent areas of settlement (on all sides), existing sustainable 

travel networks and to key local services and amenities; and, 

 Ensuring that adopted parking standards set clear and enforceable guidelines 

concerning the implementation of facilities to provide secure and conveniently 

accessible cycle storage facilities together with other amenities supporting both 

cycling and walking (e.g. appropriate storage for outdoor / wet clothing, showers 

and changing facilities etc). This should apply to both origin and destination points. 

 Creating a funding source for town centre car park improvement secured from 

developers via Section 106 or planning conditions. 

9.9.6 The use of the Parking Strategy to guide new development will need to be consistent with 

current policy contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. NPPF recommends that 

any parking charges that are applied in developments or public car parks are not high 

enough to undermine the vitality of town centres.  

9.9.7 New developments have often not been required to provide a contribution towards town 

centre facilities, including parking even though the new residents or employees will be 

making use of this public service. A contribution towards improving such facilities should be 

sought from local developers where it can be shown that they have a material impact and 

where there is an existing or forecast lack of available parking spaces. 

Recommendations 

Review content and application of proposed parking standards in the emerging Local 

Plan to prevent occurrences where there is a severe under-provision of parking spaces 

(Action 8) 

Pursue policy of securing contributions from developers towards town centre facilities, 

including parking (Action 9) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

106 
 

9.10 POLICY OPTION 8: ENFORCEMENT 

9.10.1 Parking enforcement is currently set at a level that is thought to be the best use of staff 

resources in order to achieve the best balance between staff costs, income from Penalty 

Charge Notices (PCN) and income from ticket sales. In addition to car park enforcement on-

street enforcement is also carried out by NWLDC, under contract to LCC who determine the 

required enforcement priorities and levels of service.  

9.10.2 More staff time could be spent on enforcement but there are diminishing returns on this 

expenditure and there are potential issues from users concerned about over-zealous 

enforcement. Once the large majority of users are using the car parks correctly there is little 

benefit in spending more time carrying out enforcement.  

9.10.3 The Council’s Parking Management Team use the staff resources available to decide how 

best to carry out the enforcement of car parks. The question is whether investing more time 

in enforcement would increase net income or decrease it. In 2014/15 the income from PCNs 

from off street enforcement was approximately £78,000 but the cost of carrying out the 

enforcement was well in excess of this figure. What the figures do not show is the reduction 

in ticket income that would occur if no enforcement took place or the effect on ticket sales 

of doing more enforcement. 

9.10.4 The effect of enforcement on the local economy also needs to be considered. The car park 

tariff is designed to ensure there is a turnover of spaces in each car park, so that there is 

space to park for people coming to the town centre. Enforcement ensures that this turnover 

takes place as intended. Over-enforcement is sometimes raised as a concern in relation to 

the attractiveness of a town centre to visitors so a good balance needs to be achieved. 

9.10.5 The public consultation showed that people are generally satisfied with the current level of 

enforcement, with 52% saying that there is enough, 28% saying there is too much and 

20% saying there is too little enforcement. There was some concern that the level of on-

street enforcement in the smaller centres was inadequate. 

Recommendations 

Continual improvement and refinement of enforcement to achieve the best balance 

between effectiveness and costs (Action 10) 

Liaise with LCC to assess whether the level of enforcement in smaller centres and at 

schools should be increased (Actions 17 and 22) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

107 
 

9.11 POLICY OPTION 9: CAR PARK CONDITION, FACILITIES, TECHNOLOGY, 
SECURITY AND MAINTENANCE 

Conditions and Facilities 

9.11.1 The facilities and condition of the main car parks in the District has been audited and the full 

results are presented in Appendix A. Points to note from the audit are: 

 Very few car parks have cycle and motorcycle parking spaces; 

 Almost all car parks have disabled spaces; 

 Condition of the car park surface is generally good, with a few exceptions but the 

pay station equipment is relatively old; 

 Some car parks (Borough Street and Royal Hotel) are difficult for pedestrians and 

disabled people to use on foot; 

 Streetlights are provided in every car park  

 Car parks have variable facilities. Equipment like CCTV, waste bins, recycling 

facilities, toilets and information boards are in less than half of the car parks. 

9.11.2 Stakeholders have said that signage to some of the car parks and signage for pedestrians 

leaving the car parks is not very good. It is recommended that a thorough review of the 

location and quality of the existing signage should be undertaken and a scheme of proposed 

improvements should be developed. The car park condition survey showed that most car 

parks have some direction signs for drivers to follow but most do not have any signs to 

direct pedestrians once they have parked their car (although not all car parks need signs 

when the pedestrian route is obvious). 

New Technology 

9.11.3 Technology solutions have been implemented by many local authorities to overcome various 

parking problems or use their parking space more efficiently. Mobile and digital technology 

is increasingly important in the operation and use of car parking systems. New pay 

machines have the ability to accept card payments and a pay by phone facility is 

commonplace in many towns. Improving mobile payment methods could help to reduce the 

need for users to return to a vehicle to extend the length of stay and could lead to increased 

dwell times in the town centre. It reduces the need for users to carry cash and for operators 

to collect cash from the machines. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

108 
 

9.11.4 The existing pay station equipment is relatively old and provides basic facilities. If these 

machines are approaching the end of their operational life it may be a good time to invest in 

new machines with technology that allows more flexible payment options, even if the Pay 

and Display operation is retained. Technology is increasing the flexibility of systems for 

customers and operators and is providing more information for management to keep 

improving the service.  

9.11.5 The public consultation revealed that there is a strong desire to increase the payment 

options that are available. Almost half of people said they would like to see mobile phone 

payment installed and many others requested card and contactless payment made possible. 

The use of these methods would incur a charge for the authority, thus reducing income. 

9.11.6 Pay on Foot is a barrier-controlled system that is used in many large town centre car parks. 

Pay on Foot car parks with a barrier operate in the following ways: 

• Customer is issued a time coded ticket at an entry barrier 

• Customer enters the car park and finds a space 

• Customer returns to the car park and pays for parking at a pay station machine 

• Customer has a grace period within which they must vacate the car park 

• Ticket is inserted at the barrier which is then raised and customer exits 

• Permit holders can use a pre-paid pass to enter and exit the car park without 

visiting the pay stations 

 

The Pro’s and Con’s of a barrier controlled Pay on Foot operations are as follows: 

 

Pro’s  Con’s 

Fully automated, flexible operating 

hours 

Can be difficult for Blue Badge 

holders to use because the barrier 
cannot recognise the badge 

Users pay for exact time used, best 

value for money for users 

Need second exit lane when 

assistance is required 

No pressure to leave town centre 

because of ticket time limit 

Barriers may cause queues on entry 

and exit 

Low enforcement costs because it is 
impossible to leave without 

payment (grace period and disabled 
space enforcement only) 

Need control room presence to deal 
with queries and monitor and repair 

the barrier 

Adaptable for permits, different 

tariffs and temporary promotions 

Capital cost of installation 

 Maintenance liability of barrier 

equipment 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

109 
 

9.11.7 New technology may also help back office operations, particularly in relation to the use of 

intelligent, targeted tariffs and the co-ordination of different car parks and variable message 

signs, depending on the size and complexity of the car park provision within a town. 

9.11.8 The ‘Post Payment’ system is a development of the standard Pay and Display operation 

which has been used in Scandinavia for some time and has recently been introduced into 

the UK. Users have the option to register a debit or credit card when they park instead of 

buying a ticket for a fixed length of time, but payment is only made when they return to the 

car park. This allows people to stay as long as they need without having to return to the car 

by a certain time. However, resistance to the introduction of new technology may be an 

issue in some areas.  

9.11.9 The alternative to a barrier controlled Pay on Foot system is the use of ANPR to monitor the 

entry and exit of vehicles. Cameras identify each vehicle on entry and exit and automatically 

calculate the length of stay. If the customer has not paid the correct fee at the pay station a 

Penalty Charge Notice is automatically generated and sent by post.  

9.11.10 The ANPR systems can also provide a link to DVLA data for the enforcement of a 

contravention but the use of ANPR is not permitted for contraventions under the Traffic 

Management Act 2004. The use of ANPR technology is currently uncertain because it is not 

supported by the Government for use by local authorities but it does have  potential and the 

opportunity to use it may develop further over time, so potential operators need to keep up 

to date with current thinking when investment decisions are being made. 

9.11.11 Variable message signs (VMS) are used in many town and city centres to provide drivers 

with information about the location of spare parking capacity. This is probably not a high 

priority in Coalville because there is currently little constraint on capacity or in Ashby 

because the centre is small and there are few choices about where to park. Therefore, at 

this time a VMS system is unlikely to deliver the required benefits to justify the costs. 

9.11.12 Longer-term, the emergence of new driverless technology has the potential to have a 

transformational effect on the scale and location of both short and long stay parking activity. 

Whilst the advent of fully automated, driverless cars remains some distance away, some 

driverless functions are likely to be fitted as standard to the next generation of vehicles and 

well within the medium-term planning horizon. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

110 
 

9.11.13 Further clarity concerning the application of driverless technology has recently been 

provided following publication of the DfT’s Pathway to Driverless Cars that would appear to 

indicate a clear expectation that trials of remote parking will occur within a reasonably short 

timeframe and furthermore that they will include evaluation of “out of sight” systems as a 

fairly rapid follow on, stating: 

“Subsequent iterations of this regulatory programme will likely take into account future 

remote control systems, where it is expected that the vehicle could be out of the 

driver’s sight while the parking manoeuvre is completed. This will dovetail with 

international type approval regulations, which are currently being amended to ensure 

remote parking systems are safe.”2  

9.11.14 This strategy does not propose any policies that address the opportunities provided by 

driverless technology, but it is worth acknowledging that a rapid uptake of this technology 

would have significant implications for transport systems in the future, including the demand 

for parking and methods of providing it. 

Operational Impacts 

9.11.15 New technology has the potential to improve the management of car parks by automating 

various operations and by providing more information to the back office. However, there 

would need to be initial capital outlay and an expectation that costs would be recovered in 

the long term. 

9.11.16 Investing in the existing car parks to improve their use is a valid policy option. Many local 

authorities and private operators invest in their car parks in the expectation that better 

facilities will encourage more use. NWLDC already has a programme of improvement and 

the Market Hall car park has recently been resurfaced.  

9.11.17 However, there is a limit to the impact that physical improvements to car parks will have in 

the absence of other changes. Safety and security are important features that often appear 

as a high priority for users, linked to the provision of CCTV and lighting but many of the 

Councils car parks already have these features.  

                                                
2 Centre for Connected & Autonomous Vehicles: Pathway to Driverless Cars: Proposals to support advanced driver assistance 
systems and automated vehicle technologies 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

111 
 

9.11.18 New facilities will need to take into account future climate change, e.g. the use of porous 

surfacing of car parks will help to reduce the impact of the car park on drainage and 

flooding. 

9.11.19 Car parks that are generating large amounts of income can justify expenditure to maintain 

that position, but it is more difficult to justify significant expenditure on under-used car 

parks in times of financial restraint in the expectation that it will increase revenue income. 

Minimum levels of car park condition need to be maintained, to ensure that people are safe 

and secure. Where the condition of the surface is bad enough to dissuade people from using 

the car park or damage their vehicles, then investment is required.  

9.11.20 Equipment will need to be replaced at regular intervals so that could be a good time to 

consider the merits of different technologies and up to date methods of payment. These can 

create savings in some cases; mobile phone payment can reduce cash collection costs, for 

instance.  

9.11.21 Additional expenditure would need to come out of the Council’s budget which is likely to 

come under increasing pressure. If the investment is expected to generate additional 

income a detailed business case will be required to justify the use of limited resources for 

this investment. 

 

  

Recommendations 

Consider investment in new cycle and motorcycle parking spaces and new paystation 

equipment at the appropriate time (Action 11). 

Promote mobile and online payment technology, card and contactless payments and 

online/Smartphone apps to provide information about the availability and cost of 

parking. Consider whether technology such as Pay on Foot and Post-payment would be 

appropriate (Action 11). 

Make improvements the facilities and quality of car parks (e.g. waste bins, streetlights, 

CCTV and information signs) (Action 11). 

Improve signage for drivers and pedestrians where necessary (Action 12). 

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

112 
 

9.12 POLICY OPTION 10: REGENERATION OF CAR PARK LAND 

9.12.1 The previous analysis shows that the only place where car park land could realistically be 

released for development would be in Coalville. This is not to say that other car parks could 

not be redeveloped, but in that case an equivalent number of parking spaces would need to 

be found elsewhere in the town to meet forecast demand. 

Disposal of Car Park land in Coalville 

9.12.2 The release of car park land for redevelopment in Coalville is one of the most powerful 

policy tools that the Council could decide to use. Usage data suggests that some parking 

space in Coalville is under-used and is not generating much revenue income. Therefore, it 

may be preferable to use this land more intensively for the Council and for the town centre 

economy.  

9.12.3 Releasing the land would also remove a maintenance and management liability. The 

condition of the car parks and equipment depreciates every year and funds have to be spent 

periodically to maintain their condition. The ticket machines also need to be maintained and 

replaced. The Council has to carry out grounds maintenance and cleansing, provide lighting 

and security, remove abandoned cars and manage anti-social behaviour on this land. All of 

these liabilities would be reduced if some car park land is released for sale. 

9.12.4 Conversely, although existing levels of usage may be low in certain car parks, the likelihood 

of future growth in demand in Coalville is a factor that needs to be considered. The Building 

Confidence in Coalville programme includes a range of schemes and initiatives that will 

stimulate growth in the town. This potential growth (as described in Chapter 5) needs to be 

factored in to any decisions about releasing any car park land for redevelopment and / or 

the scale of future parking demand that requires accommodation as a result of the 

development itself. 

9.12.5 The question of which car parks could be disposed is heavily reliant on the development 

plans that may come forward. The under-used long stay car park at Bridge Road (Market 

Hall) would be a likely car park to release as part of the potential Market Place 

redevelopment. The London Road car park is another possible location for land use 

development with good accessibility and this site is included within the potential Stenson 

Green development proposed within the Coalville Four Squares and Streets Investment Plan. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

113 
 

Disposal of Car Park land in Ashby 

9.12.6 The sale of car park land for development in Ashby is possible but it would need to include 

the replacement of an equivalent or greater number of parking spaces elsewhere in the 

town or within the confines of the site itself. North Street and South Street car parks are on 

land that would be valuable for town centre development. However, the lack of existing 

parking space in the town means that a reduction in the number of available spaces would 

have a large detrimental effect on its economy. 

9.12.7 The only circumstances where this land could feasibly be disposed of would be if a 

developer were proposing to replace or increase the number of available parking spaces in a 

different location or within the site itself. Given that there is a lack of available space to 

construct new car parks close to the town centre the likelihood of this seems to be low. It is 

difficult to see how such a scheme would be financially viable to a developer and this would 

be reflected in the price they would be willing to pay for the Council car park.  

9.12.8 Overall, this does not appear to be a strong policy option for Ashby. 

Operational Impacts 

9.12.9 The disposal of car parks would reduce revenue income to a small degree but if the under-

used car parks are the ones disposed this reduction would be small. Conversely the 

reduction in enforcement, maintenance and management could more than offset the loss of 

income, creating a net benefit to the Council’s revenue budget. The car park equipment 

could be used elsewhere, if it is in adequate condition. There would also be a one-off receipt 

of income if the land were sold off. 

9.12.10 Whilst the disposal of under-utilised car-parks might not be likely to have a significant 

detrimental impact on the operation of the network in its own right, difficulties may arise in 

circumstances where the sites get built out for alternative uses thereby creating demand for 

additional parking. Careful consideration will need to be given to the proposed uses of these 

sites to ensure that any additional parking demand created remains within the scope of the 

capacity that could be made available.  

Recommendations 

Under-used car parks in Coalville to be considered for redevelopment. Access issues 

would need to be resolved (Actions 13 and 33) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

114 
 

9.13 POLICY OPTION 11: MANAGEMENT OF PARKING SERVICES 

9.13.1 Parking Services in the District are managed by the Council, either directly or under 

contract. This study has not included a review of each management process in detail but it 

has considered how the service is delivered in broad terms.  

9.13.2 The Leicestershire Civil Parking Enforcement partnership has been in operation since 2007. 

North West Leicestershire District Council works in partnership with Leicestershire County 

Council to provide the enforcement of on street parking restrictions. Working arrangements 

are in accordance with a Service Level Agreement that defines responsibilities. Regular 

meetings and discussions take place between all partners to ensure objectives are being 

achieved. 

9.13.3 Continued effective partnership working has reduced costs for all partners which in turn for 

LCC means the service is currently operating on a largely cost neutral basis.  

9.13.4 LCC reviewed the Civil Parking Enforcement Operation in 2013 and consideration was given 

to outsourcing all/part of this service. Conclusions were reached to continue with current 

arrangements recognising the efforts of all partners to reduce costs and work together to 

achieve effective enforcement. This strategy does not recommend a different approach. 

9.13.5 Details about Parking Services are publicised on the Council’s website, including the Trading 

Account that shows parking related income and expenses for the financial years 2012/13, 

2013/14 and 2014/15. This is required under the Department for Communities and Local 

Government Local Authority Transparency Code.  This also shows the capital expenditure on 

car park resurfacing projects in those years and the net revenue and capital expenditure 

and balances. 

9.13.6 NWLDC carries out enforcement duties within the public car parks and on-street, under 

contract to LCC, which appears to operate successfully. There is a close working relationship 

with LCC across many aspects of parking and transport and this co-operation will be vital in 

the future. LCC sets the service level of enforcement to be carried out on-street by District 

Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) and LCC prioritises where enforcement is targeted.  

9.13.7 Although the levels of satisfaction with enforcement were reasonably high and there was no 

consensus between the need for more or less enforcement, consultation did reveal some 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

115 
 

dissatisfaction with the level of enforcement in the smaller centres, such as Kegworth, 

Measham and Ibstock. LCC and NWLDC need to regularly review the enforcement priorities 

and adjust the frequency and timing of enforcement if necessary.  

9.13.8 Maintenance of car park assets is managed and procured by Parking Services and there is a 

programme of resurfacing and other works that is contributed to using income from the 

parking charges. A 10 year asset management plan is being prepared that will provide a 

level of confidence that parking will be provided to a high standard in the long term. 

Maintenance is self-financing from the income generated by the parking charges in Ashby 

and Coalville and the removal of these charges would increase the risk of a lack of funding 

for maintenance in the future. 

9.13.9 Car park season tickets are currently made available on a quarterly basis (£90 per quarter) 

but consultation revealed that some people are unable or reluctant to pay such an amount 

up front so it is recommended that season tickets should be provided for shorter time 

periods, e.g. per week or per month.  

9.13.10 The Council and local businesses have operated a refund voucher ticket scheme for some 

years whereby businesses can choose to offer a refund of the car parking charge dependent 

upon the amount spent in-store. Each business could set their own refund policy. This 

scheme was established by the Coalville Town Team in partnership with NWLDC. The 

scheme is no longer being supported by the majority of businesses. 

9.13.11 The potential for the sponsorship or advertising in car parks to generate a new income 

stream is something that could be considered in the medium term, although there would be 

additional staff costs for the administration of such an initiative. There would be an 

opportunity to develop more opportunities for advertising when the payment machines and 

associated signs are replaced and advertising space could be installed. Any advertising and 

sponsorship would need to be linked to corporate policies. 

Recommendations 

NWLDC / LCC to continue liaison and improve the co-ordination and enforcement of 

Parking Services (Action 22). 

Provide Season Tickets for shorter time periods and lower cost (Action 18). 

Terminate the Parking Voucher scheme (Action 20). 

Consider sponsorship and advertising opportunities in the medium/long term (Action 

21). 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

116 
 

9.14 POLICY OPTION 12: SPECIALIST PARKING  

Disabled Parking Spaces 

9.14.1 The audit of car parks (Appendix A) shows where parking is provided for Blue Badge 

holders, cyclists and motorcyclists. Most car parks have at least one disabled parking space, 

with the notable exceptions being the privately owned and unsurfaced Royal Hotel in Ashby 

and the North Service Road car park in Coalville. 

9.14.2 Parking standards for new development are set out in the 6C’s Design Guide that provides 

guidance for new development in Leicestershire. This requires that for smaller car parks (up 

to 200 spaces) that are used for shopping, leisure and recreation purposes (e.g. town 

centres) there should be a minimum of 3 disabled parking bays or 6% of the total number 

of spaces should be reserved for Blue Badge holders, whichever is the greater number. In 

car parks over 200 spaces there should be a minimum of 4 disabled spaces or 4% of the 

total, whichever is greater. 

9.14.3 Many of the car parks fail to meet the minimum standard of having 3 disabled parking 

spaces, including South Street in Ashby. However, the appropriateness of this standard in 

small car parks is debatable. Some car parks also fail to meet the standard in terms of the 

proportion of parking spaces that are allocated to Blue Badge holders, as shown in Table 17.   

Table 17 – Proportions of Disabled Parking Spaces 

Car Park 
No. of 
Parking 

Spaces 

No. of 

Disabled 
Parking 

Spaces 

Proportion 

% 

Ashby North Street  76 5 7% 

Ashby South Street 57 2 4% 

Ashby Brook Street 11 1 9% 

Ashby Leisure Centre 93 3 3% 

Ashby Library 30 0 0% 

Coalville Market Hall 188 13 7% 

Coalville Needhams Walk 108 2 2% 

Coalville Bridge Road 241 8 3% 

Coalville North Service Rd 74 0 0% 

Coalville Margaret Street 43 5 12% 

Coalville Marlboro. Sq. 25 2 8% 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

117 
 

Coalville James Street 58 4 7% 

Castle Donington Clapgun 34 2 6% 

Castle Donington Borough 30 2 7% 

Whitwick Silver Street 188 7 4% 

Whitwick Vicarage St. 29 2 7% 

Whitwick City of Dan 16 0 0% 

Measham High Street 50 6 12% 

Measham Peggs Close 20 1 5% 

Ibstock High Street 74 5 7% 

Ibstock Gladstone St 22 2 9% 

9.14.4 The table shows that many car parks do not meet the standard of 6% disabled parking 

spaces, including South Street and the Leisure Centre in Ashby and some of the central car 

parks in Coalville. However some of the car parks are adjacent and the disabled spaces have 

often been provided in the most appropriate adjacent car park rather than each individual 

one. Some car parks in Coalville are adjacent to the Market Hall car park and if they are 

treated as a single combined car park the number of disabled parking spaces in the 

combined central area would then meet the 4% standard for car parks with over 200 spaces 

(i.e. 23 out of 537 spaces in Market Hall/Needhams Walk/Bridge Road, which is equivalent 

to 4.3%).  

9.14.5 Some of the disabled parking spaces are very well used, such as those in the Market Hall car 

park that are fully utilised during busy periods. There were times when all of the disabled 

spaces in the Market Hall/Needhams Walk/Bridge Road area were full, which suggests that 

demand regularly exceeds supply and that more spaces may be required in that area.  

9.14.6 Fewer disabled parking spaces are provided in Ashby and, again there are times when they 

are all occupied. Consideration should be given to providing more disabled spaces in Ashby 

and more data may need to be collected to confirm that these are required.  

9.14.7 The disabled parking spaces in Castle Donington are not well used according to the surveys 

and the stakeholder consultation.  New on-street disabled parking spaces have been 

installed in Borough Street recently, which are better located for the village centre. The 

spaces in the car parks may now be redundant and could be converted to standard parking 

spaces. More survey data would confirm this conclusion. 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

118 
 

9.14.8 Disabled parking spaces are provided in Whitwick, Ibstock and Measham car parks and 

spaces were found to be available during the surveys. Therefore, no change is proposed to 

the number of disabled spaces that are provided in those locations.  

Cycle Parking 

9.14.9 Cycle parking is provided in four out of the 27 public car parks. Although this is a small 

proportion it is not always appropriate to provide cycle parking in car parks, it is often better 

to provide it closer to the likely destinations of cyclists in the town centres. Some of the 

town centres do have cycle parking closer to the main shopping areas but the installation of 

cycle parking in car parks such as Ibstock High Street should be considered because it is 

close to the retail centre.  

Motorcycle Parking 

9.14.10 Motorcycle parking is provided in four out of the 27 public car parks, although in some cases 

it consists of just a marked area rather than any particular parking facilities. The facilities 

were not found to be particularly well used during the surveys. However, motorcycles are 

often also parked in standard car park spaces but if there were dedicated facilities it could 

raise the profile of this sustainable mode of transport and would be a more efficient use of 

parking space if they choose not to occupy a standard car park space. If dedicated 

motorcycle parking was provided in a secure, well lit location it could encourage more 

motorcycle use and free up space for car parking.  

9.14.11 Motorcyclists prefer to secure their vehicle to something immoveable but where this is not 

possible the parking area needs to be overlooked by casual observation to deter theft. It 

may be possible to use areas of the car parks that are unusable for car parking, although 

the spaces should not be in peripheral locations that are less secure.  

Coach Parking 

9.14.12 Coach parking is a significant issue in the district that has been mentioned elsewhere in this 

report. There are two coach parking spaces in Ashby but there is no formal coach parking in 

Coalville or the smaller centres. Coach parking is often required for supporters at Coalville 

Town Football Club and for other leisure activities. Coaches do park in Bridge Road car park 

in Coalville but this is not ideal because of the adjacent residential properties and the 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

119 
 

difficult access road. One of the recommendations is to explore opportunities to provide 

more coach parking facilities in the District.  

Electric Vehicles 

9.14.13 Car parks can also help to support the use of electric powered vehicles through the 

provision of electric charging points in the car parks and by offering discounted season 

tickets for electric and low-emission vehicles. Electric car charging bays are one way that 

parking can help to deliver sustainable transport improvements. Many local authorities 

provide electric charging points in their public car parks and NWLDC should consider 

installing similar facilities in the main towns. The Rapid Charge Network is expanding across 

the UK and joining the network would be an important step forward for the District in 

promoting sustainable transport. 

School Parking 

Some concern was raised during consultation about the problems and risks associated with 

parking at school drop-off and pick-up times. This issue is largely outside the remit of this 

parking strategy but road safety and inappropriate parking at schools is a subject that 

continues to be addressed through liaison between the District and County Councils. 

  

Recommendations 

Monitor usage of disabled parking spaces and increase or reduce the number provided 

where appropriate (Action 15). 

Investigate the option to provide improved cycle parking facilities in car parks. This 

needs to be co-ordinated with the provision of other cycle facilities in the town centres 

(Actions 7 and 11). 

Investigate the option to provide improved motorcycle parking facilities in the car parks. 

Need to monitor existing parking of motorcycles in the car parks (Actions 7 and 11) 

Provide better coach parking facilities in Coalville and other locations if necessary 

(Action 37) 

Consider the costs and benefits of installing electric vehicle charging points in car parks 

and engage with the Rapid Charge Network (Action 7) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

120 
 

9.15 POLICY OPTION 13: PARKING AT SPECIAL EVENTS AND TIMES 

9.15.1 Special events can create a challenge for car parking and provisions are made for parking 

for a series of events during the year, including Christmas, Ashby Statutes, Farmers 

Markets, Proms and Picnic in the Park, etc.  

9.15.2 Arrangements are made for each event to manage traffic and parking during these events, 

on a case by case basis. Some events can result in significant disruption and it is important 

that the needs of everyone are considered if the events are to be successful. This report 

does not recommend any changes to the detailed, temporary arrangements that have been 

developed over time but some issues were raised during the consultation that could be 

considered in more detail. 

9.15.3 The Council waives the parking charges during Saturdays in December and no change is 

proposed to that policy because it has been successful in attracting people to the town 

centres. Council car parks are free for event use by charities and good causes that provide 

public benefits and it may be possible to waive the charges for other events but that would 

need to be decided by the Council on a case by case basis. The Council has to decide 

whether to forego the parking income in the interests of promoting these special events. 

9.15.4 The process for the waiving of charges for special events needs to be formalised into an 

official procedure in order to ensure that decisions are made in a consistent and accountable 

way.  

 

  

Recommendations 

Continue to work with events organisers to support special events in the District and 

formalise the procedure for applying for a waiver of parking charges (Action 14) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

121 
 

POLICY OPTION 14: MARKETING AND PROMOTION 

9.15.5 There is a range of actions that could be taken to promote economic activity through 

parking provision. 

9.15.6 It is recommended that parking information on NWLDC’s website is improved/refreshed to 

provide a more modern website with improved navigation and clearer information relating to 

all public car parks in the District. This could include an interactive map allowing users to 

easily find the most appropriate car park for their needs. Information such as tariff 

structures, number of spaces in car parks, opening hours of car parks and on-street parking 

locations should be available.  

9.15.7 A phone app could also be developed or links to existing apps to provide customers with all 

relevant parking information. The internet is likely to be the first source of information for 

many people and as such, up to date information in a clear and concise format is a key 

marketing/promotion tool that will assist users in finding an available parking space. Given 

that there are varying levels of demand for car parks, an up to date website will assist users 

in finding a car park with spare capacity. 

9.15.8 There are ticketing promotions that could be introduced to support the use of car parks, 

targeted at specific times to boost the local economy, such as the Free After Three initiative 

presented in Policy Option 2. 

 

  

Recommendations 

Expand the use of new technology (Smartphones, online and Council website) to 

communicate parking promotions (Action 16) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

122 
 

9.16 POLICY OPTION 15: PARK AND RIDE 

9.16.1 A permanent Park and Ride scheme is not considered to be a viable policy option in 

Coalville. Successful Park and Ride services tend to operate in larger towns and cities where 

the population and demand can support the cost of the service. They usually require some 

level of parking constraint in the town centre and journey time benefits of using the bus, 

neither of which are currently the case in Coalville.  

9.16.2 A permanent Park and Ride may be slightly more realistic in Ashby although there are still 

many reasons why a scheme would be difficult to introduce successfully. The parking 

capacity constraint does exist in the town centre so that people may be more willing to use 

a Park and Ride service. There are fewer options for providing more parking capacity than in 

Coalville so the provision of space on the edge of the town may need to be considered. The 

existing traffic congestion in the town centre would also benefit from a Park and Ride 

scheme as private vehicles would park on the edge of town rather than driving into the 

centre. 

9.16.3 However, there are also many reasons why a Park and Ride would be difficult to implement 

in Ashby successfully; the likely demand to travel into the centre would not justify the cost 

of running a reasonable frequency bus service; the roads into and through the town are not 

suitable for bus priority schemes so that buses would have to negotiate town centre traffic 

queues; any Park and Ride journey time savings would be small because the town is small 

and it is not worth the additional time to park and wait for a bus; the capacity and cost of 

town centre parking is not restrictive enough to encourage people to use a Park and Ride 

service. There are no clear benefits of a Park and Ride scheme to the town centre 

economies.  Even large towns and cities can struggle to implement successful Park and Ride 

schemes so it would be even more difficult in Ashby. 

9.16.4 However, an option that could be considered in more detail is the provision of a temporary 

Park and Ride scheme, over the Christmas period for instance when demand is very high. 

Again, this may be more viable in Ashby than Coalville because the existing car parks are 

unable to cope with demand. An out of town location with a large car park would need to be 

found to provide the service.  

 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

123 
 

Operational Impacts 

9.16.5 Park and Ride can be commercially viable in the right circumstances, where demand is high 

and as part of an overall parking and sustainable transport strategy. This would be difficult 

to achieve in Coalville or Ashby under current conditions so such a scheme would have a 

negative impact on the Council’s management of parking and the operational budget.  

9.16.6 A temporary scheme over Christmas may have more potential to break even because of the 

higher levels of demand but a business case would be required to examine the costs and 

benefits in more detail. 

 

9.17 POLICY OPTION 16: TAILORED STRATEGY FOR EACH TOWN/VILLAGE 

9.17.1 One of the strongest messages that has emerged from the data collection and consultation 

exercise is that a blanket parking policy for Ashby and Coalville is not the best way to 

achieve the different objectives in those towns. The issues that exist now and in the future 

are so different that a tailored approach to the provision of parking is required. The major 

change in approach relates to the charging tariff and the number of parking spaces to be 

provided in each town. 

9.17.2 If the charging tariff has to be the same in each town it limits the ability of the Council to 

influence parking behaviour in each town, this includes both higher and lower parking 

charges. The principal of different charging across the District has already been accepted, in 

that charges apply in Ashby and Coalville while the remaining car parks are free of charge.  

9.17.3 The principal of increasing parking charges in Ashby should not be discounted at this stage 

because demand is currently exceeding supply. New car park capacity may be provided that 

shifts this balance but there will be a limit on how much extra space can be provided. If 

space continues to be restricted it might be advisable to increase parking charges to 

Recommendations 

Investigate possibility of providing a temporary Park and Ride scheme in Ashby (at 

Christmas or other events for instance) (Actions 14 and 19) 



North West Leicestershire District Council Parking Strategy 

 

WYG Transport Planning 
 

 

124 
 

manage the limited space more effectively, for instance by increasing the charges for long 

stay parking in certain car parks. 

9.17.4 In Coalville the benefits of raising parking charges are more limited because there is an 

excess of parking space and the town centre economy is less able to withstand an increase 

in the cost of parking. 

9.17.5 A key recommendation is that the principle of different charging tariffs and the approach to 

the number of parking spaces provided should be accepted as part of this Parking Strategy. 

9.17.6 Strategies could also be developed for the individual towns and Parishes by the Community 

Focus Teams and the local stakeholders. This should include issues such as the possible 

delivery of new car parks, on-street restrictions and enforcement. 

 

9.18 SUMMARY 

9.18.1 This section has provided an analysis of each potential policy option that has been 

considered and Table 18 is the Action Plan that presents the recommended approach to a 

range of policy tools that make up the proposed Parking Strategy. 

Recommendations 

Approve the principle of tailored parking strategies and tariffs in Ashby, Coalville and the 

rest of the District (Action 2) 



 

125 
 

Table 18 – Parking Action Plan 

Recommended Actions When 9.18.2 Cost Details 9.18.3 By Whom 

D
is

tr
ic

t-
w

id
e
 

1 
Increase off-street car park capacity in 

specific locations 
Long High 

Provide parking capacity to provide space to relieve existing problems and future requirements. 

Carry out detailed review of potential sites and engage with landowners 
NWLDC 

2 
Expand the use of different parking 

strategies in different towns 
Short Low 

Apply different charging tariffs in Ashby and Coalville and adjust these tariffs on a more regular 

basis in response to changes in parking demand 
NWLDC 

3 Adjust charging tariffs Short Low 

Change tariffs where appropriate to help meet the objectives. Charges are already relatively low 

but they could be reduced where it can be shown to have a significant impact (e.g. Free After 3) 

Tariff should increase for certain users to influence behaviour, e.g. to remove long stay parking 

from central car parks. Changes that would lead to a significant loss of income are unlikely to be 

acceptable 

NWLDC 

4 
Convert Long Stay to Short Stay 

parking 
Medium Low 

In many locations the presence of long stay parking is restricting capacity for short stay trips 

which may be damaging the local economy. Long stay parking can be removed or reduced by 

either implementing time restrictions or applying a high charge for long stay. Alternative 

locations for the long stay parking also need to be considered and a large-scale transfer to on-

street is unlikely to be an acceptable solution. 

NWLDC 

5 Review of on-street parking provision Medium Medium 

Traffic Regulation Orders to be reviewed to identify any safety risks and inappropriate parking.  

Long stay on-street parking to be reduced in town centres where it is causing problems. 

On-street charges to be considered and if they are applied should be consistent with off-street 

charges. NWLDC to liaise with LCC 

LCC / NWLDC 

Parking Services 

6 Residents Parking Schemes Short Low 

Support residents where there are valid concerns about the ability of residents to park on their 

street due to parking by non-residents. NWLDC to assist with liaison with LCC 

 

LCC / NWLDC 

7 Sustainable Transport 
Medium 

/ Long 

Medium / 

High 

Ensure that parking strategy and sustainable transport strategy are consistent and 

complementary. Ensure car parks contribute to sustainable transport strategy by preventing 

uncontrolled increase in demand. Cycle and motorcycle spaces to be provided in suitable car 

parks. Investigate costs and benefits of electric vehicle charging points 

NWLDC / LCC 

8 Parking Standards  Medium Low 
Adjust parking standards or the interpretation of existing standards to ensure that new 

development has adequate levels of off-street parking. 

NWLDC 

Planning / LCC 

HDC 

9 New development and S106 Medium Low 
Seek contributions from developers towards the provision of additional car park supply in town 

centres 

NWLDC 

Planning / LCC 

HDC 

10 Enforcement Short Medium 

Ensure that enforcement resources are targeted in the most effective way to achieve good 

parking behaviour at an acceptable cost. Liaise with LCC to enforce on-street restrictions more 

effectively 

NWLDC / LCC 



 

126 
 

Recommended Actions When 9.18.2 Cost Details 9.18.3 By Whom 
D

is
tr

ic
t-

w
id

e
 

11 New car park equipment Medium Medium 

Replace pay stations when life expired with new machines with increased payment options that 

will encourage longer stay (e.g. pay by phone, pay on exit, post-payment). 

Low-tech equipment to be improved in some car parks (e.g. CCTV, bins, cycle parking, 

information signs) 

NWLDC 

12 Improve Signage Short Low 
Carry out review of the driver direction signs and pedestrian signs and new signs to be provided 

where necessary 
NWLDC / LCC 

13 Regeneration of car park land Long Income 
Under-used car parks (i.e. in Coalville) should be considered for use as land for regeneration 

projects. Access and other issues would need to be solved before this could proceed. 
NWLDC 

14 Parking at special events and times Short Low 
Support events organisers and formalise the procedure for applying for a waiver of parking 

charges. 
NWLDC 

15 Disabled parking spaces Short Low 
Monitor the number and usage of disabled parking spaces and provide more or fewer where 

appropriate 
NWLDC 

16 Promotions and Marketing Short Low 
Undertake initiatives to generate activity, such as Free After 3. These could be for trial periods. 

Improve parking webpages and promote Smartphone apps to help users to find a space 
NWLDC 

17 School-gate parking Short Low 
Continue to work with LCC to improve road safety at schools and reduce the risks caused by bad 

parking 
NWLDC / LCC 

18 Season tickets Short Low 
Provide more flexible options for season tickets to reduce the initial outlay, e.g. weekly or 

monthly 
NWLDC 

19 Christmas Park and Ride scheme Short Low 
Complete a Business Case to assess whether the provision of a temporary Park and Ride scheme 

would be viable to help cope with the Christmas peak period (or other events) 
NWLDC 

20 End Parking Voucher scheme Short Low 
The voucher scheme has become little-used and should be discontinued to reduce admin costs 

 
NWLDC 

21 
Sponsorship and advertising within car 

parks 
Medium Income 

Investigate the market and business case for installing adverts in car parks or to secure 

sponsorship from local businesses 
NWLDC 

22 Continue and improve liaison with LCC  Short Low 

Ensure that there is close liaison with LCC regarding Traffic Regulation Orders, Enforcement, 

Planning & Development Control, Road Safety, Residents Parking, sustainable transport and land 

availability 

NWLDC / LCC 

       

A
s
h

b
y
 

23 
Remove long stay parking from central 

car parks  
Medium Low 

Long stay parking to be removed from central car parks by implementing revised time 

restrictions (i.e. short stay only) or by applying high charges (so the option still remains, albeit a 

high cost) 

NWLDC 

24 
Identify new off-street car park for 

relocated long stay parking  
Medium Medium Carry out detailed review of potential sites and engage with landowners NWLDC 

25 Traffic Regulation Order review Medium Medium 
Carry out a detailed review of TROs and misuse at all times of day on Market Street and other 

central streets and amend TROs if necessary 
NWLDC 

26 
Public realm and traffic management 

improvement to Market Street 
Medium High 

If funding can be secured, implement a public realm improvement to Market Street that could 

include a reduction or rationalization of on-street parking. This may require the provision of an 

equivalent number of spaces elsewhere in the town centre. 

NWLDC 



 

127 
 

Recommended Actions When 9.18.2 Cost Details 9.18.3 By Whom 

27 
Investigate options for more off-street 

car park capacity 
Short High 

Carry out detailed review of potential sites for new car parks and engage with landowners. 

Assess viability of expanding the existing car parks, including the use of multi-storeys 

Assess whether existing car parks and land could be used more effectively (e.g. Royal Hotel, 

Ivanhoe School, Venture Theatre, school car parks) 

NWLDC / 

Landowners 

A
s
h

b
y
 

28 
Support provision of Money Hill public 

car park 
Medium Low 

Provide support to the Town Council in securing the proposed car park for the use of town 

centre car parking 
NWLDC 

29 
More off-street parking spaces require 

on the Coalfield Way Business Park 
Medium High 

There is a severe lack of off-street and on-street parking space on the Business Park so options 

to provide more should be considered if the park is to continue to succeed 

NWLDC / 

Landowners 

30 
Carry out further surveys when 

potential new car parks open 
Medium Low 

There are potential new car parks at the North Street Health Centre and within the Money Hill 

development. Additional surveys could be carried out to assess the impacts of these schemes. 
NWLDC 

31 
Quantify traffic and environmental 

impacts of proposals 
Short Low 

Ensure that all proposals to expand car park capacity are assessed in relation to the impacts of 

any additional trips in the town and their impact on traffic congestion and the environment 
NWLDC 

32 
Increase charges at Brook Street car 

park 
Short  Low 

Brook Street is in a primary location in terms of its accessibility to the town centre and 

consequently demand is high. This suggests that people would be willing to pay a premium to 

park there. If some users decided to transfer to the other car parks instead there would be 

benefits to town centre traffic 

NWLDC 

       

C
o

a
lv

il
le

 

33 
Use central car park land for 

regeneration project 
Long Income 

Under-used car parks (Bridge Road or Needhams Walk) to be used to support regeneration 

projects. This would help the town centre economy without significantly harming the availability 

of parking or Council revenue.  

Access issues into the area would need to be addressed, the current access is unattractive and 

often congested.  

NWLDC 

34 
Time restrictions on the Market Hall 

free parking spaces 
Medium Low 

Liaise with Belvoir Centre to assess whether time restrictions could be implemented on the free 

parking spaces in the Market Hall. These spaces have to remain free but are currently used by 

people that park all day for free and are thus unavailable for shoppers. This is not considered to 

be an effective use of these prime spaces so a time restriction would increase the turnover of 

these spaces without applying a charge. 

NWLDC 

35 On-street parking amendments Medium Medium 

The regeneration projects include potential changes to on-street parking, such as in Marlborough 

Square. These changes should be supported even if they result in a loss of on-street parking. 

The street scene could be improved by removing some of this parking and alternative spaces 

exist in the James Street car park nearby.  

NWLDC 

36 Charging tariff Short  Low 

Existing charging tariff should be retained in the short term. The scope to reduce charges is 

quite limited and there is little evidence that a reduction in charges would generate additional 

town centre footfall in the absence of other improvements. A Free After Three initiative would 

help to stimulate activity later in the day. 

NWLDC 



 

128 
 

Recommended Actions When 9.18.2 Cost Details 9.18.3 By Whom 

37 New coach parking spaces Short Low 

Options for the provision of new coach parking spaces need to be explored. There are currently 

none in Coalville and two in Ashby. Off-street space exists in Coalville but accessing those town 

centre car parks in a coach is not simple and new access arrangements would be required. 

Coaches do park on Bridge Road but there are issues with night time noise close to residents. 

NWLDC 

       

C
a

s
tl

e
 D

o
n

in
g

to
n

 

38 
Replace long stay parking with short 

stay 
Short  Low 

There is a lack of off-street parking space but the two car parks are currently used for long stay 

parking by commuters and residents. If these were removed it would create more effective 

space for short stay trips. However, alternative locations for the long stay parking are limited 

and there is a risk they would park on-street, which is not a recommended outcome. Alternative 

car park locations are currently being considered by the Parish Council so this policy could 

proceed if off-street locations can be found.  The leasing of land to build a car park could be a 

more attractive option than purchasing.  An alternative would be to apply charges for long stay 

parking but that might be expensive to install and manage in comparison with the benefits. 

NWLDC 

39 
Assess whether more spaces could be 

provided at Clapgun Street car park 
Long High 

One potential option for the provision of more off-street space is to expand the Clapgun Street 

car park by creating two levels. There is a level difference to is may be possible without the need 

for ramps. This scheme would be expensive and it may be necessary to apply parking charges to 

recoup some of the costs. 

NWLDC 

40 
Remove little-used disabled parking 

spaces from the car parks 
Short Low 

Surveys and consultation suggest that these disabled spaces are not used, mainly because new 

on-street disabled spaces have recently been installed in much better locations on Borough 

Street. The spaces may therefore be redundant and a more comprehensive survey would 

confirm that. Make the spaces available for all users if they are found to be little used. 

 

NWLDC 

       

K
e

g
w

o
rt

h
 

41 
Provide more parking spaces in village 

centre 
Long High 

There is a lack of parking in the village centre and more space will be required in the future. 

Options for providing an off-street car park are restricted by land costs, although there may be 

an option to lease land rather than purchase. Review all options and costs for a new car park. 

NWLDC 

42 
Convert long stay, on-street spaces to 

short stay 
Medium Low 

Commuters and residents use the existing unrestricted spaces in the Market Place for long stay 

parking. Removing this would create more effective parking space for short stay trips. However, 

alternative locations for the long stay parking are limited and there is a risk they would park on-

street, which is not a recommended outcome. Review current TROs and their enforcement to 

assess whether amendments would be appropriate 

NWLDC 

43 
Long term changes to on-street 

parking 
Long Medium 

The potential A6 bypass of Kegworth associated with the East Midlands Gateway project could 

provide opportunities to redesign the village centre. A large proportion of traffic would be 

removed from the road through the village which would allow the existing roadspace to be used 

for other purposes, including more on-street parking. A public realm project is underway that will 

advise how the village centre could be redesigned and it needs to recognize that more parking 

space is required. 

 

NWLDC 



 

129 
 

Recommended Actions When 9.18.2 Cost Details 9.18.3 By Whom 
Ib

s
to

c
k

 

44 
Improve enforcement of on-street 

parking restrictions 
Short Low 

A lack of enforcement of existing restrictions may be causing problems on High Street. Where 

budgets allow consider if any improvements to enforcement can be made 
NWLDC 

45 

Amend Traffic Regulation Orders to 

provide more parking spaces on High 

Street 

Medium Low 
It may be possible to amend the existing TROs to provide more on-street parking. A review of 

the current usage and safety of doing this should be carried out. 
NWLDC 

46 
Assess options for new off-street car 

parks 
Medium High 

Options for off-street parking appear to be limited but a more detailed assessment may reveal 

additional sites 
NWLDC 

       

M
e

a
s
h

a
m

 47 
Improve enforcement of on-street 

parking restrictions 
Short Low 

A lack of enforcement of existing restrictions may be causing problems on High Street, 

particularly in relation to very short stay parking (e.g. cash machines etc.). Where budgets allow 

consider if any improvements to enforcement can be made 

NWLDC 

48 

Amend Traffic Regulation Orders to 

provide more parking spaces on High 

Street 

Medium Low 
It may be possible to amend the existing TROs to provide more on-street parking. A review of 

the current usage and safety of doing this should be carried out. 
NWLDC 

       

W
h

it
w

ic
k

 

49 
Reduce the number of parking spaces 

in the Marketplace  
Medium Low 

The existing parking spaces in the village centre have a safety risk because they are on a busy 

road amongst many other highway features (e.g. bus stops, access roads, pedestrian crossing). 

Review safety record and risks and consider the possibility of removing some of these spaces 

and possibly retaining just the disabled spaces.   

NWLDC 

 

Definitions 
 

Timescales   Short Term 1-2 years 
  Medium Term 3-6 years 

  Long Term >6 years 

 
Costs   Low <£100k 

  Medium £100k to £1m 
  High >£1m 

 



 

 

Appendix A – Car Park Audit  

Facility 

Coalville Ashby Castle Don. Ibs. Measham Whitwick 

C
o
u
n
ci

l 
O

ff
ic

e
s 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

M
a
rk

e
t 

H
a
ll 

B
ri
d
g
e
 R

o
a
d
 

N
e
e
d
h
a
m

s 
W

a
lk

 

Ja
m

e
s 

S
tr

e
e
t 

M
a
rl
b
o
ro

u
g
h
 S

q
. 

M
a
rg

a
re

t 
S
tr

e
e
t 

L
ib

ra
ry

 

N
o
rt

h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 R

d
 

L
e
is

u
re

 C
e
n
tr

e
  

N
o
rt

h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

B
ro

o
k
 S

tr
e
e
t 

R
o
y
a
l 
H

o
te

l 

S
o
u
th

 S
tr

e
e
t 

C
la

p
g
u
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
 S

t 
E
x
t 

H
ill

si
d
e
 

Ib
st

o
ck

 G
la

d
st

o
n
e
 

Ib
st

o
ck

 H
ig

h
 S

t.
 

P
e
g
g
s 

C
lo

se
 

P
e
g
g
s 

C
l.
 P

ri
v
a
te

 

M
e
a
sh

a
m

 H
ig

h
 S

t.
 

S
ilv

e
r 

S
tr

e
e
t 

V
ic

a
ra

g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

C
it
y
 o

f 
D

a
n
 

M
a
rk

e
t 

P
la

ce
 

Height barrier x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x    x x      x x  

Marked Bays                             

Information Board x x  x x x x  x x x x x x  x x x x x  x x x x x x  

Toilet    x x x x x x x  x x x x x x x x x  x x x x x x x 

Waste Bin x x       x x   x x x x  x    x x    x  

Recycling x x x x  x x x x x x  x  x x x x x x  x x    x  

Condition of Surface (1-4) 2 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 4 1 3 2 4 3 3 2 3 3 2 1 3 3 3 

Cycle Parking  x x x x x x x x x  x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x 

Motorcycle Parking x   x x x  x x x  x x x x  x x x x x x x x x x x x 

Disabled Parking Spaces 4 3 13 8 2 4 2 5 1 0 3 5 1 0 2 2 2 0 2 2 5 1 7 6 7 2 0 1 

Pedestrian Direction Signs x x    x x x x x x  x x  x x x x   x x x x x x x 

Driver Direction Signs      x    x    x            x x x 

Streetlights                   x          

CCTV x x x x x   x     x x  x x x x x  x x x  x x x 

Parking Regulation Signs       x           x     x      

Pedestrian Access 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Pay Machines 2 2 2 2 2 2 - 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 
           

                  

Condition of Surface - 1. Very good/new, 2. Good, 3. Adequate, 4. Poor 

Pedestrian Access – 1. Good, 2. Poor 
Pay Machines – 1. New, 2. Old 

 



 

 

 
 





APPENDIX 3  
  
 Extract of minutes from Policy Development Group – 28 September 2016 

 
The Head of Community Services informed Members that it was the District Council’s 
first Parking Strategy and it related to the whole of the District. He explained that 
White Green Young Consultants had successfully bid for the contract to deliver the 
strategy and any comments from Members would be valuable as part of their 
consultation. Any comments received would be passed on to Cabinet when a report 
was considered in November. He introduced Steve Boden from White Green Young 
Consultants, who gave a presentation to summarise the draft Parking Strategy.  
 
Councillor J Geary expressed his concern that Members had only had a short 
amount of time to scrutinise the full and comprehensive draft strategy document as it 
was not available when the agenda was circulated. He also referred to a mistake at 
paragraph 4.7 as it referred to Ashby when it should be Whitwick, he expressed his 
disappointment as it made him question the accuracy of the document as a whole. 
He went on to make the following comments: 

 
Paragraph 1.1.3 – This paragraph referred to the use of funds raised by parking 
charges for other Council schemes.  Councillor J Geary strongly disagreed with the 
statement as when the decision was made to introduce parking charges, when he 
was a Member of the Cabinet; it was to raise funds to maintain the parking facilities 
and was never meant to provide added income towards schemes and services.  

 
Paragraph 1.2.1 – This paragraph referred to potential changes to parking to support 
the efforts to regenerate Coalville town centre.  Councillor J Geary agreed and was in 
favour of anything that could be done to help local businesses flourish. 

 
Paragraph 2.2.1 – This paragraph referred to the National Planning Policy 
Framework which stated that parking charges should be set appropriately to not 
undermine the vitality of town centres.  Councillor J Geary agreed with the statement. 

 
Paragraph 2.4.7 – This paragraph referred to car ownership levels.  Councillor J 
Geary agreed that there was a lower level of public transport available which was 
constantly diminishing; he believed this would be a problem for the future. 

 
Paragraph 2.5.1 – This paragraph referred to the regeneration plan that included the 
potential development of London Road car park.  Councillor J Geary reported that 
from his experience the public were not in support due to the loss of parking spaces 
for the shops and public house.  He also felt that any development would detract 
from Stenson House.     

 
Paragraph 3.1.2 – This paragraph referred to the parking charges currently being at 
the lower end of the range of parking tariffs amongst comparator neighbouring 
authorities.  Councillor J Geary did not agree as according to his calculations, North 
West Leicestershire was towards the middle of the range.  He did agree that coach 
parking spaces were needed.  

 
Paragraph 4.9.3 – This paragraph consisted of a table setting out the characteristics 
of council run car parks in Coalville town centre.  Councillor J Geary noted that the 
car parking at the council offices was not included and questioned if the decision had 
already been made to develop it. 

 
Councillor N Smith questioned if it was an advantage to have a parking strategy and 
whether it was required by planning law or a council decision to have one.  He did not 
agree with the proposal to change long stay car parks to short stay in Ashby town 
centre as he believed it would cause a problem for the people who work in the town.  



He questioned whether the Money Hill development would provide a car park as 
originally agreed.  He also commented that in his opinion the parking charges were 
very reasonable, especially compared to other areas. 

 
The Chairman felt that the current parking charges were low in comparison to other 
authorities.  He also compared the charges to hospital parking which cost more to 
park for a few hours than it was to park all day in Coalville.  He felt that this showed 
that hospitals used the funds generated by parking for more than maintaining the car 
parks and therefore it was not an unreasonable proposal. 

 
Councillor D Harrison expressed his disappointment as he was expecting to see 
solutions to improve parking at Ashby town centre.  He shared Councillor N Smith’s 
concerns regarding changing the long stay car parks to short stay in Ashby town 
centre as businesses relied on them.  He believed that the parking charges were fair 
but more spaces were required in specific areas.  The Chairman commented that he 
was aware of plans to increase the parking capacity in Ashby town centre and added 
that the co-operative store’s car park was available to park for an hour for free. 

 
Councillor T Eynon commented that the survey was undertaken during one day only 
and therefore would not necessarily reflect actual daily use; however she felt that it 
produced some useful data.  She felt it did show that the market hall parking needed 
to be more realistic and she agreed that there should be nine free spaces for short 
stay parking.  Councillor T Eynon believed that the data that had been collected on 
Bridge Street car park was very low and she felt that something needed to be done to 
bring people into Coalville town centre.  She suggested that car parks further out of 
town such as the one on James Street could be used as a cheaper long stay car 
park. 

 
Councillor A C Saffell agreed that changes should not be made to long stay car parks 
as they supported businesses and staff.  He informed the Committee that Castle 
Donington Parish Council had its own parking strategy and the plan was to provide 
an additional 60 spaces in the town centre.  These spaces were necessary as all 
business units were full on the high street and a further 900 houses were being built.  
He added that Castle Donington Parish Council would be looking closely at the 
District Council’s parking strategy and if they were not in agreement, the parish 
Council would take over the management of the car parks.  

 
Councillor N Clarke agreed that any income generated from parking charges should 
be ring fenced for enforcement and maintenance only.  He added that other 
authorities provided free short stay parking so he believed Councillor J Geary’s 
comments were fair.  He suggested that officers look at other ways of managing the 
car parks, for example paying on exit as it would also help with enforcement.  The 
Head of Community Services commented that he had looked into the option but it 
was currently not feasible due to the need for dual entrances but he did take the point 
on board. 

 
The Chairman asked if installing CCTV would help with enforcement as it would take 
images of vehicles entering and exiting.  Steve Boden (WYG) reported that there was 
national concerns regarding automatic number plate recognition and therefore that 
option was not being encouraged at the moment.  The Head of Community Services 
informed Members that he had looked into the technology to pay for parking by using 
a mobile telephone, this would mean that customers could extend their parking 
tickets without going back to the vehicle; this would be the preferred option. 

 
It was moved by Councillor D  Harrison, seconded by Councillor A C Saffell   and 

 
 
 



RESOLVED THAT: 
 

a) The report be noted. 
 

b) Comments made by the Committee be reported to Cabinet when they consider 
the Parking Strategy in November  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

APPENDIX 4  
 

1 Increase off-street car park capacity in specific 
locations 

Short term - Ashby 

2 Expand the use of different parking strategies in 
different towns 

Short term 

3 Adjust charging tariffs Medium term 

4 Convert Long Stay to Short Stay parking Long term 

5 Review of on-street parking provision Medium term 

6 Residents Parking Schemes Medium term 

7 Sustainable Transport Medium term 

8 Parking Standards Medium term 

9 New development and S106 Long term  

10 Enforcement Medium term  

11 New car park equipment Short term 

12 Improve Signage Short term 

13 Regeneration of car park land Short term 

14 Parking at special events and times Short term 

15 Promotions, Initiatives and Marketing Short term 

16 School-gate parking Medium term 

17 Season tickets Short term 

18 Christmas Park and Ride scheme Long term 

19 End Parking Voucher scheme Short term 

20 Sponsorship and advertising within car parks Medium term 

21 Continue and improve liaison with LCC Short term 

 
5.2 Coalville Recommendations 

 

1 Use central car park land for regeneration project Short term 

2 Time restrictions on the Market Hall free parking 
spaces 

Short term 

3 On-street parking amendments Medium term 

4 Charging tariff Short term 

5 New coach parking spaces Medium term 

 
5.3 Ashby Recommendations 
 

1 Remove long stay parking from central car parks Long term 

2 Identify new off-street car park for relocated long stay 
parking 

Long term 

3 Traffic Regulation Order review Medium term 

4 Public realm and traffic management improvement to 
Market Street 

Medium term 

5 Investigate options for more off-street car park 
capacity 

Short term 

6 Support provision of Money Hill public car park Medium term 

7 More off-street parking spaces require on the 
Coalfield Way Business Park 

Long term 

8 Carry out further surveys when potential new car 
parks open 

Medium term 

9 Quantify traffic and environmental impacts of 
proposals 

Medium term 

10 Increase charges at Brook Street car park Medium term 

 



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of report ASHBY CULTURAL AND LEISURE QUARTER PROJECT 

Key Decision 
a) Financial  Yes 
b) Community Yes 

 
Contacts 

Councillor Alison Smith MBE 
01530 835668 
alison.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
 
Director of Services 
01530 454555 
steve.bambrick@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
  
Head of Community Services 
01530 454832 
john.richardson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of report 
To present the vision for Ashby’s Cultural and Leisure Quarter and 
to request the required resource to undertake the works. 

Reason for Decision To allocate resources to undertake the works   

Council Priorities 
Value for Money 
Business and Jobs 
Homes and Communities 

Implications:  

Financial/Staff Costs are outlined within the report 

Link to relevant CAT N/A 

Risk Management None  

Equalities Impact Screening None discernable 

Human Rights No implications 

Transformational 
Government 

N/A  

Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Report is satisfactory 

Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

mailto:roger.bayliss@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:steve.bambrick@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.richardson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Comments of Monitoring 
Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Consultees  Corporate Management Team  

Background papers 

 Confidential Cabinet report 8 March 2016 – Proposal to 
acquire brownfield site for development of car parking 
 

 Confidential Cabinet report 14 June 2016 – Proposal to 
acquire brownfield site for development of car parking 

Recommendations 

IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT CABINET: 
 

1) ENDORSES THE VISION FOR ASHBY’S CULTURAL 
AND LEISURE QUARTER 
 

2) AGREES TO ALLOCATE £330,000 TO THE PROJECT 
(£230,000 FROM RESERVES AND £100,000 FROM THE 
ASHBY INITIATIVES FUND) 
 

3) APPROVES DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO THE 
DIRECTOR OF SERVICES IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO AGREE A FURTHER 5% OF 
THE TOTAL PROJECT COST FOR ANY UNFORESEEN 
CIRCUMSTANCES OR ADDITIONAL WORKS TO BE 
FUNDED FROM RESERVES 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Cabinet have purchased the former Ashby Health Centre site at a cost of £255,000 and 

approved an initial budget for the demolition and construction of a new short stay car 
park for Ashby at its meetings on the 8 March and 14 June 2016. 

 
1.2 The purchase of the Health Centre and its future construction into a car park is also an 

opportunity to improve the street scene and public realm in the surrounding area. This 
includes the street furniture, signage, accessibility to the leisure centre and landscaping 
along North Street. 
 

1.3 In considering signage it is clear that North Street contains a range of Cultural and 
Leisure assets; 
 
- Hood Park Leisure Centre 
- Ivanhoe College and sports pitches 
- Tourist Information Centre 
- Ashby Museum 
- Venture Theatre 
- Childrens Play Area 
- Skate Park 
- Recreation Ground and open space 

 
1.4 Due to this large number and range of assets clustered in a relatively small area of 

Ashby it was identified that the area could be branded as a Cultural and Leisure 



quarter. This would allow increased and joint promotion of all the assets and provide 
the town with a new focal point for visitors and Tourists.  

 
2.0 CULTURAL AND LEISURE PROJECT 

 
2.1 In order to develop the concept further the Council engaged Ashby Town Council and 

appointed architects RG & P to advise on and design a scheme of works that would 
meet the aspirations of both the District Council and the Town Council as embodied in 
the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.. The intent of the project is to provide an enhanced 
public realm which acts as a gateway to the Cultural and Leisure quarter. RG-P’s 
proposed designs can be seen at Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 The proposed designs of the Cultural and Leisure project have been discussed and 

agreed with Ashby Town Council and will include the following; 
 

- Demolition of the existing health centre 
- Construction of a 60 space short stay car park 
- Potential installation of electric car charging points 
- New pedestrian crossings 
- A widened road/entrance to the leisure centre including a new cycle path  
- Improved signage on North Street and on the leisure centre walls and chimney 
- Consideration of a sculpture/feature to depict the start of the Cultural and Leisure 

Quarter 
- Enhanced landscaping to give a ‘greener’ feel to the car park areas 
- New gates to the leisure centre car park (existing gates to be relocated on site) 

 
 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 The Council has engaged Interserve from the SCAPE framework to manage and 

deliver this project with the initial task of confirming the project costs. These final costs 
are not expected until late December 2016/early January 2017. 

 
3.2 However, RG & P as part of their work provided estimated budget costs for the project 

which are outlined below; 
 

- Demolition          £46,000 
- Construction     £291,000 
- Junction altering     £24,000 
- Sculpture      £55,000 
- Pedestrian Crossings    £123,000 
- Landscaping     £47,000 
- Widening of path     £34,000 
- Painting and signage to leisure centre  £30,000 

 
 Budget cost     £650,000     
   
3.3 Therefore the anticipated total project costs are therefore as follows; 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



Purchase price of land (already spent) £255,000 
 

RG & P initial costings to create Cultural 
and Leisure quarter 
 

£650,000 

Contingency 5% £45,000 

Anticipated total cost £950,000 

  

Cabinet approved budget (14 June 
2016) 

£620,000 

Further budget required  
 

£330,000 

Potential funding sources  

Ashby Initiatives Fund £100,000 
 

2016/17 Earmarked Reserves £230,000 

 
  
4.0 PROPOSALS 
 
4.1 Cabinet are therefore requested to allocate a sum of £330,000 to this project with 

£100,000 from the £300,000 Ashby Initiatives Fund (agreed by Cabinet 20 September 
2016 ) and £230,000 from the Capital receipts and Value For Money reserves. The 
Ashby Initiatives Fund contribution has been discussed and agreed with Ashby Town 
Council. 

 
4.2 It is also proposed that delegated authority is given to the Director of Services in 

conjunction with the Portfolio Holder to agree a further 5% of the total funding for any 
unforeseen circumstances or additional works that may arise through the delivery of 
the project. The funding af any additional requirements will be met from reserves. 

 
4.3 The additional funding request is not part of the original business case for the 

development of the car park and as it is largely aesthetic it will not generate a tangible 
financial return. The business case in the cabinet report on 14 June 2016 for the car park 
alone estimated a payback period of 15-20 years, if these extra costs were added in this 
could be extended to 24-32 years (dependant upon estimated income generation). 

 
 
5.0 TIMESCALES 
 
5.1 If cabinet approve the Cultural and Leisure Quarter project it is anticipated that the initial 

phase of the health centre demolition will begin early in 2017 with a targeted projection 
completion date of August 2017. 



A
sh

by
 C

ul
tu

ra
l Q

ua
rte

r
Fe

as
ib

ilit
y 

St
ud

y
rg

+p
 L

td
| 

12
5
.6
m

2

2
6

11

8

P
H

22

6

N
O
R
T
H
 
S
T
R
E
E
T

3

E
S
S

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n

C
la
ri
d
g
e

11

6

3

36

27

Le
is
u
re

7

C
e
n
tr
e

1b

15

6
b

2

8

Tre
nth

am

10

6
a

14

20

17
a

Li
b
ra
ry

126.8m

S
w
im
m
in
g

H
o
o
d

3
1

4

MI
LL
 B
AN
K

10

N
u
rs
e
ry

12
4
.6
m

3

S
u
rg
e
ry

14

E
LF
O
R
D
 
S
T
R
E
E
T

11

12
4
.5
m

P
la
yg
ro
u
n
d

7
5

2
1

LB

W
e
ir

H
o
u
se

18

4
 
3

1

13

5

2
4

24

17

11

2
8

8
6

8
1

2

10

C
lu
b

Ward Bdy

F
B

9

a

Te
rr
a
ce

2
0

Clo
se

4

THE
 GR

EEN

1

S
in
ks

C
a
r 
P
a
rk

5

G
ilw
is
k
a
w

T
h
e
 
H
a
ve
n

1a

Cou
rt 1

9

6

6

17

P
la
c
e

2
7

4
19

12

8

1

C
o
u
rt

12
3
.9
m

9

PH

12
7
.3
m

B
ro
o
k

9

16

12

2 10

9

K
en
tw
o
rt
h

14a

2
7

10

1

Mil
l L

an
e

5

4
2

P
o
o
l

2
9

8
5

12
8
.5
m

Pass Co
urtyard

31

Ward B
dy

33

4

ASH 
TREE

 ROA
D

2
8

19

18

1

9

13
2
.2
m

O
rd
n
a
n
c
e
 
S
u
rv
e
y 
(c
) 
C
ro
w
n
 
C
o
p
yr
ig
h
t 
2
0
16
. 
A
ll 
ri
g
h
ts
 
re
s
e
rv
e
d
. 
Li
c
e
n
c
e
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
10
0
0
2
2
4
3
2

O
p
ti
o
n
 0

1
: 

N
e
w

 p
a
rk

in
g

o
n
 h

e
a
lt
h
 c

e
n
tr

e
 p

lo
t,

k
e
e
p
in

g
 t
h
e
 p

u
m

p
h
o
u
s
e
 &

 H
o
o
d
 C

o
u
rt

.

Ph
as

e 
O

ne

Th
e 

re
m

ov
al

 o
f 

th
e 

he
al

th
 C

en
tre

 
to

 c
re

at
e 

m
or

e 
pa

rk
in

g 
w

ill 
be

 t
he

 
ca

ta
ly

st
 fo

r t
he

 w
ho

le
 sc

he
m

e.

A
cc

es
s 

in
 &

 o
ut

 o
f 

th
e 

sit
e 

sh
ou

ld
 

be
 

th
e 

ne
xt

 
pr

io
rit

y,
 

at
 

pr
es

en
t 

bo
th

 
ve

hi
cl

es
 

&
 

pe
d

es
tri

an
s 

ar
e 

ov
er

la
pp

in
g 

&
 

ex
ist

in
g 

ac
ce

ss
 

is 
in

ad
eq

ua
te

.

W
e 

ar
e 

pr
op

os
in

g 
th

at
 t

he
 c

ul
tu

ra
l 

ar
e 

st
ar

ts
 ju

st
 o

ut
sid

e 
th

e 
bo

un
d

ar
y 

w
ith

 n
ew

 p
ed

es
tri

an
 c

ro
ss

in
g 

lin
ks

 
fro

m
 M

ill 
La

ne
 &

 s
ou

th
-w

es
t 

d
ow

n 
N

or
th

 S
tre

et
.

Ho
od

 C
ou

rt 
ca

n 
af

fo
rd

 t
o 

re
d

uc
e 

its
 l

an
d

 f
ro

nt
ag

e 
to

 a
llo

w
 f

or
 t

he
 

w
id

en
in

g 
of

 
th

e 
ve

hi
cl

e 
ac

ce
ss

 
&

 r
oa

d
 a

s 
w

el
l 

as
 i

nc
re

as
in

g 
th

e 
pe

d
es

tri
an

 f
oo

tp
at

h,
 t

hi
s 

ca
n 

al
so

 
in

cl
ud

e 
cy

cl
e 

lin
ks

 d
ire

ct
ly

 t
o 

th
e 

Le
isu

re
 C

en
tre

.

A
 n

ew
 p

ed
es

tri
an

 c
ro

ss
in

g 
w

ill 
be

 
cr

ea
te

d
 t

ow
ar

d
s 

th
e 

en
d

 o
f 

th
e 

ne
w

 p
ed

es
tri

an
/ 

cy
cl

e 
ro

ut
e 

w
ith

 
cl

ea
r m

ar
ki

ng
s 

as
 to

 w
he

re
 it

 is
 s

af
e 

to
 c

ro
ss

.

A
s 

a 
ge

ne
ra

l 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t 
ne

w
 

pl
an

tin
g 

w
ill 

be
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

fro
nt

 o
f t

he
 s

ite
 to

 s
of

te
n 

to
 im

pa
ct

 
of

 th
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

A
cc

es
s f

ro
m

 th
e 

re
ar

 o
f t

he
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

w
ill 

al
so

 b
e 

im
pr

ov
ed

, s
im

ila
r p

la
nt

er
s 

to
 t

he
 fr

on
t 

ar
e 

to
 b

e 
ut

ils
ie

d
 &

 t
he

 
ne

w
 

cl
ad

d
in

g 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 
of

 
th

e 
Le

isu
re

 C
en

tre
 w

ill 
cr

ea
te

 a
 u

ni
fo

rm
 

&
 w

el
co

m
in

g 
lo

ok
.

C
ut

ur
al

 a
re

a 
st

ar
ts

 h
er

e,
 w

ith
 n

ew
 

pe
d

es
tra

in
 a

cc
es

s &
 o

rg
an

ic
 ti

m
be

r  
pl

an
te

rs
.

W
id

er
 a

cc
es

s 
&

 c
on

tin
ua

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
or

ga
ni

c 
pl

an
te

rs
 u

p 
th

e 
im

pr
ov

ed
 

ac
ce

ss
 ro

ad
 to

 th
e 

Le
isu

re
 C

en
tre

.

APPENDIX 1



rg+p Ltd|  1Feasibility StudyAshby Cultural Quarter

Improved Links



Ashby Cultural Quarter Feasibility Study rg+p Ltd| 

Improved Entrance





NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 13 DECEMBER 2016 
 

Title of report 
FORMER TENANT RENT ARREARS, CURRENT TENANT RENT 
ARREARS, COUNCIL TAX, NON DOMESTIC RATES AND 
SUNDRY DEBTOR WRITE-OFFS  

Key Decision 
a) Financial  No 
b) Community No 

Contacts 

Councillor Nick Rushton  
01530 412059  
nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
 
Interim Director of Resources 
01530 454833 
andrew.hunkin@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Financial Planning Manager and Deputy Section 151 Officer  
01530 454707 
pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of report 
To agree write-offs over £10,000 and receive details of debts 
written off under delegated powers. 

Reason for Decision To comply with proper accounting practices. 

Council Priorities Value for Money 

Implications:  

Financial/Staff 
There is no additional financial effect as all the debts are met from 
the Authority’s bad debt provision. 

Link to relevant CAT None 

Risk Management 
Regular reviews of debts for write off mitigates the risk that the 
Council’s accounts do not reflect the true level of recoverable 
income. It is also part of an effective arrears management strategy. 

Equalities Impact Screening Not applicable. 

Human Rights None discernible. 

Transformational 
Government 

Not applicable. 

Comments of Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 
Report is satisfactory 
 

mailto:nicholas.rushton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.hunkin@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pritesh.padaniya@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Comments of Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

Repot is satisfactory 

Comments of  
Monitoring Officer 

Report is satisfactory 

Consultees None. 

Background papers 
All papers used in compiling the report contain exempt information 
under paragraph 3 of Part 1 to Schedule 12A Local Government 
Act 1972 

Recommendations 

1. THAT CABINET APPROVES THE WRITE OFFS OVER    
    £10,000 DETAILED IN THIS REPORT. 
 
2. THAT CABINET NOTES THE AMOUNTS WRITTEN OFF  
     UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 

 
1.0 DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISIONS 
 
1.1 Provision is made in the accounts as follows: 
 

 

As at 1 April 
2016 

Write offs to 
date (under 
delegated 
powers) 

Amounts 
written off over 

£10,000 
approved by 

Members 

Balance 
Available 

Council Tax £1,932,901.22 £77,303.75 £0.00 £1,855,597.47 

Non Domestic Rates £317,369.40 £50,348.84 £180,600.36    £86,420.20 

Housing Rents £125,000.00 £15,503.11 £0.00    £109,496.89 

Sundry 
Debtors/Housing 
Benefit Overpayments 

£1,163,090.44 £11,575.50 £0.00 £1,151514.94 

 
2.0       FORMER TENANT RENT ARREARS 
  
2.1 There are no Former Tenancy Arrears write-offs over £10,000 for which we seek 

approval. 
 

2.2 The amounts written off under delegated powers, in accordance with the thresholds 
outlined in the write off policy are as follows: 19 cases under £1,000 which amount to 
£2,773.38. Of these, 12 are uneconomical to pursue (£873.40) and seven where the 
tenant is deceased and there is no estate (£1,899.98).  
 
There was one case over £1,000 where the tenant is deceased and there is no estate 
(£2,018.22). 
 
There were 27 cases who received a bereavement allowance which amount to 
£7,644.05. 
 
 
 

 



3.0 CURRENT TENANT RENT ARREARS 
 
3.1 There was one case for a current tenant rent arrears due to a Debt Relief Order 

(£718.00). 
 
4.0 COUNCIL TAX 
 
4.1 There are currently no council tax debts over £10,000 for which Cabinet’s approval for 

write off is sought.  
 
4.2 The amounts written off under delegated powers, in accordance with the thresholds 

outlined in the write off policy, are as follows:  Two cases under £100 which amount to 
£109.23. Of these, one case has absconded (£95.95) and one case is deceased with 
no assets (£13.28). There are 21 cases between £100 and £1,000, which amount to 
£10,106.05. Of these, two have absconded (£1,156.87), thirteen are insolvent 
(£5,035.00), four are deceased with no assets (£2,401.35) and two cases have debt 
relief orders (£1,512.83). There are 6 cases between £1,000 and £10,000 which 
amount to £9,433.05. Of these, three cases have absconded (£3,565.90) and three are 
insolvent (£5,867.15). 

 
4.3 The full list of reasons for writing off debt includes: 

 

 Bankruptcy or a Debt Relief Order is in place 

 Deceased – No assets in the estate. 

 Debtor Absconded / No Trace  

 Company in liquidation/dissolved or ceased trading with no assets 

 Severe Hardship and/or Serious health Issues 

 Statute barred i.e. we cannot legally pursue the debt as there has been six years 
since the debt fell due and no action has been taken to collect the debt. 

 Uneconomical to collect i.e. it is not financially viable to take further action for e.g. 
due to the low level of the debt, they have gone abroad etc. 

 
4.4       Writing off debts is only considered where all appropriate recovery and enforcement   

measures have been taken, or, where the council are legally prohibited from pursuing 
the debt.  
 

4.5  Each year the council produces a recovery timetable which details the dates on which 
the statutory Reminders, Final Notices and Summonses are to be despatched. The 
letters issued are designed to maximise collection by prompting tax payers to pay their 
missed instalments in a timely manner, thereby avoiding further enforcement action 
taking place. Information is provided on the website to explain what happens next 
should payment not be made.  

 
4.6  For all outstanding debt, the council takes the recovery action outlined in the bullet 

points below: 
 

 If payment is not received by the instalment due date shown on the bill, a reminder 
notice is issued.  

 If payment is received within seven days the tax payer may continue with their 
original instalment plan. If they default again within the year, then one further 
reminder notice is issued. If they do not pay, the following steps are taken. 

 If payment is not received by the date on the reminder notice, a court Summons is 
issued. The Summons advises them of the date and time that the Council will 



attend a Magistrates Court hearing to apply for the award of a Liability Order 
against them.  

 Once a Liability Order is obtained, the Council has a number of enforcement 
options open to them in order to secure payment of the debt.  

 
4.7 Liability Order Action 
  

Once a Liability Order has been obtained each debt is looked at and a decision is 
made as to the most appropriate course of action to take from the list of available 
options below. It is only after all of these have been considered and/or pursued that the 
debt is put forward for write off.  
 
1. Apply to the debtor’s employer for an Attachment of Earnings. 
2. Apply to the DWP for a deduction from the debtor’s benefits 
3. Instruct an external enforcement company (bailiffs) to collect the debt on the 

council’s behalf.  
4. If the enforcement company are unsuccessful, the Council could commence 

committal proceedings against the debtor.  
5. If the debtor owns their own home a Charging Order could be made against the 

property. 
6. If the debt is over £5,000, bankruptcy proceedings could be commenced against 

the debtor.   
 

When considering the final three options on the above list, the Council must always be 
mindful of the individual circumstances of the debtor and the financial impact on the 
Council of pursuing each option. Additional costs will be incurred when utilising any of 
these options. 

 
5.0 NON DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) 
 
5.1 There are currently five Non Domestic Rate debts over £10,000 which amount to 

£113,728.09 for which Cabinet’s approval for write off is sought. There are three cases 
where the company has gone into liquidation (£86,299.28) and legally we can take no 
further recovery action against these debts, one case has absconded and all available 
searches have produced no trace (£11,740.41) and one case in uneconomical to 
collect (£15,688.40) 
 

5.2 The amounts written off under delegated powers in accordance with the policy 
thresholds are as follows: one case under £100 which is uneconomical to collect 
(£86.25). There is one case between £100 and £1,000 amounting to £429.32 which is 
insolvent. There are seven cases between £1,000 and £10,000 which amount to 
£14,854.32. Of these, two cases have absconded (£6,170.24) and five cases are 
insolvent (£8,684.08). 
 

5.3 As with the recovery of Council Tax, for Business Rates, writing off debt is only ever 
considered as a last resort. Often companies, sole traders or partnerships become 
insolvent and the Council is prohibited from taking any further action as all of their 
outstanding debts are included within the Administration, Liquidation or personal 
bankruptcy. 

 
5.4 The Council follows the same recovery process for Business Rates as for Council Tax. 

However, once the Council has obtained a Liability Order there are only a limited 
number of enforcement actions that can legally be pursued. In most cases, where a 
payment arrangement or contact cannot be made, the Council refers the case to 



external Enforcement Agents. If they are unsuccessful, the Council then has three 
further options to consider before putting the debt for write off. These options are:  

 
 

 Committal (For sole traders and partnerships only) 

 Security for Unpaid Rate (this is the equivalent of a Charging Order on a property but 
this can only be done with the ratepayers agreement) 

 Insolvency Proceedings 
 

 

6.0 SUNDRY DEBTORS (INCLUDES NON CURRENT HOUSING BENEFIT 
OVERPAYMENTS PRE 2011) 

 
6.1 There are currently no sundry debtor cases over £10,000 for which Cabinet’s approval                   
             for write off is sought 
 
6.2 There were no cases that have been written off under the Deputy S151 Officer 

delegated powers. 
  
6.3 The recovery process varies dependant on the type of debt.   
            Generally the debtor will receive a minimum of two reminder letters the final stating that 

recovery through the county court will take place in the event of non payment. 
 Once judgement is obtained the normal recovery methods are available such as 

attachment of earnings/ benefit etc. 
  
 

7.0      CURRENT HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS 
 

7.1      There are currently no sundry debtor cases over £10,000 for which Cabinet’s approval                   
            for write off is sought.   
 
7.2   The amounts written off under delegated powers, in accordance with the thresholds 

outlined in the write off policy, are as follows: There are no cases under £100. There is 
one case of insolvency between £100 and £1,000 which amounts to £685.93. There 
are two cases of insolvency between £1,000 and £10,000 amounting to £3,433.21 
written off under delegated powers. 

 
7.3      For all outstanding benefit overpayment debt, the council takes the recovery action    
           outlined in the bullet points below: 
 

 An invoice is issued giving 14 days to make payment, or to contact the council. 

 If payment is not received a first Reminder is issued, followed by a second reminder 
two to three weeks later. 

 If payment is not received a ‘CIS’ (DWP database) check is carried out to assess if an 
attachment of benefit is appropriate. If benefit cannot be attached the account is sent to 
an external bailiffs collection team with no cost to the Council. However, they have no 
powers to enforce the debt at this stage only to collect it. 

 If the cases are returned, each case is checked and a decision is made as to whether it 
is appropriate to start legal proceedings in the County Court.  

 If judgement is obtained in the County Court, the following enforcement options are 
available to consider:- 
1. Attachments of Earnings (deduction of customer’s wages, at source by employer) 
2. Warrants Control  (the use of County Court Bailiff, or High Court Sheriff) 
3. Third Party Debt Orders (Utilises the customer’s bank account to extract payment) 
4. Charging Order (the debt is secured on the customer’s house) 
5. Insolvency (petition for bankruptcy) 




	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	5. General Fund and Special Expenses Revenue Budget 2017/18
	6. Capital Programmes - General Fund, Coalville Special Expenses and Housing Revenue Account (H.R.A).  Projected Outturn 2016/17 and Draft Programmes 2017/18 to 2021/22
	Copy of APPENDIX A 2017-18 CAP BUDGET 30-11-16 FINAL (2)
	 GFUND & SE

	APPENDIX B HRA Capital 231116 FINAL
	HRA Cap Prog v2


	7. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Proposals for 2017/18
	8. Parking Strategy
	NWLDC Parking Strategy Phase 2 Report Final
	Cabinet - 13 Dec 2016 - Car Parking Appendices 3 and 4

	9. Ashby Cultural and Leisure Quarter Project
	Cabinet - 13 Dec 2016 - Cultural and Leisure Appendix 1
	Pages from Ashby Cultural  Leisure Quarter Initial proposals
	Ashby Cultural  Leisure Quarter designs


	10. Former Tenant Rent Arrears, Current Tenant Rent Arrears, Council Tax, Non Domestic Rates and Sundry Debtor Write Offs



